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PART I

 ITEM 1.  BUSINESS

The Company

NL Industries, Inc. was organized as a New Jersey corporation in 1891.  Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE,
under the symbol NL.  References to “NL Industries,” “NL,” the “Company,” the “Registrant,” “we,” “our,” “us” and similar terms mean NL Industries, Inc.
and its subsidiaries and affiliate, unless the context otherwise requires.

Our principal executive offices are located at Three Lincoln Center, 5430 LBJ Freeway, Suite 1700, Dallas, TX 75240.  Our telephone number is
(972) 233-1700.  We maintain a website at www.nl-ind.com.

Business Summary

We are primarily a holding company.  We operate in the component products industry through our majority-owned subsidiary, CompX International
Inc. (NYSE: CIX).  We operate in the chemicals industry through our non-controlling interest in Kronos Worldwide, Inc.  CompX (NYSE: CIX) and Kronos
(NYSE: KRO), each file periodic reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Organization

We are majority-owned by Valhi, Inc. (NYSE: VHI).  At December 31, 2009, Valhi owned approximately 83% of our outstanding common
stock.  Subsidiaries of Contran Corporation owned approximately 93% of Valhi’s outstanding common stock at December 31, 2009.  Substantially all of
Contran's outstanding voting stock is held by trusts established for the benefit of certain children and grandchildren of Harold C. Simmons (for which Mr.
Simmons is the sole trustee) or is held directly by Mr. Simmons or other persons or entities related to Mr. Simmons.  Consequently, Mr. Simmons may be
deemed to control Contran, Valhi and us.

Forward-looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
as amended. Statements in this Annual Report that are not historical facts are forward-looking in nature and represent management’s beliefs and assumptions
based on currently available information.  In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the use of words such as "believes," "intends,"
"may," "should," "could," "anticipates," "expects" or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategies or trends.  Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, we do not know if these expectations will be correct.  Such statements by their
nature involve substantial risks and uncertainties that could significantly impact expected results. Actual future results could differ materially from those
predicted.  The factors that could cause actual future results to differ materially from those described herein are the risks and uncertainties discussed in this
Annual Report and those described from time to time in our other filings with the SEC include, but are not limited to, the following:

·  Future supply and demand for our products,
·  The extent of the dependence of certain of our businesses on certain market sectors,
·  The cyclicality of our businesses (such as Kronos’ titanium dioxide pigments (“TiO2”) operations),
·  Customer inventory levels (such as the extent to which Kronos’ customers may, from time to time, accelerate purchases of TiO2 in advance of

anticipated price increases or defer purchases of TiO2 in advance of anticipated price decreases),
·  Changes in raw material and other operating costs (such as energy and steel costs),
·  General global economic and political conditions (such as changes in the level of gross domestic product in various regions of the world and the

impact of such changes on demand for, among other things, TiO2 and component products),
·  Possible disruption of our business or increases in the cost of doing business resulting from terrorist activities or global conflicts,
·  Competitive products and prices, including increased competition from low-cost manufacturing sources (such as China),
·  Customer and competitor strategies,
·  Potential consolidation or solvency of our competitors,
·  Demand for office furniture,
·  Demand for high performance marine components,
·  Substitute products,
·  The impact of pricing and production decisions,
·  Competitive technology positions,
·  The introduction of trade barriers,
·  Service industry employment levels,
·  Fluctuations in currency exchange rates (such as changes in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and each of the euro, the Norwegian krone, the

Canadian dollar and the New Taiwan dollar),
·  Operating interruptions (including, but not limited to, labor disputes, leaks, natural disasters, fires, explosions, unscheduled or unplanned downtime

and transportation interruptions),
·  The timing and amounts of insurance recoveries,
·  Our ability to maintain sufficient liquidity,
·  The extent to which our subsidiaries were to become unable to pay us dividends,
·  CompX’s and Kronos’ ability to renew or refinance credit facilities,
·  CompX’s ability to comply with covenants contained in its revolving bank credit facility
·  The ultimate outcome of income tax audits, tax settlement initiatives or other tax matters,
·  Potential difficulties in integrating completed or future acquisitions,
·  Decisions to sell operating assets other than in the ordinary course of business,
·  Uncertainties associated with the development of new product features,
·  Our ability to utilize income tax attributes or changes in income tax rates related to such attributes, the benefits of which have been recognized

under the more-likely-than-not recognition criteria,
·  Environmental matters (such as those requiring compliance with emission and discharge standards for existing and new facilities or new

developments regarding environmental remediation at sites related to our former operations),



·  Government laws and regulations and possible changes therein (such as changes in government regulations which might impose various obligations
on present and former manufacturers of lead pigment and lead-based paint, including us, with respect to asserted health concerns associated with the
use of such products),

·  The ultimate resolution of pending litigation (such as our lead pigment and environmental matters) and
·  Possible future litigation.

Should one or more of these risks materialize or if the consequences of such a development worsen, or should the underlying assumptions prove
incorrect, actual results could differ materially from those currently forecasted or expected.  We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise any
forward-looking statement whether as a result of changes in information, future events or otherwise.

Operations and equity investment

Information regarding our operations and the companies conducting such operations is set forth below.  Geographic financial information is
included in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Component Products
CompX International Inc. - 87%

owned at December 31, 2009
 

CompX is a leading manufacturer of security products, precision ball bearing slides
and ergonomic computer support systems used in the office furniture, transportation,
postal, tool storage, appliance and a variety of other industries.  CompX is also a
leading manufacturer of stainless steel exhaust systems, gauges and throttle controls
for the performance marine industry.  CompX has production facilities in North
America and Asia.

  
Chemicals

Kronos Worldwide, Inc. – 36%
owned at December 31, 2009

Kronos is a leading global producer and marketer of value-added TiO2 pigments,
which are used for imparting whiteness, brightness and opacity to a diverse range
of customer applications and end-use markets, including coatings, plastics, paper
and other industrial and consumer "quality-of-life" products.   Kronos has
production facilities in Europe and North America.  Sales of TiO2 represented
about 90% of Kronos’ total sales in 2009, with sales of other products that are
complementary to Kronos’ TiO2 business comprising the remainder.

COMPONENT PRODUCTS - COMPX INTERNATIONAL INC.

Industry Overview - Through our majority-owned subsidiary, CompX, we manufacture components that are sold to a variety of industries including
office furniture, recreational transportation (including performance boats), mailboxes, tool boxes, appliances, banking equipment, vending equipment,
computers and related equipment.  Approximately 34% of CompX’s total sales in 2009 are to the office furniture manufacturing industry, compared to 33%
in 2008 and 32% in 2007.  We believe that our emphasis on new product features and sales of our products to additional markets has resulted in our potential
for higher rates of earnings growth and diversification of risk.

Manufacturing, Operations and Products – CompX’s Security Products business, with a manufacturing facility in South Carolina and one in Illinois
shared with the Marine Components business, manufactures locking mechanisms and other security products for sale to the postal, transportation, office and
institutional furniture, toolbox, banking, vending, general cabinetry and other industries.  We believe that CompX is a North American market leader in the
manufacture and sale of cabinet locks and other locking mechanisms.  CompX’s security products are used in a variety of applications including ignition
systems, mailboxes, toolboxes, vending and gaming machines, parking meters, electrical circuit panels, storage compartments, office furniture and medical
cabinet security.  These products include:

·  disc tumbler locks which provide moderate security and generally represent the lowest cost lock to produce;
·  p in tumbler locking mechanisms which are more costly to produce and are used in applications requiring higher levels of security, including

CompX’s KeSet high security system, which allows the user to change the keying on a single lock 64 times without removing the lock from its
enclosure; and

·  innovative eLock electronic locks which provide stand-alone or networked security and audit trail capability for drug storage and other valuables
through the use of a proximity card, magnetic stripe or keypad credentials.

A substantial portion of CompX’s Security Products sales consist of products with specialized adaptations to an individual manufacturer’s
specifications, some of which are listed above.  CompX also has a standardized product line suitable for many customers, which is offered through a North
American distribution network to lock distributors and to smaller original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) via its STOCK LOCKS distribution program.

CompX’s Furniture Components business, with facilities in Canada, Michigan and Taiwan, manufactures a complete line of precision ball bearing
slides and ergonomic computer support systems for use in applications such as computer-related equipment, appliances, tool storage cabinets, imaging
equipment, file cabinets, desk drawers, automated teller machines and other applications.  These products include:

·  the patented Integrated Slide Lock which allows a file cabinet manufacturer to reduce the possibility of multiple drawers being opened at the same
time;

·  the patented adjustable Ball Lock which reduces the risk of heavily-filled drawers, such as auto mechanic tool boxes, from opening while in
movement;

·  the Self-Closing Slide, which is designed to assist in closing a drawer and is used in applications such as bottom-mount freezers;
·  articulating computer keyboard support arms (designed to attach to desks in the workplace and home office environments to alleviate possible user

strains and stress and maximize usable workspace), along with the patented LeverLock keyboard arm, which is designed to make ergonomic
adjustments to the keyboard arm easier;

·  CPU storage devices which minimize adverse effects of dust and moisture; and
·  complementary accessories, such as ergonomic wrist rest aids, mouse pad supports and flat screen computer monitor support arms.

CompX’s Marine Components business, with a facility in Wisconsin and a facility in Illinois shared with the Security Products business,
manufactures and distributes marine instruments, hardware and accessories for performance boats.  CompX’s specialty marine component products are high
performance components designed to operate within precise tolerances in the highly corrosive marine environment.  These products include:

·  original equipment and aftermarket stainless steel exhaust headers, exhaust pipes, mufflers and other exhaust components;
·  high performance gauges such as GPS speedometers and tachometers;
·  controls, throttles, steering wheels and other billet accessories; and
·  dash panels, LED lighting, rigging and other accessories.

CompX operated six manufacturing facilities at December 31, 2009 including one facility in Grayslake, Illinois that houses operations relating to



Security Products and Marine Components.

Security Products  Furniture Components  Marine Components
Mauldin, SC
Grayslake, IL

 

 Kitchener, Ontario
Byron Center, MI
Taipei, Taiwan

 Neenah, WI
Grayslake, IL

Raw Materials - CompX’s primary raw materials are:

·  zinc, copper and brass (used in the Security Products business for the manufacture of locking mechanisms);
·  coiled steel (used in the Furniture Components business for the manufacture of precision ball bearing slides and ergonomic computer support

systems);
·  stainless steel (used in the Marine Components business for the manufacture of exhaust headers, pipes and other components); and
·  plastic resins (primarily used in the Furniture Components business for injection molded plastics in the manufacture of ergonomic computer support

systems).

These raw materials are purchased from several suppliers and are readily available from numerous sources and accounted for approximately 18% of our total
cost of goods sold for 2009.

CompX occasionally enters into raw material arrangements to mitigate the short-term impact of future increases in raw material costs that are affected
by commodity markets.  While these arrangements do not necessarily commit us to a minimum volume of purchases, they generally provide for stated unit
prices based upon achievement of specified purchase volumes.  We utilize purchase arrangements to stabilize our raw material prices provided we meet the
specified minimum monthly purchase quantities.  Commodity-related raw materials purchased outside of these arrangements are sometimes subject to
unanticipated and sudden price increases.  We generally seek to mitigate the impact of fluctuations in raw material costs on our margins through
improvements in production efficiencies or other operating cost reductions.  In the event we are unable to offset raw material cost increases with other cost
reductions, it may be difficult to recover those cost increases through increased product selling prices or raw material surcharges due to the competitive
nature of the markets served by our products.  Consequently, overall operating margins can be affected by commodity-related raw material cost
pressures.  Commodity market prices are cyclical, reflecting overall economic trends and specific developments in consuming industries.

Patents and Trademarks – CompX holds a number of patents relating to component products, certain of which are believed to be important to its
continuing business activity.  Patents generally have a term of 20 years, and CompX’s patents have remaining terms ranging from less than one year to 15
years at December 31, 2009.  CompX’s major trademarks and brand names include:

Furniture Components   Security Products       Marine Components       
CompX Precision Slides®  CompX Security Products®  Custom Marine®
CompX Waterloo®  National Cabinet Lock®  Livorsi Marine®
CompX ErgonomX®  Fort Lock®  CMI Industrial Mufflers™
CompX DurISLide®  Timberline®  Custom Marine Stainless
Dynaslide®  Chicago Lock®    Exhaust™
Waterloo Furniture    STOCK LOCKS®  The #1 Choice in
  Components Limited®  KeSet®    Performance Boating®
  TuBar®  Mega Rim™
  ACE II®  Race Rim™
  CompX eLock®  CompX Marine™
  Lockview® Software   

Sales, marketing and distribution - CompX sells components directly to large OEM customers through factory-based sales and marketing
professionals and with engineers working in concert with field salespeople and independent manufacturers' representatives.  CompX selects manufacturers'
representatives based on special skills in certain markets or relationships with current or potential customers.

A significant portion of CompX’s sales are also made through distributors.  CompX has a significant market share of cabinet lock sales as a result of
the locksmith distribution channel.  CompX supports distributor sales with a line of standardized products used by the largest segments of the marketplace.
These products are packaged and merchandised for easy availability and handling by distributors and end users.  Due to CompX’s success with the STOCK
LOCKS inventory program within the Security Products business, similar programs have been implemented for distributor sales of ergonomic computer
support systems within the Furniture Components business.

In 2009, our ten largest customers accounted for approximately 39% of our total sales; however, no one customer accounted for sales of 10% or more
in 2009.  Of the 39% of total sales, 18% (7 customers) was related to Security Products sales and 21% (7 customers) was related to Furniture Components
sales, including 4 customers for which we sell both Security Products and Furniture Components.  Overall, our customer base is diverse and the loss of any
single customer would not have a material adverse effect on our operations.

Competition - CompX operates in highly competitive markets, and competes primarily on the basis of product design, including ergonomic and
aesthetic factors, product quality and durability, price, on-time delivery, service and technical support.  CompX focuses efforts on the middle- and high-end
segments of the market, where product design, quality, durability and service are valued by the customer.  CompX’s Marine Components business competes
with small domestic manufacturers and is minimally affected by non-U.S. competitors.  The Security Products and Furniture Components businesses compete
against a number of domestic and non-U.S. manufacturers.

International Operations - CompX has substantial operations and assets located outside the United States, principally Furniture Component
operations in Canada and Taiwan.  The majority of our 2009 non-U.S. sales are to customers located in Canada.  These operations are subject to, among other
things, currency exchange rate fluctuations.  Our results of operations have in the past been both favorably and unfavorably affected by fluctuations in
currency exchange rates.  Political and economic uncertainties in certain of the countries in which we operate may expose us to risk of loss.  We do not
believe that there is currently any likelihood of material loss through political or economic instability, seizure, nationalization or similar events.  We cannot
predict, however, whether events of this type in the future could have a material effect on our operations.  See Item 7 - "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and Item 7A – "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk."

Regulatory and Environmental Matters - CompX’s operations are subject to federal, state, local and non-U.S. laws and regulations relating to the
use, storage, handling, generation, transportation, treatment, emission, discharge, disposal, remediation of and exposure to hazardous and non-hazardous
substances, materials and wastes ("Environmental Laws").  CompX’s operations are also subject to federal, state, local and non-U.S. laws and regulations
relating to worker health and safety.  We believe that CompX is in substantial compliance with all such laws and regulations.  To date, the costs of
maintaining compliance with such laws and regulations have not significantly impacted our results.  We currently do not anticipate any significant costs or



expenses relating to such matters; however, it is possible future laws and regulations may require us to incur significant additional expenditures.

Employees - As of December 31, 2009, CompX employed the following number of people:

United States  528
Canada(1)  211
Taiwan    76
     Total   815

(1)  Approximately 77% of the Canadian employees are represented by a labor union covered by a collective bargaining agreement that
expires in January 2012 which provides for wage increases from 0% to 1% over the term of the contract.

We believe our labor relations are good at all of our facilities.

CHEMICALS - KRONOS WORLDWIDE, INC.

Business Overview - Kronos is a leading global producer and marketer of value-added titanium dioxide pigments.  Kronos, along with its distributors
and agents, sells and provides technical services for its products to over 4,000 customers in approximately 100 countries with the majority of sales in Europe
and North America.  We believe that Kronos has developed considerable expertise and efficiency in the manufacture, sale, shipment and service of its
products in domestic and international markets.

TiO2 is an inorganic pigment used to impart whiteness, brightness and opacity for products such as coatings, plastics, paper, fibers, food, ceramics
and cosmetics.  TiO2 is considered a “quality-of-life” product with demand and growth affected by gross domestic product and overall economic conditions
in markets in various parts of the world.  TiO2 derives its value from its whitening properties and hiding power (opacity), which is the ability to cover or mask
other materials effectively and efficiently.  TiO2 is the largest commercially-used whitening pigment because it has a high refractive rating giving it more
hiding power than any other commercially-produced white pigment.  In addition, TiO2 has excellent resistance to interaction with other chemicals, good
thermal stability and resistance to ultraviolet degradation.  Kronos ships TiO2 to customers in either a powder or slurry form via rail, truck or ocean
carrier.  Kronos, including its predecessors, has produced and marketed TiO2 in North America and Europe for over 80 years.

We believe that Kronos is the second-largest producer of TiO2 in Europe with approximately one-half of Kronos’ 2009 sales volumes attributable to
markets in Europe.  The table below shows Kronos’ market share for its significant markets, Europe and North America, for the last three years:

 2007 2008 2009
    
             Europe 19% 19% 19%
            North America 15% 16% 16%

Per capita utilization of TiO2 in the United States and Western Europe far exceeds that of other areas in the world.  We expect these markets to continue to be
the largest consumers of TiO2 for the foreseeable future.  It is probable that significant markets for TiO2 could emerge in other areas of the world.  China
continues to develop into a significant market and as its economy continues to mature it is probable that quality-of-life products, including TiO2, will
experience greater demand in that country.  In addition, growth in recent years in Eastern Europe and the Far East has been significant as the economies in
these regions continue developing to the point that quality-of-life products, including TiO2, experience greater demand.  Industry demand declined in
Eastern Europe significantly in 2009 due to the global economic crisis.

Sales of TiO2 comprised about 90% of Kronos’ net sales in 2009.  The remaining 10% of net sales is made up of other product lines that are
complementary to TiO2.  These other products are described as follows:

·  Kronos owns and operates two ilmenite mines in Norway pursuant to a governmental concession with an unlimited term.  Kronos commenced
production from its second mine in 2009.  Ilmenite is a raw material used directly as a feedstock by some sulfate-process TiO2 plants, including all of
its European sulfate-process plants.  Kronos also sells ilmenite ore to third-parties, some of whom are competitors.  The mines have estimated
aggregate reserves which are expected to last for at least another 60 years.

 
·  Kronos manufactures and sells iron-based chemicals that are co-products and processed co-products of TiO2 pigment production.  These co-product

chemicals are marketed through Kronos’ Ecochem division and are primarily used as treatment and conditioning agents for industrial effluents and
municipal wastewater as well as in the manufacture of iron pigments, cement and agricultural products.

·  Kronos manufactures and sells titanium oxychloride and titanyl sulfate which are side-stream specialty products from the production of
TiO2.  Titanium oxychloride is used in specialty applications in the formulation of pearlescent pigments and in the production of electroceramic
capacitors for cell phones and other electronic devices.  Titanyl sulfate products are used in pearlescent pigments, natural gas pipe and other
specialty applications.

Manufacturing and operation - Kronos currently produces over 40 different TiO2; grades under the KronosTM trademark which provide a variety of
performance properties to meet customers’ specific requirements.  Kronos’ major customers include domestic and international paint, plastics and paper
manufacturers.

Extenders, such as kaolin clays, calcium carbonate and polymeric opacifiers, are used in a number of the same end-use markets as white pigments.
However, the opacity in these products is not able to duplicate the performance characteristics of TiO2; therefore we believe these products are not effective
substitutes for TiO2.

Kronos produces TiO2 in two crystalline forms: rutile and anatase.  Rutile TiO2 is manufactured using both a chloride production process and a
sulfate production process, whereas anatase TiO2 is only produced using a sulfate production process.  Chloride process rutile is preferred for the majority of
customer applications.  From a technical standpoint, chloride process rutile has a bluer undertone and higher durability than sulfate process rutile.  Although
many end-use applications can use either form, chloride process rutile is the preferred form for use in coatings and plastics, the two largest end-use
markets.  Sulfate process anatase represents a much smaller percentage of annual global TiO2 production and is preferred for use in selected paper products,
ceramics, rubber tires, man-made fibers, food and cosmetics.

Chloride production process - Approximately three-fourths of Kronos’ current production capacity is based on the chloride process.  The chloride
process is a continuous process in which chlorine is used to extract rutile TiO2.  The chloride process typically has lower manufacturing costs than the sulfate



process due to newer technology, higher yield, less waste, lower energy requirements and lower labor costs.  The chloride process produces less waste than the
sulfate process because much of the chlorine is recycled and feedstock bearing a higher titanium content is used.

Sulfate production process - The sulfate process is a batch chemical process that uses sulfuric acid to extract both rutile and anatase TiO2.  In
addition to the factors indicated above, the higher production costs associated with the sulfate process result in part from the need to process the spent
sulfuric acid remaining at the end of the production process.

Once an intermediate TiO2 pigment has been produced by either the chloride or sulfate process, it is “finished” into products with specific
performance characteristics for particular end-use applications through proprietary processes involving various chemical surface treatments and intensive
micronizing (milling).  Due to environmental factors and customer considerations, the proportion of TiO2 industry sales represented by chloride process
pigments has increased relative to sulfate process pigments and, in 2009, chloride process production facilities represented approximately 60% of industry
capacity.

Kronos produced 402,000 metric tons of TiO2 in 2009, down from the 514,000 metric tons produced in 2008.  Such production amounts include
Kronos’ 50% interest in the TiO2 manufacturing joint-venture discussed below.  Kronos’ average production capacity utilization rates were near full capacity
in 2007 and 2008 and approximately 76% in 2009.  In late 2008, and as a result of the sharp decline in global demand, Kronos experienced a build up in its
inventory levels.  In order to decrease inventory levels and improve liquidity, Kronos implemented production curtailments during the first half of
2009.  Consequently, average production capacity utilization rates were approximately 58% during the first half of 2009 as compared to 94% during the
second half of 2009.

Kronos’ production capacity has increased by approximately 30% over the past ten years due to debottlenecking programs with only moderate
capital expenditures.  We believe that Kronos’ annual attainable production capacity for 2010 is approximately 532,000 metric tons and we currently expect
that Kronos will operate at approximately 90% to 95% of attainable capacity. See Kronos’ Outlook in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Kronos operated the following six TiO2 facilities, two slurry facilities and two ilmenite mines at December 31, 2009.  Kronos owns all such facilities,
unless otherwise indicated.

Location  Description
Leverkusen, Germany (1)  TiO2 production, Chloride and sulfate process,  co-products
Nordenham, Germany  TiO2 production, Sulfate process, co-products
Langerbrugge, Belgium  TiO2 production, Chloride process, co-products, titanium chemicals products
Fredrikstad, Norway (2)  TiO2 production, Sulfate process, co-products
Varennes, Quebec  TiO2 production, Chloride and sulfate process, slurry facility, titanium chemicals products
Lake Charles, Louisiana (3)  TiO2 production, Chloride process
Lake Charles, Louisiana  Slurry facility
Hauge i Dalane, Norway  Ilmenite mines

 (1) The Leverkusen facility is located within an extensive manufacturing complex owned by Bayer AG.  Kronos owns the Leverkusen facility,
which represents about one-third of its current TiO2 production capacity, but Kronos leases the land under the facility from Bayer under a long
term agreement which expires in 2050.  Lease payments are periodically negotiated with Bayer for periods of at least two years at a time.  Bayer
provides some raw materials, including chlorine, auxiliary and operating materials, utilities and services necessary to operate the Leverkusen
facility under separate supplies and services agreements.

 (2) The Fredrikstad plant is located on public land and is leased until 2013, with an option to extend the lease for an additional 50 years.
 (3) Kronos operates this facility in a 50/50 joint venture with Huntsman.

Raw materials - The primary raw materials used in chloride process TiO2 are titanium-containing feedstock (natural rutile ore or purchased slag),
chlorine and coke.  Chlorine and coke are available from a number of suppliers.  Titanium-containing feedstock suitable for use in the chloride process is
available from a limited but increasing number of suppliers principally in Australia, South Africa, Canada, India and the United States.  Kronos purchases
chloride process grade slag from Rio Tinto Iron and Titanium under a long-term supply contract that expires at the end of 2011.  Kronos purchases natural
rutile ore primarily from Iluka Resources, Limited under a long-term supply contract that expires at the end of 2014.  Kronos has in the past been, and expects
that in the future will continue to be, successful in obtaining long-term extensions to these and other existing supply contracts prior to their
expiration.  Kronos expects the raw materials purchased under these contracts to meet its chloride process feedstock requirements over the next several years.

The primary raw materials used in sulfate process TiO2 are titanium-containing feedstock primarily ilmenite or purchased sulfate-grade slag and
sulfuric acid.  Sulfuric acid is available from a number of suppliers.  Titanium-containing feedstock suitable for use in the sulfate process is available from a
limited number of suppliers principally in Norway, Canada, Australia, India and South Africa.  As one of the few vertically- integrated producers of sulfate
process TiO2, Kronos owns and operates rock ilmenite mines in Norway, which provided all of the feedstock for its European sulfate process TiO2 plants in
2009.  We expect that ilmenite production from the mine will meet Kronos’ European sulfate process feedstock requirements for the foreseeable future.  For
Kronos’ Canadian sulfate process plant, Kronos also purchases sulfate grade slag primarily from Q.I.T. Fer et Titane Inc. (a subsidiary of Rio Tinto Iron and
Titanium), under a long-term supply contract that expires at the end of 2014 and Eramet Titanium & Iron AS (formerly Tinfos Titan and Iron KS) under a
supply contract that expires in 2010.  We expect the raw materials purchased under these contracts to meet Kronos’ sulfate process feedstock requirements
over the next few years.

 
Many of Kronos’ raw material contracts contain fixed quantities it is required to purchase, although these contracts allow for an upward or downward

adjustment in the quantity purchased.  The pricing under these agreements is generally negotiated annually.

The following table summarizes raw materials Kronos purchased or mined in 2009.

Production Process/Raw Material Raw Materials Procured or Mined
 (In thousands of metric tons)
  
Chloride process plants:  

Purchased slag or natural rutile ore 351
  
Sulfate process plants:  

Raw ilmenite ore mined & used internally 226
Purchased slag   13



TiO2 manufacturing joint venture - Kronos holds a 50% interest in a manufacturing joint venture with Huntsman Corporation (Huntsman).  The joint venture
owns and operates a chloride process TiO2 facility located in Lake Charles, Louisiana.  Kronos shares production from the plant equally with Huntsman
pursuant to separate offtake agreements.

A supervisory committee directs the business and affairs of the joint venture, including production and output decisions.  This committee is
composed of four members, two of whom Kronos appoints and two of whom Huntsman appoints.  Two general managers manage the operations of the joint
venture acting under the direction of the supervisory committee.  Kronos appoints one general manager and Huntsman appoints the other.

Kronos is required to purchase one-half of the TiO2 produced by the joint venture.  The joint venture is not consolidated in Kronos’ financial
statements because Kronos does not control it.  Kronos accounts for its interest in the joint venture by the equity method.  The joint venture operates on a
break-even basis, and therefore Kronos does not have any equity in earnings of the joint venture.  Kronos shares all costs and capital expenditures of the joint
venture equally with Huntsman with the exception of raw material and packaging costs for the pigment grades produced.  Kronos’ share of the net costs is
reported as cost of sales as the related TiO2 is sold.

Competition – The TiO2 industry is highly competitive.  Kronos’ principal competitors are E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.; Millennium Inorganic
Chemicals, Inc. (a subsidiary of National Titanium Dioxide Company Ltd. (Cristal)); Huntsman; Tronox Incorporated and Sachtleben Chemie.  These
competitors have estimated individual shares of TiO2 production capacity ranging from 4% (for Sachtleben) to 22% (for DuPont) and an estimated aggregate
share of worldwide TiO2 production volume of approximately 60%.  DuPont has over one-half of total North American TiO2 production capacity and is
Kronos’ principal North American competitor.  Tronox filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in January 2009 and has continued to operate as a debtor-
in-possession since that date.  In December 2009, Tronox announced its intention to restructure and emerge from Chapter 11.  It remains unclear how and to
what extent Tronox or a successor will compete in the TiO2 industry at the conclusion of Tronox’s bankruptcy proceedings.

Kronos competes primarily on the basis of price, product quality, technical service and the availability of high-performance pigment
grades.  Although certain TiO2 grades are considered specialty pigments, the majority of Kronos’ grades and substantially all of Kronos’ production are
considered commodity pigments with price being one of the most significant competitive factors along with quality and customer service.  We believe that
Kronos is the leading seller of TiO2 in several countries, including Germany, with an estimated 13% share of worldwide TiO2 sales volume in 2009.  Overall,
Kronos is the world’s fourth-largest producer of TiO2.

Over the past ten years, Kronos and its competitors have increased industry capacity through debottlenecking projects.  Although overall industry
pigment demand is expected to be higher in 2010 as compared to 2009 as a result of improving worldwide economic conditions, we do not expect any
significant efforts will be undertaken by Kronos or its competitors to further increase capacity through such projects for the foreseeable future.  If actual
developments differ from our expectations, Kronos’ and the TiO2 industry's performance could be unfavorably affected.

Worldwide capacity additions in the TiO2 market resulting from construction of new plants require significant capital expenditures and substantial
lead time (typically three to five years in our experience).  We are not aware of any TiO2 plants currently under construction, and we believe that it is not
likely any new plants will be constructed in Europe or North America in the foreseeable future.

Research and development – Kronos’ research and development activities are directed primarily on improving the chloride and sulfate production
processes, improving product quality and strengthening Kronos’ competitive position by developing new pigment applications.  Kronos conducts research
and development activities at its Leverkusen, Germany facility.  Kronos’ expenditures for research and development and certain technical support programs
were approximately $12 million in each of 2007, 2008 and 2009.

Kronos continually seeks to improve the quality of its grades and has been successful at developing new grades for existing and new applications to
meet the needs of customers and increase product life cycles.  Since 2004, Kronos has added five new grades for plastics and coatings applications.

Patents and trademarks - We believe that Kronos’ patents held for products and production processes are important to Kronos and its continuing
business activities.  Kronos seeks patent protection for technical developments, principally in the United States, Canada and Europe, and from time to time
enters into licensing arrangements with third parties.  Kronos’ existing patents generally have terms of 20 years from the date of filing, and have remaining
terms ranging from less than 1 to 19 years.  Kronos seeks to protect its intellectual property rights, including its patent rights, and from time to time Kronos
engages in disputes relating to the protection and use of intellectual property relating to its products.

Kronos’ trademarks, including KronosTM, are protected by registration in the United States and elsewhere with respect to those products Kronos
manufactures and sells.  Kronos also relies on unpatented proprietary knowledge, continuing technological innovation and other trade secrets to develop and
maintain competitive position.  Kronos’ proprietary chloride production process is an important part of its technology, and Kronos’ business could be harmed
if it failed to maintain confidentiality of trade secrets used in this technology.

Customer base and seasonality - Kronos sells to a diverse customer base, and no single customer made up more than 10% of sales for 2009.  Kronos’
largest ten customers accounted for approximately 28% of sales in 2009.

Neither Kronos’ business as a whole, nor any of its principal product groups is seasonal to any significant extent.  However, TiO2 sales are generally
higher in the second and third quarters of the year.  This is due in part to the increase in paint production in the spring to meet demand during the spring and
summer painting season.

Employees - As of December 31, 2009, Kronos employed the following number of people:
Europe 2,000
Canada    400
United States(1)      40
     Total 2,440

 
 
 (1)Excludes employees of the Louisiana joint venture.

Kronos’ hourly employees in production facilities worldwide, including the TiO2 joint venture, are represented by a variety of labor unions under
labor agreements with various expiration dates.  Kronos’ European Union employees are covered by master collective bargaining agreements in the
chemicals industry that are generally renewed annually.  Kronos’ Canadian union employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement that expires in
June 2010.

Regulatory and environmental matters – Kronos’ operations are governed by various environmental laws and regulations.  Certain of Kronos’
operations are, or have been, engaged in the handling, manufacture or use of substances or compounds that may be considered toxic or hazardous within the



meaning of applicable environmental laws and regulations.  As with other companies engaged in similar businesses, certain past and current operations and
products of Kronos have the potential to cause environmental or other damage.  Kronos has implemented and continues to implement various policies and
programs in an effort to minimize these risks.  Kronos’ policy is to maintain compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations at all of its
facilities and to strive to improve our environmental performance.  It is possible that future developments, such as stricter requirements in environmental laws
and enforcement policies, could adversely affect Kronos’ production, handling, use, storage, transportation, sale or disposal of such substances and could
adversely affect Kronos’ consolidated financial position and results of operations or liquidity.

Kronos’ U.S. manufacturing operations are governed by federal environmental and worker health and safety laws and regulations.  These primarily
consist of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”), the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Safe
Drinking Water Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act and the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as amended by
the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act (“CERCLA”), as well as the state counterparts of these statutes.  We believe the TiO2 plant owned by
the joint venture and a TiO2 slurry facility Kronos owns in Lake Charles, Louisiana are in substantial compliance with applicable requirements of these laws
or compliance orders issued thereunder.  These are Kronos’ only U.S. manufacturing facilities.

While the laws regulating operations of industrial facilities in Europe vary from country to country, a common regulatory framework is provided by
the European Union (“EU”).  Germany and Belgium are members of the EU and follow its initiatives.  Norway is not a member but generally patterns its
environmental regulatory actions after the EU.  We believe that Kronos has obtained all required permits and is in substantial compliance with applicable
environmental requirements for its European and Canadian facilities.

A t Kronos’ sulfate plant facilities in Germany, Kronos recycles weak sulfuric acid either through contracts with third parties or at its own
facilities.  In addition, at its German locations Kronos has a contract with a third party to treat certain sulfate-process effluents.  At its Norwegian plant,
Kronos ships spent acid to a third party location where it is used as a neutralization agent.  These contracts may be terminated by either party after giving
three or four years advance notice, depending on the contract.

From time to time, Kronos’ facilities may be subject to environmental regulatory enforcement under U.S. and non-U.S. statutes.  Typically Kronos
establishes compliance programs to resolve these matters.  Occasionally, Kronos may pay penalties.  To date such penalties have not involved amounts
having a material adverse effect on Kronos’ consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.  We believe that all of Kronos’ facilities are in
substantial compliance with applicable environmental laws.

In December 2006, the EU approved Registration, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemicals (“REACH”), which took effect on June 1, 2007 and
will be phased in over 11 years.  Under REACH, companies that manufacture or import more than one ton of a chemical substance per year will be required to
register such chemical substances in a central data base.  REACH affects Kronos’ European operations by imposing a testing, evaluation and registration
program for many of the chemicals Kronos uses or produces in Europe.  Kronos has established a REACH team that is working to identify and list all
substances purchased, manufactured or imported by or for Kronos in the EU.  Kronos spent $.4 million in 2007 and $.5 million in 2008 and $.7 million in
2009 on REACH compliance, and we do not anticipate that future compliance costs will be material to Kronos.

Kronos’ capital expenditures in 2009 related to ongoing environmental compliance, protection and improvement programs were $3.1 million, and
are currently expected to be approximately $12 million in 2010 including approximately $9.7 million for a desulfurization unit at its Belgian facility.

OTHER

In addition to our 87% ownership of CompX and our 36% ownership of Kronos at December 31, 2009, we also own 100% of EWI Re. Inc., an insurance
brokerage and risk management services company.  We also hold certain marketable securities and other investments.  See Notes 4 and 17 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Regulatory and environmental matters – We discuss regulatory and environmental matters in the respective business sections contained elsewhere herein
and in Item 3 - "Legal Proceedings."  In addition, the information included in Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements under the captions "Lead
pigment litigation" and "Environmental matters and litigation" is incorporated herein by reference.

Insurance – We maintain insurance for our businesses and operations, with customary levels of coverage, deductibles and limits.  See also Item 3 – “Legal
Proceedings – Insurance coverage claims” and Note 17 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Business Strategy – We routinely compare our liquidity requirements and alternative uses of capital against the estimated future cash flows we
expect to receive from our subsidiaries and affiliates.  As a result of this process, we have in the past and may in the future seek to raise additional capital,
incur debt, repurchase indebtedness in the market or otherwise, modify our dividend policies, consider the sale of our interests in our subsidiaries, affiliates,
business units, marketable securities or other assets, or take a combination of these and other steps, to increase liquidity, reduce indebtedness and fund future
activities.  Such activities have in the past and may in the future involve related companies.  From time to time, we also evaluate the restructuring of
ownership interests among our respective subsidiaries and related companies.

We and other entities that may be deemed to be controlled by or that are affiliated with Mr. Harold C. Simmons routinely evaluate acquisitions of interests in,
or combinations with, companies, including related companies, perceived by management to be undervalued in the marketplace.  These companies may or
may not be engaged in businesses related to our current businesses.  In some instances, we have actively managed the businesses acquired with a focus on
maximizing return-on-investment through cost reductions, capital expenditures, improved operating efficiencies, selective marketing to address market
niches, disposition of marginal operations, use of leverage and redeployment of capital to more productive assets.  In other instances, we have disposed of the
acquired interest in a company prior to gaining control.  We intend to consider such activities in the future and may, in connection with such activities,
consider issuing additional equity securities and increasing our indebtedness.

Available information – Our fiscal year ends December 31.  We furnish our shareholders with annual reports containing audited financial
statements.  In addition, we file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy and information statements and other information with the SEC.  Our
consolidated subsidiary (CompX) and our significant equity method investee (Kronos) also file annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy and information
statements and other information with the SEC.  We also make our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K
and amendments thereto, available free of charge through our website at www.nl-ind.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they have been filed with the
SEC.  We also provide to anyone, without charge, copies of such documents upon written request.  Such requests should be directed to the attention of the
Corporate Secretary at our address on the cover page of this Form 10-K.

Additional information, including our Audit Committee charter, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and our Corporate Governance
Guidelines can be found on our website.  Information contained on our website is not part of this Annual Report.

 
The general public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC

20549.  The public may obtain information about the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.  We are an electronic
filer.  The SEC maintains an internet website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers
that file electronically with the SEC, including us.



 
 
ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

Listed below are certain risk factors associated with us and our businesses.  In addition to the potential effect of these risk factors discussed below, any risk
factor which could result in reduced earnings or operating losses, or reduced liquidity, could in turn adversely affect our ability to service our liabilities or
pay dividends on our common stock or adversely affect the quoted market prices for our securities.

We could incur significant costs related to legal and environmental matters.

We formerly manufactured lead pigments for use in paint.  We and others have been named as defendants in various legal proceedings seeking
damages for personal injury, property damage and governmental expenditures allegedly caused by the use of lead-based paints.  These lawsuits seek recovery
under a variety of theories, including public and private nuisance, negligent product design, negligent failure to warn, strict liability, breach of warranty,
conspiracy/concert of action, aiding and abetting, enterprise liability, market share or risk contribution liability, intentional tort, fraud and misrepresentation,
violations of state consumer protection statutes, supplier negligence and similar claims.  The plaintiffs in these actions generally seek to impose on the
defendants responsibility for lead paint abatement and health concerns associated with the use of lead-based paints, including damages for personal injury,
contribution and/or indemnification for medical expenses, medical monitoring expenses and costs for educational programs.  As with all legal proceedings,
the outcome is uncertain.  Any liability we might incur in the future could be material.  See also Item 3 - “Legal Proceedings – Lead pigment litigation.”

Certain properties and facilities used in our former operations are the subject of litigation, administrative proceedings or investigations arising under
various environmental laws.  These proceedings seek cleanup costs, personal injury or property damages and/or damages for injury to natural
resources.  Some of these proceedings involve claims for substantial amounts.  Environmental obligations are difficult to assess and estimate for numerous
reasons, and we may incur costs for environmental remediation in the future in excess of amounts currently estimated.  Any liability we might incur in the
future could be material.  See also Item 3 - “Legal Proceedings – Environmental matters and litigation.”

Our assets consist primarily of investments in our operating subsidiaries and affiliates, and we are dependent upon distributions from our subsidiaries
and affiliates.

The majority of our operating cash flows are generated by our operating subsidiaries, and our ability to service liabilities and to pay dividends on
our common stock depends to a large extent upon the cash dividends or other distributions we receive from our subsidiaries and affiliates.  Our subsidiaries
and affiliates are separate and distinct legal entities and they have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to pay such cash dividends or other distributions to
us.  In addition, the payment of dividends or other distributions from our subsidiaries could be subject to restrictions on or taxation of dividends or
repatriation of earnings under applicable law, monetary transfer restrictions, currency exchange regulations in jurisdictions in which our subsidiaries operate
or any other restrictions imposed by current or future agreements to which our subsidiaries may be a party, including debt instruments.  Events beyond our
control, including changes in general business and economic conditions, could adversely impact the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or make
other distributions to us.  If our subsidiaries were to become unable to make sufficient cash dividends or other distributions to us, our ability to service our
liabilities and to pay dividends on our common stock could be adversely affected.

In this regard, in the first quarter of 2009 Kronos announced the suspension of its regular quarterly dividend in consideration of the challenges and
opportunities that exist in the TiO2 pigment industry.  We currently believe that we will have sufficient liquidity to service our liabilities in 2010.  See Item
7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Liquidity.”

In February 2010, our Board of Directors declared a first quarter 2010 cash dividend of $.125 per share to shareholders of record as of March 10, 2010 to be
paid on March 25, 2010.  However, the declaration and payment of future dividends, and the amount thereof, is discretionary and is dependent upon our
results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements for businesses, contractual restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of
Directors.  The amount and timing of past dividends is not necessarily indicative of the amount or timing of any future dividends which might be paid.  There
are currently no contractual restrictions on the amount of dividends which we may pay.

In addition, a significant portion of our assets consist of ownership interests in our subsidiaries and affiliates.  If we were required to liquidate any of
such securities in order to generate funds to satisfy our liabilities, we may be required to sell such securities at a time or times at which we would not be able
to realize what we believe to be the actual value of such assets.



Many of the markets in which we operate are mature and highly competitive resulting in pricing pressure and the need to continuously reduce costs.

Many of the markets CompX and Kronos serve are highly competitive, with a number of competitors offering similar products.  CompX focuses
efforts on the middle and high-end segment of the market where we feel that we can compete due to the importance of product design, quality and durability
to the customer.  However, our ability to effectively compete is impacted by a number of factors.  The occurrence of any of these factors could result in
reduced earnings or operating losses.

·  Competitors may be able to drive down prices for our products because their costs are lower than our costs, especially those located in Asia.
·  Competitors' financial, technological and other resources may be greater than our resources, which may enable them to more effectively withstand

changes in market conditions.
·  Competitors may be able to respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements.
·  Consolidation of our competitors or customers in any of the markets in which we compete may result in reduced demand for our products.
·  New competitors could emerge by modifying their existing production facilities to manufacture products that compete with our products.
·  Our ability to sustain a cost structure that enables us to be cost-competitive.
·  Our ability to adjust costs relative to our pricing.
·  Customers may no longer value our product design, quality or durability over lower cost products of our competitors.

Sales for certain precision slides and ergonomic products are concentrated in the office furniture industry, which has periodically experienced
significant reductions in demand that could result in reduced earnings or operating losses.

Sales of CompX’s products to the office furniture manufacturing industry accounted for approximately 34%, 33% and 32% for 2009, 2008 and
2007, respectively, of our net sales.  The future growth, if any, of the office furniture industry will be affected by a variety of macroeconomic factors, such as
service industry employment levels, corporate cash flows and non-residential commercial construction, as well as industry factors such as corporate
reengineering and restructuring, technology demands, ergonomic, health and safety concerns and corporate relocations. There can be no assurance that
current or future economic or industry trends will not materially and adversely affect our business.

Our development of innovative features for our current component products is critical to sustaining and growing our sales.
 

Historically, CompX’s ability to provide value-added custom engineered component products that address requirements of technology and space
utilization has been a key element of its success.  We spend a significant amount of time and effort to refine, improve and adapt our existing products for new
customers and applications.  Since expenditures for these types of activities are not considered research and development expense under accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the amount of our research and development expenditures, which is not significant, is not
indicative of the overall effort involved in the development of new product features. The introduction of new products and features requires the coordination
of the design, manufacturing and marketing of such products with potential customers.  The ability to coordinate these activities may be affected by factors
beyond CompX’s control.  While we will continue to emphasize the introduction of innovative new product features that target customer-specific
opportunities, we cannot assure you that any new products CompX introduces will achieve the same degree of success that it has achieved with its existing
products.  Introduction of new products typically requires us to increase production volume on a timely basis while maintaining product
quality.  Manufacturers often encounter difficulties in increasing production volumes, including delays, quality control problems and shortages of qualified
personnel.  As CompX attempts to introduce new product features in the future, we cannot assure you that CompX will be able to increase production volume
without encountering these or other problems, which might negatively impact our financial condition or results of operations.

Demand for, and prices of, certain of Kronos’ products are influenced by changing market conditions and Kronos is currently operating in a depressed
worldwide market for its products, which may result in reduced earnings or operating losses.

A significant portion of our net income is attributable to sales of TiO2 by Kronos.  Approximately 90% of Kronos’ revenues are attributable to sales
of TiO2.  Pricing within the global TiO2 industry over the long term is cyclical, and changes in economic conditions, especially in Western industrialized
nations, can significantly impact our earnings and operating cash flows.  The current world-wide economic downturn has depressed sales volumes in 2009,
principally in the first half of the year, and we are unable to predict with a high degree of certainty when demand will return to the levels experienced prior to
the commencement of the downturn.  This may result in reduced earnings or operating losses.

Historically, the markets for many of Kronos’ products have experienced alternating periods of increasing and decreasing demand.  Relative changes
in the selling prices for Kronos’ products are one of the main factors that affect the level of its profitability.  In periods of increasing demand, Kronos’ selling
prices and profit margins generally will tend to increase, while in periods of decreasing demand Kronos’ selling prices and profit margins generally tend to
decrease.  Huntsman closed one of its European facilities and Tronox closed its Savannah, Georgia facility in 2009.  We believe that further shutdowns or
closures in the industry are possible.  The closures may not be sufficient to alleviate the current excess industry capacity and such conditions may be further
aggravated by anticipated or unanticipated capacity additions or other events.

The demand for TiO2 during a given year is also subject to annual seasonal fluctuations.  TiO2 sales are generally higher in the second and third
quarters of the year.  This is due in part to the increase in paint production in the spring to meet demand during the spring and summer painting season.
Higher costs or limited availability of our raw materials may decrease our liquidity.

Certain of the raw materials used in CompX’s products are commodities that are subject to significant fluctuations in price in response to worldwide
supply and demand.  Coiled steel is the major raw material used in the manufacture of precision ball bearing slides and ergonomic computer support
systems.  Plastic resins for injection molded plastics are also an integral material for ergonomic computer support systems.  Zinc is a principal raw material
used in the manufacture of security products.  Stainless steel tubing is the major raw material used in the manufacture of marine exhaust systems.  These raw
materials are purchased from several suppliers and are generally readily available from numerous sources.  We occasionally enter into raw material supply
arrangements to mitigate the short-term impact of future increases in raw material costs.  Materials purchased outside of these arrangements are sometimes
subject to unanticipated and sudden price increases.  Should our vendors not be able to meet their contractual obligations or should we be otherwise unable
to obtain necessary raw materials, we may incur higher costs for raw materials or may be required to reduce production levels, either of which may decrease
our liquidity as we may be unable to offset the higher costs with increased selling prices for our products.

For Kronos, the number of sources for, and availability of, certain raw materials is specific to the particular geographical region in which a facility is
located.  For example, titanium-containing feedstocks suitable for use in TiO2 facilities are available from a limited number of suppliers around the
world.  Political and economic instability in the countries from which Kronos purchases raw material supplies could adversely affect their availability.  If
Kronos’ worldwide vendors were not able to meet their contractual obligations and Kronos was unable to obtain necessary raw materials, Kronos might incur
higher costs for raw materials or it might be required to reduce production levels.  Kronos may not always be able to increase selling prices to offset the
impact of any higher costs or reduced production levels, which could reduce its earnings and decrease liquidity.

Recent and future acquisitions could subject us to a number of operational risks.



A key component of CompX’s strategy is to grow and diversify its business through acquisitions.  Our ability to successfully execute this
component of our strategy entails a number of risks, including:

·  the identification of suitable growth opportunities;
·  an inaccurate assessment of acquired liabilities;
·  the entry into markets in which we may have limited or no experience;
·  the diversion of management’s attention from our core businesses;
·  the potential loss of key employees or customers of the acquired businesses;
·  difficulties in realizing projected efficiencies, synergies and cost savings and
·  an increase in our indebtedness and a limitation in our ability to access additional capital when needed.

Kronos’ leverage may impair our financial condition or limit our ability to operate our businesses.

As of December 31, 2009, Kronos had consolidated debt of approximately $613.2 million, which relates to Senior Secured Notes, a revolving credit
facility of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of Kronos International, Inc.  Kronos’ level of debt could have important consequences to its stockholders
(including us) and creditors, including:

·  making it more difficult for Kronos to satisfy its obligations with respect to its liabilities;
·  increasing its vulnerability to adverse general economic and industry conditions;
·  requiring that a portion of Kronos’ cash flows from operations be used for the payment of interest on its debt, which reduces its ability to use cash

flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, dividends on our common stock, acquisitions or general corporate requirements;
·  limiting its ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures, dividends on its common stock, acquisitions

or general corporate requirements;
·  limiting its flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in Kronos’ business and the industry in which it operates and
·  placing it at a competitive disadvantage relative to other less leveraged competitors.

In addition to Kronos’ indebtedness, Kronos is party to various lease and other agreements pursuant to which it is committed to pay approximately
$383.2 million in 2010.  Kronos’ ability to make payments on and refinance its debt, and to fund planned capital expenditures, depends on Kronos’ future
ability to generate cash flow.  To some extent, this is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are
beyond our control.  In addition, Kronos’ ability to borrow funds under its subsidiaries’ credit facilities in the future will in some instances depend in part on
these subsidiaries’ ability to maintain specified financial ratios and satisfy certain financial covenants contained in the applicable credit agreement.

Kronos’ business may not generate cash flows from operating activities sufficient to enable Kronos to pay its debts when they become due and to
fund other liquidity needs.  As a result, Kronos may need to refinance all or a portion of its debt before maturity.  Kronos may not be able to refinance any of
its debt in a timely manner on favorable terms, if at all in the current credit markets.  Any inability to generate sufficient cash flows or to refinance Kronos’
debt on favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.
 
Negative worldwide economic conditions could continue to result in a decrease in our sales and an increase in our operating costs, which could continue
to adversely affect our business and operating results.
 

If the current worldwide economic downturn continues, many of CompX’s direct and indirect customers may continue to delay or reduce their
purchases of the components we manufacture or of the products that utilize our components.  In addition, many of CompX’s customers rely on credit
financing for their working capital needs.  If the negative conditions in the global credit markets continue to prevent CompX’s customers' access to credit,
product orders may continue to decrease which could result in lower sales.  Likewise, if suppliers continue to face challenges in obtaining credit, in selling
their products or otherwise in operating their businesses, they may become unable to continue to offer the materials CompX uses to manufacture our
products.  These actions could continue to result in reductions in our sales, increased price competition and increased operating costs, which could adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
Negative global economic conditions increase the risk that we could suffer unrecoverable losses on our customers' accounts receivable which would
adversely affect our financial results.
 

CompX and Kronos extend credit and payment terms to some customers. Although we have an ongoing process of evaluating customers' financial
conditions, we could suffer significant losses if a customer fails and/or is unable to pay.  A significant loss of an account receivable would have a negative
impact on our financial results.
 
Global climate change legislation could negatively impact our financial results or limit our ability to operate our businesses. 
 

Kronos and CompX operate production facilities in several countries.  We believe all of our worldwide production facilities are in substantial
compliance with applicable environmental laws.  In many of the countries in which we operate, legislation has been passed, or proposed legislation is being
considered, to limit greenhouse gases through various means including emissions permits and/or energy taxes.  In several of our production facilities, we
consume large amounts of energy, including electricity and natural gas.  To date the permit system in effect in the various countries in which we operate has
not had a material adverse effect on our financial results.  However, if greenhouse gas legislation were to be enacted in one or more countries, it could
negatively impact our future results from operations through increased costs of production, particularly as it relates to our energy requirements.  If such
increased costs of production were to materialize, we may be unable to pass price increases onto our customers to compensate for increased production costs,
which may decrease our liquidity, operating income and results of operations.
 
ITEM 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2.                      PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located in an office building located at 5430 LBJ Freeway, Dallas, Texas, 75240-2697.  The principal properties
used in the operations of our subsidiaries and affiliates, including certain risks and uncertainties related thereto, are described in the applicable business
sections of Item 1 – “Business.”  We believe that our facilities are generally adequate and suitable for our respective uses.

 
ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 
We are involved in various legal proceedings.  In addition to information that is included below, we have included certain of the information called for by
this Item in Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements, and we are incorporating that information here by reference.



Lead pigment litigation

Our former operations included the manufacture of lead pigments for use in paint and lead-based paint.  We, other former manufacturers of lead
pigments for use in paint and lead-based paint (together, the “former pigment manufacturers”) and the Lead Industries Association (“LIA”), which
discontinued business operations in 2002, have been named as defendants in various legal proceedings seeking damages for personal injury, property
damage and governmental expenditures allegedly caused by the use of lead-based paints.  Certain of these actions have been filed by or on behalf of states,
counties, cities or their public housing authorities and school districts, and certain others have been asserted as class actions.  These lawsuits seek recovery
under a variety of theories, including public and private nuisance, negligent product design, negligent failure to warn, strict liability, breach of warranty,
conspiracy/concert of action, aiding and abetting, enterprise liability, market share or risk contribution liability, intentional tort, fraud and misrepresentation,
violations of state consumer protection statutes, supplier negligence and similar claims.

The plaintiffs in these actions generally seek to impose on the defendants responsibility for lead paint abatement and health concerns associated
with the use of lead-based paints, including damages for personal injury, contribution and/or indemnification for medical expenses, medical monitoring
expenses and costs for educational programs.  To the extent the plaintiffs seek compensatory or punitive damages in these actions, such damages are
unspecified unless otherwise indicated below.  In some cases, the damages are unspecified pursuant to the requirements of applicable state law.   A number of
cases are inactive or have been dismissed or withdrawn.  Most of the remaining cases are in various pre-trial stages.  Some are on appeal following dismissal
or summary judgment rulings in favor of either the defendants or the plaintiffs.  In addition, various other cases are pending (in which we are not a defendant)
seeking recovery for injury allegedly caused by lead pigment and lead-based paint.  Although we are not a defendant in these cases, the outcome of these
cases may have an impact on cases that might be filed against us in the future.

We believe that these actions are without merit, and we intend to continue to deny all allegations of wrongdoing and liability and to defend against all
actions vigorously.  We have never settled any of these cases, nor have any final, non-appealable, adverse judgments against us been entered.

We have not accrued any amounts for any of the pending lead pigment and lead-based paint litigation cases.  Liability that may result, if any, cannot
be reasonably estimated.  In addition, new cases may continue to be filed against us.  We cannot assure you that we will not incur liability in the future in
respect of any of the pending or possible litigation in view of the inherent uncertainties involved in court and jury rulings.  The resolution of any of these
cases could result in recognition of a loss contingency accrual that could have a material adverse impact on our net income for the interim or annual period
during which such liability is recognized, and a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition and liquidity.
 

In September 1999, an amended complaint was filed in Thomas v. Lead Industries Association, et al. (Circuit Court, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Case
No. 99-CV-6411) adding as defendants the former pigment manufacturers to a suit originally filed against plaintiff's landlords.  Plaintiff, a minor, alleged
injuries purportedly caused by lead on the surfaces in homes in which he resided and sought compensatory and punitive damages.  The case was tried in
October 2007, and in November 2007 the jury returned a verdict in favor of all defendants.  In April 2008, plaintiff filed an appeal, and in February 2009, the
appeal was stayed after the appellate court received notice that one of the defendants, Millennium Chemicals, Inc., had filed for bankruptcy.

In April 2000, we were served with a complaint in County of Santa Clara v. Atlantic Richfield Company, et al. (Superior Court of the State of
California, County of Santa Clara, Case No. CV788657) brought against the former pigment manufacturers, the LIA and certain paint manufacturers.  The
County of Santa Clara seeks to recover compensatory damages for funds the plaintiffs have expended or will in the future expend for medical treatment,
educational expenses, abatement or other costs due to exposure to, or potential exposure to, lead paint, disgorgement of profit, and punitive
damages.  Solano, Alameda, San Francisco, Monterey and San Mateo counties, the cities of San Francisco, Oakland, Los Angeles and San Diego, the Oakland
and San Francisco unified school districts and housing authorities and the Oakland Redevelopment Agency have joined the case as plaintiffs.  In January
2007, plaintiffs amended the complaint to drop all of the claims except for the public nuisance claim.  In May 2008, the defendants filed a petition for review
by the California Supreme Court, which was granted in July 2008.

In June 2000, a complaint was filed in Illinois state court, Lewis, et al. v. Lead Industries Association, et al. (Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, County
Department, Chancery Division, Case No. 00CH09800).  Plaintiffs seek to represent two classes, one consisting of minors between the ages of six months and
six years who resided in housing in Illinois built before 1978, and another consisting of individuals between the ages of six and twenty years who lived in
Illinois housing built before 1978 when they were between the ages of six months and six years and who had blood lead levels of 10 micrograms/deciliter or
more.  The complaint seeks damages jointly and severally from the former pigment manufacturers and the LIA to establish a medical screening fund for the
first class to determine blood lead levels, a medical monitoring fund for the second class to detect the onset of latent diseases, and a fund for a public
education campaign.  In April 2008, the trial court judge certified a class of children whose blood lead levels were screened venously between August 1995
and February 2008 and who had incurred expenses associated with such screening.  The case is proceeding in the trial court.

In November 2003, we were served with a complaint in Lauren Brown v. NL Industries, Inc., et al. (Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, County
Department, Law Division, Case No. 03L 012425).  The complaint seeks damages against us and two local property owners on behalf of a minor for injuries
alleged to be due to exposure to lead paint contained in the minor’s residence.  The case is proceeding in the trial court.

In January 2006, we were served with a complaint in Hess, et al. v. NL Industries, Inc., et al. (Missouri Circuit Court 22nd Judicial Circuit, St. Louis City,
Cause No. 052-11799).  Plaintiffs are two minor children who allege injuries purportedly caused by lead on the surfaces of the home in which they
resided.  Plaintiffs seek compensatory and punitive damages.  The case is proceeding in the trial court.

In January and February 2007, we were served with several complaints, the majority of which were filed in Circuit Court in Milwaukee County,
Wisconsin.  In some cases, complaints have been filed elsewhere in Wisconsin.  The plaintiffs are minor children who allege injuries purportedly caused by
lead on the surfaces of the homes in which they reside.  Plaintiffs seek compensatory and punitive damages.  The defendants in these cases include us,
American Cyanamid Company, Armstrong Containers, Inc., E.I. Du Pont de Nemours & Company, Millennium Holdings, LLC, Atlanta Richfield Company,
The Sherwin-Williams Company, Conagra Foods, Inc. and the Wisconsin Department of Health and Family Services.  In some cases, additional lead paint
manufacturers and/or property owners are also defendants.  Of the cases filed, five remain pending and four of the remaining cases have been removed to
Federal court (Burton, Owens, B. Stokes, and Gibson).  Clark, the sole case remaining in the State court, is scheduled for trial in May 2011.

In February 2010, we were served with a complaint in Sifuentes v. American Cyanamid Company, et al. (United District Court, Eastern District of
Wisconsin, Case No. 10-C-0075).  The plaintiff in this case is a minor who alleges injuries purportedly caused by lead on the surface of the home in which he
resided.  The claims raised in this case are identical to those in the Wisconsin cases described above.  Defendants include us, American Cyanamid Company,
Armstrong Containers, Inc., E.I. Du Pont de Nemours & Company, Atlanta Richfield Company and The Sherwin-Williams Company.  We intend to deny
liability and will defend vigorously against all claims.

In addition to the foregoing litigation, various legislation and administrative regulations have, from time to time, been proposed that seek to (a)
impose various obligations on present and former manufacturers of lead pigment and lead-based paint with respect to asserted health concerns associated
with the use of such products and (b) effectively overturn court decisions in which we and other pigment manufacturers have been successful.  Examples of
such proposed legislation include bills which would permit civil liability for damages on the basis of market share, rather than requiring plaintiffs to prove
that the defendant’s product caused the alleged damage, and bills which would revive actions barred by the statute of limitations.  While no legislation or
regulations have been enacted to date that are expected to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or



liquidity, the imposition of market share liability or other legislation could have such an effect.

Environmental matters and litigation

Our operations are governed by various environmental laws and regulations.  Certain of our businesses are and have been engaged in the handling,
manufacture or use of substances or compounds that may be considered toxic or hazardous within the meaning of applicable environmental laws and
regulations.  As with other companies engaged in similar businesses, certain of our past and current operations and products have the potential to cause
environmental or other damage.  We have implemented and continue to implement various policies and programs in an effort to minimize these risks.  Our
policy is to maintain compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations at all of our plants and to strive to improve environmental
performance.  From time to time, we may be subject to environmental regulatory enforcement under U.S. and non-U.S. statutes, the resolution of which
typically involves the establishment of compliance programs.  It is possible that future developments, such as stricter requirements of environmental laws and
enforcement policies, could adversely affect our production, handling, use, storage, transportation, sale or disposal of such substances.  We believe that all of
our facilities are in substantial compliance with applicable environmental laws.

Certain properties and facilities used in our former operations, including divested primary and secondary lead smelters and former mining locations,
are the subject of civil litigation, administrative proceedings or investigations arising under federal and state environmental laws.  Additionally, in
connection with past operating practices, we are currently involved as a defendant, potentially responsible party (“PRP”) or both, pursuant to CERCLA, and
similar state laws in various governmental and private actions associated with waste disposal sites, mining locations, and facilities we or our predecessors
currently or previously owned, operated or were used by us or our subsidiaries, or their predecessors, certain of which are on the United States Environmental
Protection Agency’s (“EPA”) Superfund National Priorities List or similar state lists.  These proceedings seek cleanup costs, damages for personal injury,
property damage and/or damages for injury to natural resources.  Certain of these proceedings involve claims for substantial amounts.  Although we may be
jointly and severally liable for these costs, in most cases we are only one of a number of PRPs who may also be jointly and severally liable, and among whom
costs may be shared or allocated.  In addition, we are also a party to a number of personal injury lawsuits filed in various jurisdictions alleging claims related
to environmental conditions alleged to have resulted from our operations.
 

Environmental obligations are difficult to assess and estimate for numerous reasons including the:
·  complexity and differing interpretations of governmental regulations;
·  number of PRPs and their ability or willingness to fund such allocation of costs;
·  financial capabilities of the PRPs and the allocation of costs among them;
·  solvency of other PRPs;
·  multiplicity of possible solutions;
·  number of years of investigatory, remedial and monitoring activity required; and
·  number of years between former operations and notice of claims and lack of information and documents about the former operations.

In addition, the imposition of more stringent standards or requirements under environmental laws or regulations, new developments or changes
regarding site cleanup costs or allocation of costs among PRPs, solvency of other PRPs, the results of future testing and analysis undertaken with respect to
certain sites or a determination that we are potentially responsible for the release of hazardous substances at other sites, could cause our expenditures to
exceed our current estimates.  Because we may be jointly and severally liable for the total remediation cost at certain sites, the amount for which we are
ultimately liable may exceed our accruals due to, among other things, the reallocation of costs among PRPs or the insolvency of one or more PRPs.  We
cannot assure you that actual costs will not exceed accrued amounts or the upper end of the range for sites for which estimates have been made, and we
cannot assure you that costs will not be incurred for sites where no estimates presently can be made.  Further, additional environmental matters may arise in
the future.  If we were to incur any future liability, this could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements, results of operations and
liquidity.

We record liabilities related to environmental remediation obligations when estimated future expenditures are probable and reasonably
estimable.  We adjust our environmental accruals as further information becomes available to us or as circumstances change.  We generally do not discount
estimated future expenditures to their present value due to the uncertainty of the timing of the pay out.  We recognize recoveries of remediation costs from
other parties, if any, as assets when their receipt is deemed probable.  At December 31, 2009, we have not recognized any receivables for recoveries.

We do not know and cannot estimate the exact time frame over which we will make payments for our accrued environmental costs.  The timing of
payments depends upon a number of factors including the timing of the actual remediation process; which in turn depends on factors outside of our
control.  At each balance sheet date, we estimate the amount of our accrued environmental costs which we expect to pay within the next twelve months, and
we classify this estimate as a current liability.  We classify the remaining accrued environmental costs as a noncurrent liability.

On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the potential range of our liability at sites where we have been named as a PRP or defendant, including sites for
which our wholly-owned environmental management subsidiary, NL Environmental Management Services, Inc. (“EMS”) has contractually assumed our
obligations.  See Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.  At December 31, 2009, we had accrued approximately $46 million, related to
approximately 50 sites, which are environmental matters that we believe are at the present time and/or in their current phase reasonably estimable.  The upper
end of the range of reasonably possible costs to us for sites for which we believe it is possible to estimate costs is approximately $81 million, including the
amount currently accrued.  We have not discounted these estimates to present value.

We believe that it is not possible to estimate the range of costs for certain sites.  At December 31, 2009, there were approximately 5  sites for which
we are not currently able to estimate a range of costs.  For these sites, generally the investigation is in the early stages, and we are unable to determine whether
or not we actually had any association with the site, the nature of our responsibility, if any, for the contamination at the site and the extent of contamination
at and cost to remediate the site.  The timing and availability of information on these sites is dependent on events outside of our control, such as when the
party alleging liability provides information to us.  At certain of these previously inactive sites, we have received general and special notices of liability from
the EPA and/or state agencies alleging that we, sometimes with other PRPs, are liable for past and future costs of remediating environmental contamination
allegedly caused by former operations.  These notifications may assert that we, along with any other alleged PRPs, are liable for past and/or future clean-up
costs that could be material to us if we are ultimately found liable.

In December 2003, we were served with a complaint in The Quapaw Tribe of Oklahoma et al. v. ASARCO Incorporated et al. (United States District
Court, Northern District of Oklahoma, Case No. 03-CII-846H(J)).  The complaint alleges public nuisance, private nuisance, trespass, strict liability, deceit by
false representation and was subsequently amended to assert claims under CERCLA against us, six other mining companies and the United States of America
with respect to former operations in the Tar Creek mining district in Oklahoma.  Among other things, the complaint seeks actual and punitive damages from
defendants.  We have moved to dismiss the complaint, asserted certain counterclaims and have denied all of plaintiffs’ allegations.  In February 2006, the
court of appeals affirmed the trial court’s ruling that plaintiffs waived their sovereign immunity to defendants’ counter claim for contribution and
indemnity.  In December 2007, the court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss the Tribe’s medical monitoring claims and in July 2008, the court granted
the defendants’ motion to dismiss the Tribe’s CERCLA natural resources damages claim.  In January 2009, the defendants filed a motion for partial summary
judgment, seeking dismissal of certain plaintiffs’ claims for lack of standing.  In September 2009, the court granted in part and denied in part the defendants’
joint motion to dismiss, thereby limiting the relief recoverable by the Tribe, but allowing the plaintiffs to proceed with their claims.  Trial is set to begin in
November 2010.



In February 2004, we were served in Evans v. ASARCO (United States District Court, Northern District of Oklahoma, Case No. 04-CV-94EA(M)), an
action on behalf of over two hundred individual plaintiffs, including owners of residential, commercial and government property in the town of Quapaw,
Oklahoma,  the mayor of the town of Quapaw, Oklahoma, and the School Board of Quapaw, Oklahoma.  Plaintiffs allege causes of action in nuisance and seek
a relocation program, property damages, including diminished property value damages, and punitive damages.  We answered the complaint and denied all of
plaintiffs’ allegations.  In August 2009, defendants filed a joint motion to dismiss the case, which was partially granted in February 2010.

I n January 2006, we were served in Brown et al. v. NL Industries, Inc. et al. (Circuit Court Wayne County, Michigan, Case No. 06-602096
CZ).  Plaintiffs, property owners and other past or present residents of the Krainz Woods Neighborhood of Wayne County, Michigan, allege causes of action
in negligence, nuisance, trespass and under the Michigan Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act with respect to a lead smelting facility
formerly operated by us and another defendant.  Plaintiffs seek property damages, personal injury damages, loss of income and medical expense and medical
monitoring costs.  In October 2007, we moved to dismiss several plaintiffs who failed to respond to discovery requests, and in February 2008, the motion was
granted with respect to all such plaintiffs.  In February 2008, the trial court entered a case management order pursuant to which the case will proceed as to
eight of the plaintiffs’ claims, and the claims of the remaining plaintiffs have been stayed in the meantime.  In April 2008, the other defendant in the case
agreed to a settlement with the plaintiffs, and we are the only remaining defendant.  The claims of eight of the plaintiffs were tried in January and February
2010, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of five of the plaintiffs.  The jury awarded $119,125 in economic and non-economic property damages and
$220,000 in reimbursement of environmental assessment costs.  At the conclusion of the trial, the judge instructed the plaintiffs’ counsel to select another
eight plaintiffs whose claims will be tried in January 2011.  We do not believe that the facts and evidence support the verdict and damages awarded.  We
continue to believe that the claims of the plaintiffs are without merit and are subject to certain defenses and counterclaims.  We intend to appeal any adverse
judgment the court may enter against us and to continue to vigorously defend the matter.

In June 2006, we and several other PRPs received a Unilateral Administrative Order (“UAO”) from the EPA regarding a formerly-owned mine and
milling facility located in Park Hills, Missouri.  The Doe Run Company is the current owner of the site, which was purchased by a predecessor of Doe Run
from us in approximately 1936.  Doe Run is also named in the Order.  In April 2008, the parties signed a definitive cost sharing agreement for sharing of the
costs anticipated in connection with the order.  In May 2008, the parties began work at the site as required by the UAO and in accordance with the cost
sharing agreement.

In October 2006, we entered into a consent decree in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas, in which we agreed to perform
remedial design and remedial actions in Operating Unit 6 of the Waco Subsite of the Cherokee County Superfund Site.  We conducted milling activities on
the portion of the site which we have agreed to remediate.  We are sharing responsibility with other PRPs as well as the EPA for remediating a tributary that
drains the portions of the site in which the PRPs operated.  We have also reimbursed the EPA for a portion of its past and future response costs related to the
site. In the last two quarters of 2009, we were approached by state and federal natural resource trustees and have participated in preliminary discussions with
respect to potential natural resource damage claims.

In November 2007, we were served with a complaint in United States of America v. Halliburton Energy Services, Inc., et al. (U.S. District Court,
Southern District of Texas, Civil Action No. 07-cv-03795).  The complaint seeks to recover past costs the EPA incurred to conduct removal actions at three
sites in Texas where Gulf Nuclear, Inc. disposed of radioactive waste.  The complaint alleges that a former NL division sent waste to Gulf Nuclear for
disposal.  This matter was tendered to Halliburton Energy Services, Inc. (“Halliburton”) pursuant to defense and indemnification obligations assumed as a
result of Halliburton’s past acquisition of our former petroleum services business.  Halliburton denied any obligation to provide defense or indemnification,
and a separate action was filed by an affiliate against Halliburton to enforce these obligations.  We have denied all liability and is defending vigorously
against all claims brought by the U.S.  The case is proceeding in the trial court.

 
In June 2008, we were served in Barton, et al. v. NL Industries, Inc., (U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Michigan, Case No.: 2:08-CV-12558).  In

January 2009, we were served in Brown, et al. v. NL Industries, Inc. et al. (Circuit Court Wayne County, Michigan, Case No. 09-002458 CE).  The plaintiffs in
both of these cases are additional property owners and other past or present residents of the Krainz Woods Neighborhood, and the claims raised in these cases
are identical to those in the Brown case described above.  We intend to deny liability in both subsequent cases and will defend vigorously against all
claims.  In November 2009, we filed a motion for summary judgment in the Barton case seeking dismissal of the case on statute of limitations grounds against
48 plaintiffs, which remains pending.  The case is proceeding in the trial court.
 

In June 2008, we received a Directive and Notice to Insurers from the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (“NJDEP”) regarding the
Margaret’s Creek site in Old Bridge Township, New Jersey.  NJDEP alleged that a waste hauler transported waste from one of our former facilities for disposal
at the site in the early 1970s.  NJDEP has since referred the site to the EPA, and in November 2009, the EPA added the site to the National Priorities List under
the name “Raritan Bay Slag Site.”  We are monitoring closely regarding the scope of the remedial activities that may be necessary at the site and the
identification of parties who may have liability for the site.

In September 2008, we received a Special Notice letter from the EPA for liability associated with the Tar Creek site and a demand for related past and
relocation costs.  We responded with a good-faith offer to pay certain of the past costs and to complete limited work in the areas in which we operated, but
declined to pay for other past costs or any relocation costs.  We are involved in an ongoing dialogue with the EPA regarding a potential settlement with the
EPA.  In October 2008, we received a claim from the State of Oklahoma for past, future and relocation costs in connection to the site.  The state continues to
monitor for a potential settlement between the EPA and us and may subsequently attempt to pursue a separate settlement with us.

In June 2009, we were served with a complaint in Consolidation Coal Company v. 3M Company, et al. (United States District Court, Eastern District
of North Carolina, Civil Action No. 5:09-CV-00191-FL).  The complaint seeks to recover against NL and roughly 170 other defendants under CERCLA for
past and future response costs.  The plaintiffs allege that NL’s former Albany operation sent three PCB-containing transformers to the Ward Transformer
Superfund Site.  We intend to deny liability and will defend vigorously against all claims.  In October 2009, NL and other defendants filed a motion to
dismiss the case.

In June 2009, NL was served with a third-party complaint in New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection v. Occidental Chemical Corp., et
al. (L-009868-05, Superior Court of New Jersey, Essex County).  NL is one of approximately 300 third-party defendants (with a potential expansion of the
case to over 3,200 unnamed parties) that have been sued by third-party plaintiffs Maxus Energy Corporation and Tierra Solutions, Inc., in response to claims
by the State of New Jersey against them seeking to recover past and future environmental cleanup costs of the State and to obtain funds to perform a natural
resource damage assessment in connection with contamination in the Passaic River and adjacent waters and sediments (the “Newark Bay Complex”).  NL was
named in the third-party complaint based upon its ownership of two former operating sites and purported connection to a former Superfund site (at which NL
was a small PRP) alleged to have contributed to the contamination in the Newark Bay Complex. Discovery is stayed for all third-party defendants pending
approval of a settlement plan.  We intend to deny liability and will defend vigorously against all of the claims.

In July 2009, we were served in Beets v. Blue Tee Corp. et al.  (Oklahoma State Court, District of Ottawa County, Case No. CJ-09-298).  The
complaint alleges negligence, strict liability, nuisance, and attractive nuisance against NL, four other mining companies and a mobile home park.  In the
complaint, five minor plaintiffs seek damages for personal injuries as well as punitive damages.  We intend to deny liability and will defend vigorously
against all claims.  In August 2009, third-party defendant, the United States of America, removed the case to the Northern District of Oklahoma, where it was
docketed as case No. 4:09-cv-546 and in September 2009, plaintiffs moved to return the case to the Oklahoma State Court, District of Ottawa County. In
February 2010, the trial court granted plaintiffs' motion to voluntarily dismiss with prejudice the claims of three of the five minor plaintiffs.



In August 2009, we were served with a complaint in Raritan Baykeeper, Inc. d/b/a NY/NJ Baykeeper et al. v. NL Industries, Inc. et al. (United States
District Court, District of New Jersey, Case No. 3:09-cv-04117).  This is a citizen's suit filed by two local environmental groups pursuant to the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act and the Clean Water Act against NL, current owners, developers and state and local government entities.  The complaint
alleges that hazardous substances were and continue to be discharged from our former Sayreville, New Jersey property into the sediments of the adjacent
Raritan River.  The former Sayreville site is currently being remediated by owner/developer parties under the oversight of the NJDEP.  The plaintiffs seek a
declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, imposition of civil penalties, and an award of costs.  We intend to defend vigorously against all of the claims.  In
December 2009, NL and other defendants filed a motion to dismiss the case.

In January 2010, we along with many other PRPs received a Special Notice letter from the EPA for alleged liability associated with the Malone
Superfund Site, Texas City, Texas and an invitation to negotiate an agreement to perform the final remedy at the site.  We indicated to EPA our willingness to
negotiate resolution of our allocated share of liability at this former waste disposal site, which will likely also involve discussions with the organized PRP
Group for the site.  Our potential liability is believed to arise from historic waste disposal transactions of our former petroleum service business. This matter
has been tendered to Halliburton pursuant to defense and indemnification obligations assumed as a result of Halliburton’s past acquisition of our former
petroleum services business.  Halliburton denied any obligation to provide defense or indemnification, and this matter has been included in the separate suit
to enforce Halliburton’s obligations.

In January 2010, we were served with an amended complaint in Los Angeles Unified School District v. Pozas Brothers Trucking Co., et al. (Los
Angeles Superior Court, Central Civil West, LASC Case No. BC 391342).  The complaint was filed against several defendants in connection to the alleged
contamination of a 35 acre site in South Gate, California acquired by the plaintiff by eminent domain to construct a middle school and high school.  The
plaintiff alleges that NL’s predecessor, The 1230 Corporation (f/k/a Pioneer Aluminum, Inc.) operated on a portion of property within the 35 acre site and is
responsible for contamination caused by its operations.  The plaintiff has brought claims for contribution, indemnity, and nuisance and is seeking past and
future clean-up and other response costs.

Other litigation

In addition to the matters described above, we and our affiliates are also involved in various other environmental, contractual, product liability,
patent (or intellectual property), employment and other claims and disputes incidental to present and former businesses.  In certain cases, we have insurance
coverage for these items, although we do not expect additional material insurance coverage for environmental claims.

We currently believe that the disposition of all claims and disputes, individually or in the aggregate, should not have a material adverse effect on
our consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity beyond the accruals already provided.

Insurance coverage claims

We are involved in certain legal proceedings with a number of our former insurance carriers regarding the nature and extent of the carriers’
obligations to us under insurance policies with respect to certain lead pigment and asbestos lawsuits.  In addition to information that is included below, we
have included certain of the information called for by this Item in Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements, and we are incorporating that
information here by reference.

The issue of whether insurance coverage for defense costs or indemnity or both will be found to exist for our lead pigment and asbestos litigation
depends upon a variety of factors and we cannot assure you that such insurance coverage will be available.  We have not considered any potential insurance
recoveries for lead pigment or asbestos litigation matters in determining related accruals.

We have agreements with two former insurance carriers pursuant to which the carriers reimburse us for a portion of our lead pigment litigation defense costs,
and one carrier reimburses us for a portion of our asbestos litigation defense costs.  We are not able to determine how much we will ultimately recover from
these carriers for defense costs incurred by us because of certain issues that arise regarding which defense costs qualify for reimbursement.  While we continue
to seek additional insurance recoveries, we do not know if we will be successful in obtaining reimbursement for either defense costs or indemnity.  We have
no t considered any additional potential insurance recoveries in determining accruals for lead pigment or asbestos litigation matters.  Any additional
insurance recoveries would be recognized when the receipt is probable and the amount is determinable.

We have settled insurance coverage claims concerning environmental claims with certain of our principal former carriers.  We do not expect further
material settlements relating to environmental remediation coverage.
 

ITEM 4.                  RESERVED

PART II

ITEM 5.                  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol: NL).  As of February 24, 2010, there were approximately 3,342
holders of record of our common stock.  The following table sets forth the high and low closing per share sales prices for our common stock for the periods
indicated, according to Bloomberg, and cash dividends paid during such periods.  On February 26, 2010 the closing price of our common stock was $7.22.

  High   Low   

Cash
dividends

 paid  
          
Year ended December 31, 2008          
          

First Quarter  $ 11.63  $ 8.65  $ .125 
Second Quarter   11.89   9.53   .125 
Third Quarter   10.93   9.37   .125 
Fourth Quarter   13.96   8.09   .125 

             
Year ended December 31, 2009             
             

First Quarter  $ 14.35  $ 7.14  $ .125 
Second Quarter   12.85   6.74   .125 
Third Quarter   7.65   6.46   .125 



Fourth Quarter   7.27   6.12   .125 
             
January 1, 2010 through February 26, 2010  $ 7.49  $ 6.59  $ .125*
__________________________

*  In February 2010, our Board of Directors declared a first quarter 2010 cash dividend of $.125 per share to shareholders of record as of March 10, 2010 to
be paid on March 25, 2010.  However, the declaration and payment of future dividends, and the amount thereof, is discretionary and is dependent upon
our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements for businesses, contractual restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of
Directors.  The amount and timing of past dividends is not necessarily indicative of the amount or timing of any future dividends which might be
paid.  There are currently no contractual restrictions on the amount of dividends which we may pay.

Performance Graph -  Set forth below is a line graph comparing the yearly change in our cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock against
the cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Composite Stock Price Index and the S&P 500 Industrial Conglomerates Index for the period from December 31,
2004 through December 31, 2009.  The graph shows the value at December 31 of each year assuming an original investment of $100 at December 31, 2004
and the reinvestment of dividends.

  2004   2005   2006   2007   2008   2009  
NL common stock  $ 100  $ 67  $ 52  $ 60  $ 74  $ 41 
S&P 500 Composite Stock Price Index   100   105   121   128   81   102 
S&P 500 Industrial Conglomerates Index   100   96   104   109   53   58 
                         
                         
                         

The information contained in the performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or “filed” with the SEC, or subject to the liabilities of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act, except to the extent we specifically request that the material be treated as soliciting material or specifically
incorporate this performance graph by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange Act.

Equity compensation plan information

We have an equity compensation plan, which was approved by our shareholders, providing for the discretionary grant to our employees and
directors of, among other things, options to purchase our common stock and stock awards.  As of December 31, 2009, there were 80,800 options outstanding
to purchase shares of our common stock, and approximately 4,082,000 shares were available for future grant or issuance.  We do not have any equity
compensation plans that were not approved by our shareholders.  See Note 13 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Item 7 - "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

  Years ended December 31,  
  2005   2006   2007   2008   2009  
  (In millions, except per share data)  
                
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA:                
                

Net sales  $ 186.4  $ 190.1  $ 177.7  $ 165.5  $ 116.1 
                     

Income (loss) from component products operations  $ 19.3  $ 20.5  $ 15.4  $ 5.3  $ (4.0)
                     

Equity in earnings(losses) of Kronos  $ 25.7  $ 29.3  $ (23.9)  $ 3.2  $ (12.5)
                     

Net income (loss)  $ 33.7  $ 29.6  $ .9  $ 32.8  $ (12.0)
                     

Net income (loss) attributable to NL stockholders  $ 33.0  $ 26.1  $ (1.7)  $ 33.2  $ (11.8)
                     
                     
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE DATA:                     
                     
  Net income (loss) attributable    to NL stockholders  $ .68  $ .54  $ (.04)  $ .68  $ (.24)
                     

Dividends per share (1)  $ 1.00  $ .50  $ .50  $ .50  $ .50 



                     
Weighted average common shares outstanding   48,587   48,584   48,590   48,605   48,609 

                     
BALANCE SHEET DATA (at year end):                     

Total assets  $ 485.6  $ 529.3  $ 524.8  $ 419.5  $ 403.0 
Long-term debt, including current maturities (2)   1.4   -   50.0   43.0   42.2 

NL stockholders' equity   220.3   248.5   246.5   188.4   174.6 
Total equity   265.9   293.9   260.8   200.2   185.7 

                     
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW DATA:                     

Net cash provided by (used in):                     
Operating activities  $ (5.3)  $ 29.0  $ (2.8)  $ .8  $ 1.4 
Investing activities   18.5   (25.2)   17.5   7.1   32.4 
Financing activities   (35.8)   (27.7)   (27.3)   (32.2)   (25.9)

(1)  Amounts paid in the first quarter of 2005 were in the form of shares of Kronos common stock.  Amounts paid in all subsequent quarters have been cash.
(2)  Long-term debt in 2007, 2008 and 2009 represents a promissory note payable to an affiliate.  See Note 17 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 7.                  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Business Overview

We are primarily a holding company.  We operate in the component products industry through our majority-owned subsidiary, CompX International Inc.  We
also own a non-controlling interest in Kronos Worldwide, Inc.  Both CompX (NYSE: CIX) and Kronos (NYSE: KRO) file periodic reports with the SEC.

CompX is a leading manufacturer of engineered components utilized in a variety of applications and industries.  Through its Security Products
division CompX manufactures mechanical and electrical cabinet locks and other locking mechanisms used in postal, office and institutional furniture,
transportation, vending, tool storage and other general cabinetry applications.  CompX’s Furniture Components division manufactures precision ball bearing
slides and ergonomic computer support systems used in office and institutional furniture, home appliances, tool storage and a variety of other
applications.  CompX also manufactures stainless steel exhaust systems, gauges and throttle controls for the performance boat industry through its Marine
Components division.

We account for our 36% non-controlling interest in Kronos by the equity method.  Kronos is a leading global producer and marketer of value-added titanium
dioxide pigments.  TiO2 is used for a variety of manufacturing applications including plastics, paints, paper and other industrial products.

Net Income Overview

We had a net loss attributable to NL stockholders of $11.8 million, or $.24 per share, in 2009 compared to net income of $33.2 million, or $.68 per
diluted share, in 2008 and a net loss of $1.7 million, or $.04 per share, in 2007.

As more fully discussed below, the decrease in our earnings per share from 2008 to 2009 is primarily due to the net effects of:
·  equity in net losses of Kronos in 2009 as opposed to earnings in 2008,
·  lower litigation settlement gains of $37.5 million in 2009,
·  lower component products income from operations in 2009, including consideration of the impact of the $10.1 million goodwill impairment

charge related to the marine components business line recognized in 2008,
·  higher defined benefit pension expense in 2009,
·  lower litigation and related expenses in 2009,
·  lower environmental remediation expense in 2009 and
·  lower insurance recoveries in 2009.

The increase in our earnings per share from 2007 to 2008 is primarily due to the net effects of:
·  a litigation settlement pre-tax gain of $48.8 million in 2008,
·  a goodwill impairment charge of $10.1 million in 2008,
·  higher equity in earnings from Kronos in 2008,
·  lower litigation and related expenses in 2008,
·  higher environmental remediation expense in 2008 and
·  higher insurance recoveries in 2008.

Our 2009 net loss attributable to NL stockholders includes:
·  a litigation settlement gain of $.15 per share related to the settlement of condemnation proceedings on real property we owned,
·  income of $.06 per share related to certain insurance recoveries and
·  a write-down of assets held for sale of $.01 per share.

Our 2008 net income attributable to NL stockholders includes:
·  a litigation settlement gain of $.65 per diluted share related to the settlement of condemnation proceedings on real property we owned,
·  a goodwill impairment charge of $.21 per diluted share related to the marine business line of our component products operations,
·  interest income of $.06 per diluted share related to certain escrow funds,
·  income included in our equity in earnings of Kronos of $.03 per diluted share related to an adjustment of certain income tax attributes of Kronos

in Germany and
·  income of $.13 per diluted share related to certain insurance recoveries.

Our 2007 net loss attributable to NL stockholders includes:
·  a charge included in our equity in earnings of Kronos of $.43 per diluted share related to a reduction in Kronos’ net deferred income tax asset

resulting from a change in German income tax rates,
·  a charge included in our equity in earnings of Kronos of $.04 per diluted share related to an adjustment of certain income tax attributes of

Kronos in Germany,



·  income of $.30 per diluted share from a gain on sale of TIMET common stock,
·  income of $.08 per diluted share related to certain insurance recoveries we received and
·  income of $.03 per diluted share due to a net reduction in our reserve for uncertain tax positions.

 
Outlook for 2010

We currently expect our net income in 2010 to be higher than in 2009 due to the net effects of:
·  higher component products income from operations in 2010,
·  higher equity in earnings from Kronos in 2010 and
·  higher litigation settlement gains in 2010.

Each of these expectations is more fully discussed below.

Critical accounting policies and estimates

The accompanying "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" is based upon our Consolidated
Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP").  The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reported period.  On
an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to the recoverability of long-lived assets, pension and other postretirement benefit
obligations and the underlying actuarial assumptions related thereto, the realization of deferred income tax assets and accruals for litigation, income tax and
other contingencies.  We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.  Actual results may differ
significantly from previously-estimated amounts under different assumptions or conditions.
 

The following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our Consolidated Financial
Statements:
 

·  Investments - We own investments in certain companies that we account for as marketable securities carried at fair value or that we account for under
the equity method.  For these investments, we evaluate the fair value at each balance sheet date.  We use quoted market prices, Level 1 inputs as
defined in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 820-10-35, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, to determine fair value for certain of
our marketable debt securities and publicly traded investees.  We record an impairment charge when we believe an investment has experienced an
other than temporary decline in fair value below its cost basis (for marketable securities) or below its carrying value (for equity method investees).
Further adverse changes in market conditions or poor operating results of underlying investments could result in losses or our inability to recover
the carrying value of the investments that may not be reflected in an investment’s current carrying value, thereby possibly requiring us to recognize
an impairment charge in the future.

At December 31, 2009, the carrying value (which equals fair value) of substantially all of our marketable securities equaled or exceeded the cost
basis of each of such investments.  At December 31, 2009, the $16.25 per share quoted market price of our investment in Kronos (our only equity
method investee) exceeded its per share net carrying value by 154%.

·  Long-lived assets.  We account for our long-lived assets in accordance with applicable GAAP.  We assess property and equipment for impairment
only when circumstances (as specified in ASC 360-10-35, Property, Plant, and Equipment) indicate an impairment may exist.

Due to the continued decline in the marine industry and lower than expected results of CompX’s Custom Marine and Livorsi Marine operations
comprising its Marine Components reporting unit, we evaluated the long-lived assets for the Marine Components reporting unit in the third quarter
of 2009 and concluded that no impairments were present.  However, if our future cash flows from operations less capital expenditures were to drop
significantly below our current expectations (approximately 45% for Custom Marine and 75% for Livorsi Marine), it is reasonably likely that we
would conclude an impairment was present.  At December 31, 2009 the asset carrying values of Custom Marine and Livorsi Marine were $6.3
million and $4.6 million, respectively.

No other long-lived assets in our other reporting units were tested for impairment during 2009 because there were no circumstances to indicate
impairment may exist at these units.

·  Goodwill - We perform a goodwill impairment test annually in the third quarter of each year.  Goodwill is also evaluated for impairment at other
times whenever an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying
value.  The estimated fair values of CompX’s three reporting units are determined using Level 3 inputs of a discounted cash flow technique since
Level 1 inputs of market prices are not available at the reporting unit level.  We also consider control premiums when assessing fair value of our
businesses.  If the fair value is less than the book value, the asset is written down to the estimated fair value.

Considerable management judgment is necessary to evaluate the impact of operating changes and to estimate future cash flows.  Assumptions used
in our impairment evaluations, such as forecasted growth rates and our cost of capital, are consistent with our internal projections and operating
plans.  However, different assumptions and estimates could result in materially different findings which could result in the recognition of a material
goodwill impairment.

During 2009, we evaluated CompX’s Furniture Components reporting unit for goodwill impairment at each of the first, second and third quarter
interim dates.  We tested this reporting unit for impairment because, while continuing to generate positive operating cash flows, it was reporting
sales and income from operations significantly below our expectations as a result of the severe contraction in demand in the office furniture and
appliance markets.  At each of these impairment review dates in 2009, we concluded no impairments were present.  However, if our future cash flows
from operations less capital expenditures for this reporting unit were to be significantly below our current expectations (approximately 20% below
our current expectations), it is reasonably likely that we would conclude an impairment of the goodwill associated with this reporting unit would be
present under ASC Topic 350-20-20 Goodwill.  Per our annual impairment review during the third quarter, the estimated fair value of CompX’s
Furniture Components reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by 30%.  The carrying value included approximately $7.2 million of
goodwill.  Holding all other assumptions constant at the reevaluation date, an increase in the rate used to discount our expected cash flows of
approximately 200 basis points would reduce the enterprise value for CompX’s Furniture Components unit sufficiently to indicate a potential
impairment.

During the third quarter of 2008, we determined that all of the goodwill associated with CompX’s Marine Components reporting unit was
impaired.  As a result, we recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $10.1 million for the Marine Components reporting unit, which represented
all of the goodwill we had previously recognized for this reporting unit.  The factors that led us to conclude goodwill associated with the Marine
Components reporting unit was fully impaired include the continued decline in consumer spending in the marine market as well as the overall



negative economic outlook, both of which resulted in near-term and longer-term reduced revenue, profit and cash flow forecasts for the Marine
Components unit.  While we continue to believe in the long term potential of the Marine Components unit, due to the extraordinary economic
downturn in the boating industry we are not currently able to foresee when the industry and our business will recover.  In response to the present
economic conditions, CompX has taken steps to reduce operating costs without inhibiting its ability to take advantage of opportunities to expand
market share.

We performed our annual goodwill impairment analysis in the third quarter of 2009 for CompX’s Security Products reporting unit and concluded
that there was no impairment of the goodwill for this reporting unit.  The estimated fair value of the Security Products reporting unit was
substantially in excess of their respective carrying value.

·  Benefit plans - We maintain various defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefits other than pensions (“OPEB”).  We record annual
amounts related to these plans based upon calculations required by GAAP, which make use of various actuarial assumptions, such as: discount rates,
expected rates of returns on plan assets, compensation increases, employee turnover rates, mortality rates and expected health care trend rates.  We
review our actuarial assumptions annually and make modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when we believe
appropriate.  As required by GAAP, modifications to the assumptions are generally recorded and amortized over future periods.  Different
assumptions could result in the recognition of materially different expense amounts over different periods of times and materially different asset and
liability amounts in our Consolidated Financial Statements.  These assumptions are more fully described below under “Assumptions on defined
benefit pension plans and OPEB plans.”

·  Income taxes - We recognize deferred taxes for future tax effects of temporary differences between financial and income tax reporting in accordance
with applicable GAAP for accounting for income taxes.  While we have considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax
planning strategies in assessing the need for a deferred income tax asset valuation allowance, it is possible that in the future we may change our
estimate of the amount of the deferred income tax assets that would more-likely-than-not be realized in the future.  If such changes take place, there
is a risk that an adjustment to our deferred income tax asset valuation allowance may be required that would either increase or decrease, as
applicable, our reported net income in the period such change in estimate was made.

 
We also evaluate at the end of each reporting period whether some or all of the undistributed earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries are permanently
reinvested (as that term is defined in GAAP).  While we may have concluded in the past that some undistributed earnings are permanently reinvested,
facts and circumstances can change in the future, such as a change in the expectation regarding the capital needs of our non-U.S. subsidiaries, could
result in a conclusion that some or all of the undistributed earnings are no longer permanently reinvested.  If our prior conclusions change, we would
recognize a deferred income tax liability in an amount equal to the estimated incremental U.S. income tax and withholding tax liability that would
be generated if all of such previously-considered permanently reinvested undistributed earnings were distributed to us.  We did not change our
conclusions on our undistributed foreign earnings in 2009.

Beginning in 2007, we record a reserve for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the then new provisions of ASC Topic 740 , Income Taxes, for
tax positions where we believe it is more-likely-than-not our position will not prevail with the applicable tax authorities.  From time to time, tax
authorities will examine certain of our income tax returns.  Tax authorities may interpret tax regulations differently than we do.  Judgments and
estimates made at a point in time may change based on the outcome of tax audits and changes to or further interpretations of regulations, thereby
resulting in an increase or decrease in the amount we are required to accrue for uncertain tax positions (and therefore a decrease or increase in our
reported net income in the period of such change). Our reserve for uncertain tax positions changed during 2009.  See Note 21 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

·  Accruals - We record accruals for environmental, legal and other contingencies and commitments when estimated future expenditures associated
with such contingencies become probable, and the amounts can be reasonably estimated.  However, new information may become available, or
circumstances (such as applicable laws and regulations) may change, thereby resulting in an increase or decrease in the amount required to be
accrued for such matters (and therefore a decrease or increase in reported net income in the period of such change).

·  Inventory reserves - CompX provides reserves for estimated obsolete or unmarketable inventories equal to the difference between the cost of
inventories and the estimated net realizable value using assumptions about future demand for its products and market conditions.  CompX also
considers the age and the quantity of inventory on hand in estimating the reserve.  If actual market conditions are less favorable than those we
projected, we may be required to recognize additional inventory reserves.

·  Assets Held for Sale - Our assets held for sale at December 31, 2009, consist of a facility in River Grove, Illinois and a facility in Neenah,
Wisconsin.  These two properties (primarily land, buildings and building improvements) were formerly used in CompX’s operations.  Discussions
with potential buyers of both properties had been active through the first quarter of 2009.  Subsequently during the second quarter of 2009, and as
weak economic conditions continued longer than expected, we concluded that it was unlikely we would sell these properties at or above their
previous carrying values in the near term and therefore an adjustment to their carrying values was appropriate.  In determining the estimated fair
values of the properties, we considered recent sales prices for other properties near the facilities, which prices are Level 2 inputs as defined by ASC
820-10-35.  Accordingly, during the second quarter of 2009, we recorded a write-down of approximately $717,000 to reduce the carrying value of
these assets to their aggregate estimated fair value less cost to sell of $2.8 million.  This charge is included in loss from operations.  Both properties
are being actively marketed.  However, due to the current state of the commercial real estate market, we can not be certain of the timing of the
disposition of the assets.  If we continue to experience difficulty in disposing of the assets at or above their carrying value, we may have to record
additional write-downs of the assets in the future.

Income from operations of CompX and Kronos is impacted by certain of these significant judgments and estimates, as summarized below:

·  Chemicals – allowance for doubtful accounts, reserves for obsolete or unmarketable inventories, impairment of equity method investments, long-
lived assets, defined benefit pension and OPEB plans and loss accruals and

·  Component products – reserves for obsolete or unmarketable inventories, impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets and loss accruals.

 
In addition, general corporate and other items are impacted by the significant judgments and estimates for impairment of marketable securities and

equity method investments, defined benefit pension and OPEB plans, deferred income tax asset valuation allowances and loss accruals.
 
Income from operations

The following table shows the components of our income from operations.

  Year ended December 31,   % Change  
  2007   2008   2009    2007-08   2008-09 
  (Dollars in millions)          
                  



CompX  $ 15.4  $ 5.3  $ (4.0)   (66)%   (175)%
Insurance recoveries   5.6   9.6   4.6   70%   (52)%
Litigation settlement gain   -   48.8   11.3   100%   (77)%
Corporate expense and other   (31.3)   (24.9)   (23.5)   (20)%   (6)%
                     

Income (loss) from operations  $ (10.3)  $ 38.8  $ (11.6)   477%   (130)%

CompX International Inc.

  Year ended December 31,   % Change  
  2007   2008   2009    2007-08   2008-09 
  (Dollars in millions)          
                  
Net sales  $ 177.7  $ 165.5  $ 116.1   (7)%  (30)%
Cost of goods sold   132.5   125.7   92.3   (5)%  (27)%
                     

Gross margin   45.2   39.8   23.8   (12)%  (40)%
                     
Goodwill impairment   -   10.1   -   100%   (100)%
Operating costs and expenses   29.8   24.4   27.8   (18)%  14%
                     

Income(loss)from operations  $ 15.4  $ 5.3  $ (4.0)   (66)%  (175)%
                     
Percentage of net sales:                     

Cost of goods sold   75%  76%  80%         
Gross margin   25%  24%  20%         
Operating costs and expenses   16%  21%  24%         
Income (loss) from operations   9%  3%  (3)%        

Net Sales – Net sales decreased approximately $49.4 million in 2009 as compared to 2008 principally due to lower order rates from our customers resulting
from unfavorable economic conditions in North America.  CompX’s Furniture Components, Security Products and Marine Components businesses accounted
fo r approximately 57%, 32% and 11%, respectively, of the total decrease in sales year over year.  Furniture Components sales contributed a greater
percentage of the total decrease due to its greater reliance on sales to a small number of OEMs in a few markets.  These OEMs included office furniture, tool
storage and appliance industries that were more severely impacted by the economic slow-down compared to the greater diversification of other Security
Products customers and markets which more closely matched the overall decline in the economy.  The Marine business accounted for a smaller percentage of
the total decrease due to the smaller sales volume associated with that business.

Net sales decreased in 2008 as compared to 2007 principally due to lower order rates from many of our customers resulting from unfavorable
economic conditions in North America, offset in part by the effect of sales price increases for certain products to mitigate the effect of higher raw material
costs. CompX’s Furniture Components, Marine Components, and Security Products businesses accounted for approximately 41%, 35%, and 24%,
respectively of the total decrease in sales year over year.

 Costs of Goods Sold and Gross Margin – Cost of goods sold decreased from 2008 to 2009 primarily due to decreased sales volumes.  As a
percentage of sales, gross margin decreased in 2009 from the prior year primarily due to reduced coverage of overhead and fixed manufacturing costs from
lower sales volume and the related under-utilization of capacity, partially offset by a net $4.8 million in fixed manufacturing cost reductions implemented in
response to lower sales.

Cost of goods sold decreased from 2007 to 2008 primarily due to decreased sales volumes.  As a percentage of sales, gross margin decreased slightly
in 2008 from the prior year.  The slight decrease in gross margin percentage was due to the net impact of a number of factors including lower facility
utilization rates relating to the decrease in sales, lower depreciation expense resulting from lower capital requirements relating to lower sales and minor
increases in variable production costs not fully offset by price increases.

Goodwill Impairment – During 2008, we recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $10.1 million for CompX’s marine components
reporting unit.  See Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income from operations – Excluding the 2008 goodwill impairment charge discussed above, the comparison of income from operations for 2009 to
2008 was primarily impacted by the net effects of:

·  a negative impact of approximately $21.2 million relating to lower order rates from many of our customers resulting from unfavorable economic
conditions in North America,

·  approximately $4.6 million of patent litigation expenses relating to Furniture Components,
·  a write-down on assets held for sale of approximately $717,000,
·  a $3.8 million reduction in fixed manufacturing expenses in response to the lower sales volume,
·  a $1.7 million reduction in lower operating costs and expenses in response to the lower sales volume and
·  $900,000 in lower depreciation expense in 2009 due to a reduction in capital expenditures for shorter lived assets over the last several years in

response to lower sales.

Excluding the goodwill impairment charge, the comparison of income from operations for 2008 compared to 2007 includes the net effects of:
·  a negative impact of approximately $5.4 million relating to lower order rates from many of our customers resulting from unfavorable economic

conditions in North America,
·  increased raw material costs that we were not able to fully recover through sales price increases by approximately $1 million due to the competitive

nature of the markets we serve,
·  the one-time $2.7 million charge for facility consolidation costs incurred in 2007,
·  $1.8 million in lower depreciation expense in 2008 due to a reduction in capital expenditures for shorter lived assets over the last several years in

response to lower sales, and
·  $1.3 million favorable effect on operating income from changes in currency exchange rates.

The $2.7 million facility consolidation costs incurred in 2007 include abnormal manufacturing costs such as physical move costs, equipment
installation, redundant labor and recruiting fees, and fixed asset write-downs of $765,000.  Approximately $600,000 of the write-down relates to the
classification of our vacated River Grove facility as an “asset held for sale.”  See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.



Currency - CompX has substantial operations and assets located outside the United States (in Canada and Taiwan).  The majority of sales generated
from CompX’s non-U.S. operations are denominated in the U.S. dollar with the remainder denominated in other currencies, principally the Canadian dollar
and the New Taiwan dollar.  Most raw materials, labor and other production costs for our non-U.S. operations are denominated primarily in local
currencies.  Consequently, the translated U.S. dollar values of our non-U.S. sales and operating results are subject to currency exchange rate fluctuations
which may favorably or unfavorably impact reported earnings and may affect comparability of period-to-period operating results.  Overall, fluctuations in
currency exchange rates had the following effects on our net sales and income from operations:

 
Impact of changes in foreign currency - 2008 vs. 2009 (in thousands)

 Transaction gains/(losses)recognized Translation gain/loss-
impact of rate changes

Total currency impact
2008 vs 2009 2008 2009 Change

Impact on:      
Net Sales $     - $      - $     - $    (848) $   (848)
Income from operations      679        (236)       (915)       907           (8)
      

Impact of Changes in foreign currency - 2007 vs. 2008 (in thousands)
 Transaction gains/(losses)recognized Translation gain/loss-

impact of rate changes
Total currency impact

2007 vs 2008 2007 2008 Change
Impact on:      
Net Sales $      - $      - $      - $      406 $     406
Income from operations      (1,085)        679       1,764         (460)     1,304
      

 
The net impact on income from operations of changes in currency rates from 2008 to 2009 was not significant.  The positive impact on income from

operations for the 2007 versus 2008 comparison is due to transactional currency exchange gains in 2008 as compared to losses in 2007 which were a function
of the timing of currency exchange rate changes and the settlement of non-local currency receivables and payables.

General – CompX’s profitability primarily depends on our ability to utilize our production capacity effectively, which is affected by, among other
things, the demand for our products and our ability to control our manufacturing costs, primarily comprising labor costs and materials.  The materials used in
our products consist of purchased components and raw materials some of which are subject to fluctuations in the commodity markets such as zinc, copper,
plastic resin, coiled steel and stainless steel. Total material costs represent approximately 44% of our cost of goods sold in 2009, with commodity-related raw
materials accounting for approximately 18% of our cost of goods sold.  During 2007 and most of 2008, worldwide raw material costs increased significantly
and then declined in 2009.  We occasionally enter into commodity related raw material supply arrangements to mitigate the short-term impact of future
increases in commodity-related raw material costs.  While these arrangements do not necessarily commit us to a minimum volume of purchases, they
generally provide for stated unit prices based upon achievement of specified volume purchase levels.  This allows us to stabilize commodity-related raw
material purchase prices to a certain extent, provided the specified minimum monthly purchase quantities are met. We enter into such arrangements for zinc
and coiled steel.  While commodity-related raw material purchase prices stabilized to a certain extent in 2009, it is uncertain whether the current prices will
remain near the current levels during 2010.  Materials purchased on the spot market are sometimes subject to unanticipated and sudden price increases.  We
generally seek to mitigate the impact of fluctuations in raw material costs on our margins through improvements in production efficiencies or other operating
cost reductions.  In the event we are unable to offset raw material cost increases with other cost reductions, it may be difficult to recover those cost increases
through increased product selling prices or raw material surcharges due to the competitive nature of the markets served by our products.  Consequently,
overall operating margins may be affected by raw material cost pressures.

Results by Reporting Unit

The key performance indicator for CompX’s reporting units is the level of their income from operations (see discussion below).

  Years ended December 31,      % Change  
  2007   2008   2009    2007 – 2008   2008 – 2009 
  (In millions)          
                  
Net sales:                  
  Security Products  $ 80.1  $ 77.1  $ 61.4   (4%)  (20%)
  Furniture Components   81.3   76.4   48.2   (6%)  (37%)
  Marine Components   16.3   12.0   6.5   (26%)  (46%)
                     
    Total net sales  $ 177.7  $ 165.5  $ 116.1   (7%)  (30%)
                     
Gross margin:                     
  Security Products  $ 24.1  $ 21.4  $ 17.8   (10%)  (18%)
  Furniture Components   16.7   16.0   6.5   (4%)  (60%)
  Marine Components   4.4   2.4   (0.5)   (43%)  (120%)
                     
    Total gross margin  $ 45.2  $ 39.8  $ 23.8   (12%)  (40%)
                     
Income from operations (loss):                     
  Security Products  $ 12.2  $ 12.4  $ 9.7   4%   (24%)
  Furniture Components   8.0   9.1   (4.7)   15%   (151%)
  Marine Components   0.8   (10.7)   (3.0)  n.m.   71%
  Corporate operating expenses   (5.6)   (5.5)   (6.0)   (2%)  (13%)
                     
    Total income from operations  $ 15.4  $ 5.3  $ (4.0)   (66%)  (175%)
                     
Income from operations margin:                     
  Security Products   15%  16%   16%         
  Furniture Components   10%  12%   (10%)        
  Marine Components   5%  (89%)  (46%)        
  Total income from operations margin   9%  3%   (3%)        
                     



n.m. not meaningful                     
 

Security Products - Security Products net sales decreased 20% to $61.4 million in 2009 compared to $77.1 million in 2008.  The decrease in sales is
primarily due to lower customer order rates from most of our customers resulting from unfavorable economic conditions in North America.  Gross margin
percentage increased slightly (less than 1%) in 2009 compared to 2008 and income from operations percentage was comparable at 16% for the same periods.
The comparable gross margin and income from operations percentages were achieved despite the significant decrease in sales due to the positive impact of (i)
a $2.1 million reduction in fixed manufacturing costs implemented in response to lower sales, (ii) a $1.6 million improvement in variable contribution
margin through a combination of sales price increases implemented at the beginning of 2009 in response to cost increases experienced in 2008 and a more
favorable product mix and (iii) a $900,000 reduction in selling, general and administrative costs in response to lower sales which were partially offset by
reduced fixed costs coverage from lower sales and the related under-utilization of capacity.

Security Products net sales decreased 4% to $77.1 million in 2008 compared to $80.1 million in 2007.  The decrease in sales is primarily due to
lower order rates from many of our customers resulting from unfavorable economic conditions in North America, offset in part by the effect of sales price
increases for certain products to mitigate the effect of higher raw material costs.  As a percentage of sales, gross margin decreased in 2008 compared to 2007
primarily due to increased raw material costs that were not fully recovered through price increases by $1.5 million.  Income from operations percentage
increased slightly in 2008 primarily as a result of $2.7 million of costs incurred in 2007 related to the consolidation of two of our northern Illinois Security
Products facilities shared with a Marine Components operation.

Furniture Components - Furniture Components net sales decreased 37% to $48.2 million in 2009 from $76.4 million in 2008, primarily due to
lower order rates from most of our customers resulting from unfavorable economic conditions in North America.  Gross margin percentage decreased
approximately 8% in 2009 compared to 2008.  Income from operations decreased to a loss of $4.7 million in 2009 as compared to income of $9.2 million in
2008.  The decreases in the gross margin percentage and income from operations are primarily the result of approximately $2.3 million in reduced fixed
manufacturing cost coverage from lower sales and the related under-utilization of capacity combined with approximately $4.6 million of patent litigation
expenses recorded in selling, general and administrative expense partially offset by reduced fixed manufacturing costs of approximately $2.4 million and
reduced selling, general and administrative expenses of approximately $1.2 million in response to lower sales.

Furniture Components net sales decreased 6% to $76.4 million in 2008 from $81.3 million in 2007, primarily due to lower order rates from many of
our customers resulting from unfavorable economic conditions in North America, offset in part by the effect of sales price increases for certain products to
mitigate the effect of higher raw material costs.  Gross margin percentage was comparable year over year.  Income from operations percentage increased in
2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to a $1.3 million favorable change in the effect of currency exchange rates.

Marine Components - Marine Components net sales decreased 46% in 2009 as compared to 2008 primarily due to a dramatic overall downturn in
the marine industry.  Gross margin decreased to a loss in 2009 as compared to 2008.  The 2008 operating loss for the Marine Components business includes a
goodwill impairment charge of approximately $9.9 million.  Excluding the goodwill impairment charge, our operating loss increased approximately $2.5
million in 2009 as compared to 2008.  The decrease in gross margin and increase in operating loss are the result of reduced coverage of fixed costs from lower
sales volume, partially offset by reduced fixed manufacturing costs of approximately $270,000 and reduced selling, general and administrative expenses of
approximately $610,000 in response to lower sales.

Marine Components net sales decreased 26% in 2008 as compared to 2007 primarily due to an overall downturn in the marine industry.  Gross
margin percentage decreased from 27% in 2007 to 21% in 2008.  Excluding the goodwill impairment charge discussed above, income from operations
decreased from approximately $800,000 of income in 2007 to an operating loss of approximately $500,000 in 2008.  The decreases in gross margin and
income from operations are the result of reduced coverage of fixed costs from lower sales volume.

Outlook - Demand for CompX’s products continues to be slow and unstable as customers react to the condition of the overall economy.  While changes in
market demand are not within our control, we are focused on the areas we can impact.  Staffing levels are continuously being evaluated in relation to sales
order rates resulting in headcount adjustments, to the extent possible, to match staffing levels with demand.  We expect our lean manufacturing and cost
improvement initiatives to continue to positively impact our productivity and result in a more efficient infrastructure that we can leverage when demand
growth returns.  Additionally, we continue to seek opportunities to gain market share in markets we currently serve, expand into new markets and develop
new product features in order to mitigate the impact of reduced demand as well as broaden our sales base.

In addition to challenges with overall demand, volatility in the cost of our commodity-related raw materials is ongoing.  We currently expect these
costs to be volatile for 2010.  We generally seek to mitigate the impact of fluctuations in raw material costs on our margins through improvements in
production efficiencies or other operating cost reductions.  In the event we are unable to offset raw material cost increases with other cost reductions, it may
be difficult to recover those cost increases through increased product selling prices or raw material surcharges due to the competitive nature of the markets
served by our products.

As discussed in Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, a competitor has filed claims against CompX for patent infringement.  CompX
has denied the allegations of patent infringement and is seeking to have the claims dismissed or is in settlement discussions, the outcome of which would not
be expected to have a material effect on our results of operations.  While we currently believe that the disposition of these claims should not have a material,
long-term adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or liquidity, we expect to continue to incur costs defending against
such claims during the short-term that are likely to be material.

During the third quarter of 2009, CompX entered into a Third Amendment to its $37.5 million Credit Agreement (the “Third Amendment”).  The
primary purpose of the Third Amendment was to adjust certain covenants in the Credit Agreement in order to take into consideration the current and
expected future financial performance of CompX.  See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  We believe that the adjustments to the covenants
will allow CompX to comply with the covenant restrictions through the maturity of the facility in January 2012; however, if future operating results differ
materially from our expectations CompX may be unable to maintain compliance.  At December 31, 2009, no amounts were outstanding under the
facility.  CompX is currently in compliance with all covenant restrictions under the Credit Agreement.  Maintaining compliance with certain of the covenant
restrictions is dependent upon CompX’s current financial performance as measured at the end of each quarter.  One of the financial performance covenants
requires earnings before interest and taxes for the trailing four quarters (not including quarters prior to 2009) to be 2.5 times cash interest expense.  Since
CompX’s earnings before interest and taxes was a loss of $147,000 and $2.0 million for the third and fourth quarters of 2009, respectively, as measured under
the terms of the Credit Agreement, effectively it could not have had any borrowings outstanding under the Credit Agreement during these periods of 2009
without violating the covenant as any cash interest expense incurred would have exceeded the required 2.5 to 1 ratio.  In the future, to the extent that CompX
does not generate the required amount of earnings before interest and taxes, as measured under the Credit Agreement, it would similarly be unable to borrow
on the Credit Agreement without violating this financial performance covenant.  However, there are no current expectations that CompX will need to borrow
on the revolving credit facility in the near term as cash flows from operations are expected to be sufficient to fund its future liquidity requirements.

As a condition to the Third Amendment, in the third quarter 2009 CompX executed with TIMET Finance Management Company (“TFMC”), an
Amended and Restated Subordinated Term Loan Promissory Note payable to the order of TFMC.  The material changes effected by the Amended and
Restated TFMC Note were the deferral of required principal and interest payments on the note until on or after January 1, 2011 and certain restrictions on the
amount of payments that could be made after that date.  See Note 12 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.



Kronos Worldwide, Inc.
  Years ended December 31,   % Change  
  2007   2008   2009    2007-08   2008-09 
  (Dollars in millions)          
                  

Net sales  $ 1,310.3  $ 1,316.9  $ 1,142.0   1%   (13)%
Cost of sales   1,058.9   1,096.3   1,011.7   4%   (8)%

                     
Gross margin  $ 251.4  $ 220.6  $ 130.3         

                     
Income (loss) from operations  $ 84.9  $ 47.2  $ (15.7)   (44)%  (133)%
Other, net   2.5   1.0   .2         
Interest expense   (39.4)   (42.2)   (41.4)         

    Income before income taxes   48.0   6.0   (56.9)         
                     

Provision for income taxes (benefit)   114.7   (3.0)   (22.2)         
                     

Net income (loss)  $ (66.7)  $ 9.0  $ (34.7)         
                     
Percentage of net sales:                     

Cost of sales   81%  83%  89%         
Income from operations   6%  4%  (2)%        

                     
Equity in earnings (losses) of Kronos Worldwide, Inc.  $ (23.9)  $ 3.2  $ (12.5)         
                     
TiO2 operating statistics:                     

Sales volumes*   519   478   445   (8)%  (7)%
Production volumes*   512   514   402   -%   (22)%

                     
Change in TiO2 net sales:                     

TiO2 product pricing               2%   (1)%
TiO2 sales volume               (8)   (7)
TiO2 product mix               2   (2)

Changes in currency exchange rates               5   (3)
                     

Total               1%   (13)%
* Thousands of metric tons
 

 Net sales – Kronos’ net sales decreased 13% or $174.9 million in 2009 compared to 2008, primarily due to a 7% decrease in sales volumes and a 1%
decrease in average selling prices.  Variations in grades of products sold unfavorably impacted net sales by 2%.  In addition, Kronos estimates the
unfavorable effect of changes in currency exchange rates decreased net sales by approximately $35 million, or 3%, as compared to the same period in
2008.  TiO2 selling prices generally follow industry trends and prices will increase or decrease generally as a result of competitive market pressures.  As a
result of these market pressures, Kronos’ average TiO2 prices in 2009 were 1% lower than in the prior year.  During the first half of 2009, Kronos’ average
selling prices were generally declining, as it faced weak demand and excessive inventory levels.  Beginning mid-2009, Kronos and its competitors
announced various price increases.  A portion of these price increase announcements were implemented during the third and fourth quarters of 2009, and as a
result Kronos’ average selling price at the end of the second half of 2009 was 3% higher than at the end of the first half of 2009.

Kronos’ net sales increased 1% or $6.6 million in 2008 compared to 2007, primarily due to favorable currency exchange rates, which Kronos
estimates increased net sales for 2008 by approximately $61 million, or 5%, compared to the same period in 2007.  Variations in grades of products sold
favorably impacted net sales by 2%, along with a 2% increase in average TiO2 selling prices.  TiO2 selling prices generally follow industry trends and prices
will increase or decrease generally as a result of competitive market pressures.  During the early part of 2008, Kronos’ average selling prices were generally
flat.  During the second and third quarters of 2008, Kronos and its competitors announced various price increases and surcharges in response to higher
operating costs.  A portion of these increase announcements were implemented during the second, third and fourth quarters of 2008.  The positive impact of
currency, product mix and pricing in 2008 were substantially offset by an 8% decrease in sales volumes.

Kronos’ 7% decrease in sales volumes in 2009 and 8% decrease in sales volumes for 2008 is primarily due to lower sales volumes in Europe and
North America as a result of a global weakening of demand due to poor overall economic conditions.

Cost of sales – Kronos’ cost of sales decreased 8% or $84.6 million in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to the impact of a 7% decrease in sales
volumes, lower raw material costs of $11.6 million, a decrease in maintenance costs of $29.8 million as part of its efforts to reduce operating costs where
possible and currency fluctuations (primarily the euro).  Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales increased to 89% in the year ended December 31, 2009
compared to 83% in 2008 primarily due to the unfavorable effects of the significant amount of unabsorbed fixed production costs resulting from reduced
production volumes during the first six months of 2009.  TiO2 production volumes decreased due to temporary plant curtailments during the first six months
of 2009 that resulted in approximately $80 million of unabsorbed fixed production costs which were charged directly to cost of sales in the first six months of
2009.

Kronos’ cost of sales increased 4% or $37.4 million in 2008 compared to 2007 due to the impact of a 22% or approximately $27 million increase in
utility costs (primarily energy costs), a 10% or approximately $35 million increase in raw material costs largely offset by currency fluctuations (primarily the
euro).  Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales increased to 83% in the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to 81% in the same period of 2007
primarily due to the net effects of higher operating costs and slightly higher average selling prices.
 

Income (loss) from operations – Kronos’ income (loss) from operations declined by $62.9 million from income of $47.2 million in 2008 to a loss
from operations of $15.7 million in 2009.  Income (loss) from operations as a percentage of net sales declined to (2)% in 2009 from 4% in 2008.  This
decrease is driven by the decline in gross margin, which fell to 11% in 2009 compared to 17% in 2008.  Kronos’ gross margin decreased primarily because of
the significant amount of unabsorbed fixed production costs resulting from the production curtailments implemented during the first six months of 2009 as
well as the effect of lower sales volumes.  However, changes in currency rates have positively affected Kronos’ gross margin and income (loss) from
operations.  Kronos estimates that changes in currency exchange rates increased income (loss) from operations by approximately $40 million in 2009 as
compared to 2008.



Kronos’ income from operations in 2008 declined by 44% to $47.2 million compared to 2007.  Income from operations as a percentage of net sales decreased
to 4% in 2008 from 6% for 2007.  The decline in income from operations is driven by the decline in gross margin, which decreased to 17% in 2008 compared
to 19% in 2007.  While Kronos’ average TiO2 selling prices were higher in 2008, gross margin decreased primarily because of lower sales volumes and higher
manufacturing costs, which more than offset the impact of higher sales prices.  Changes in currency rates have also negatively affected gross margin.  Kronos
estimates the negative effect of changes in currency exchange rates decreased income from operations by approximately $4 million when comparing 2008 to
2007.

As a percentage of net sales, selling, general and administrative expenses were relatively consistent at approximately 12% for 2007 and approximately 13%
for both 2008 and 2009.
 

Other non-operating income (expense) – Kronos’ interest expense decreased $.8 million from $42.2 million in 2008 to $41.4 million in 2009 due to
changes in currency exchange rates which offset the effect of increased average borrowings under Kronos’ revolving credit facilities and higher interest rates
on its European credit facility.  The interest expense Kronos recognizes will vary with fluctuations in the euro exchange rate.

Kronos’ interest expense increased $2.8 million from $39.4 million for 2007 to $42.2 million for 2008 due to unfavorable changes in currency
exchange rates in 2008 compared to 2007 and increased borrowings in 2008 (primarily under Kronos’ European credit facility).

Income taxes – Kronos’ income tax benefit was $22.2 million in 2009 compared to $3.0 million in 2008 and a provision of $114.7 million in
2007.  Some of the more significant items are summarized below.

Kronos’ income tax benefit for 2009 includes a non-cash benefit of $4.7 million related to a net decrease in its reserve for uncertain tax positions
primarily as a result of the resolution of tax audits in Belgium and Germany in the third and fourth quarters.

Kronos’ income tax benefit for 2008 includes a non-cash benefit of $7.2 million relating to a European Court ruling that resulted in the favorable
resolution of certain income tax issues in Germany and an increase in the amount of Kronos’ German corporate and trade tax net operating loss carryforwards.

Kronos’ income tax expense in 2007 includes (i) a non-cash charge of $90.8 million relating to a decrease in Kronos’ net deferred income tax asset
in Germany resulting from the reduction in its income tax rates; (ii) a non-cash charge of $8.7 million relating to the adjustment of certain German income tax
attributes and (iii) a non-cash income tax benefit of $2.0 million resulting from a net reduction in its reserve for uncertain tax positions.

In addition, and as a consequence of a European Court ruling that resulted in a favorable resolution of certain income tax issues in Germany, during
the first quarter of 2010 the German tax authorities agreed to an increase in Kronos’ German net operating loss carryforward.  Accordingly, Kronos expects to
report a non-cash income tax benefit of approximately $35.2 million in the first quarter of 2010.

Effects of currency exchange rates - Kronos has substantial operations and assets located outside the United States (primarily in Germany, Belgium,
Norway and Canada).  The majority of its sales from non-U.S. operations are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally the euro, other
major European currencies and the Canadian dollar.  A portion of the sales generated from non-U.S. operations is denominated in the U.S. dollar.  Certain raw
materials used worldwide, primarily titanium-containing feedstocks, are purchased in U.S. dollars, while labor and other production costs are purchased
primarily in local currencies.  Consequently, the translated U.S. dollar value of non-U.S. sales and operating results are subject to currency exchange rate
fluctuations which may favorably or unfavorably impact reported earnings and may affect the comparability of period-to-period operating results.  In addition
to the impact of the translation of sales and expenses over time, Kronos’ non-U.S. operations also generate currency transaction gains and losses which
primarily relate to the difference between the currency exchange rates in effect when  non-local currency sales or operating costs are initially accrued and when
such amounts are settled with the non-local currency.

Overall, Kronos estimates that fluctuations in currency exchange rates had the following effects on sales and income (loss) from operations for the
periods indicated.

Impact of changes in foreign currency - 2008 vs. 2009 (in millions)
 Transaction gains/(losses)recognized Translation gain/loss-

impact of rate changes
Total currency impact

2008 vs 2009 2008 2009 Change
Impact on:      
Net Sales   $     -   $     -   $     -   $    (35) $    (35)
Income (loss)
from operations         1        10         9        30      39
      

Impact of changes in foreign currency - 2007 vs. 2008 (in millions)
 Transaction gains/(losses)recognized Translation gain/loss-

impact of rate changes
Total currency impact

2007 vs 2008 2007 2008 Change
Impact on:      
Net Sales $    - $    - $    - $    61 $    61
Income (loss)
from operations      -      1      1         (5)        (4)
      

The positive impact on income (loss) from operations for the 2008 versus 2009 comparison is due to increased transactional currency exchange gains
in 2009 as compared to 2008 which were a function of the timing of currency exchange rate changes and the settlement of non-local currency receivables and
payables.  The net impact on operations of changes in foreign currency rates from 2007 to 2008 was not significant.

Outlook – In response to the worldwide economic slowdown and weak consumer confidence, Kronos reduced its production volumes during 2009 in
order to reduce finished goods inventory, improve liquidity and match production to market demand.  Overall industry pigment demand is expected to be
higher in 2010 as compared to 2009 as a result of improving worldwide economic conditions.  During 2009, Kronos and its competitors announced price
increases, a portion of which were implemented during the second half of 2009, with the remainder expected to be implemented in 2010.  As a result, the
decline in Kronos’ average selling prices experienced during the first half of 2009 ceased, and its average selling prices increased during the second half of
2009.  As a result of the expected continued implementation of these and possible future price increases, Kronos anticipates average selling prices will
continue to increase during 2010.

Kronos currently expects income from operations will be higher in 2010 as compared to 2009 due to the favorable effects of higher TiO2 sales
volumes, average selling prices and production volumes.  Higher production costs in 2009 resulted in part from the production curtailments Kronos
implemented in the first half of the year and the resulting unabsorbed fixed production costs.  While Kronos operated its facilities at approximately 58% of



capacity during the first half of 2009, it increased capacity utilization to approximately 94% during the second half of 2009.  Kronos believes its annual
attainable production capacity for 2010 is approximately 532,000 metric tons, and currently expects to operate its facilities at approximately 90% to 95% of
such capacity during 2010.  Kronos’ expected capacity utilization levels could be adjusted upwards or downwards to match changes in demand for its
product.

Overall, Kronos expects to report net income in 2010 as compared to reporting a net loss in 2009 due to higher expected income from operations in
2010 as well as the impact of the $35.2 million non-cash income tax benefit it expects to recognize in the first quarter of 2010, as discussed above.

Kronos’ expectations as to the future of the TiO2 industry are based upon a number of factors beyond its control, including worldwide growth of
gross domestic product, competition in the marketplace, solvency and continued operation of competitors, unexpected or earlier than expected capacity
additions or reductions and technological advances.  If actual developments differ from Kronos’ expectations, results of operations could be unfavorably
affected.

General corporate and other items

Interest and dividend income – Interest and dividend income in 2009 decreased $5.3 million from 2008 and increased $3.2 million in 2008 from
2007 primarily due to the interest received in April 2008 on certain escrow funds we became entitled to as part of a litigation settlement agreement.  We
recognized this as interest income during the second quarter of 2008.  See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other interest and dividend income fluctuates in part based upon the amount of funds invested and yields thereon.  We expect that interest income
will be lower in 2010 than 2009 primarily due lower cash available for investment.

Securities transactions - In October 2007 we sold 800,000 shares of TIMET common stock to Valhi for $26.8 million.  The transaction was approved
by the independent members of our board of directors.  We recognized a $22.7 million pre-tax security transaction gain in the fourth quarter of 2007 related
to the sale.  See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
Litigation settlement gain – In October 2008 we recognized a $48.8 million gain related to the initial closing associated with the settlement of

condemnation proceedings on certain real property we owned that is subject to environmental remediation, and for which we had a carrying value of
approximately $5.8 million at the date of closing.  The second closing related to this settlement occurred in the second quarter of 2009, and we recognized an
$11.3 million gain for which we had a carrying value of approximately $487,000 at the date of closing.  See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Insurance recoveries – We have agreements with certain insurance carriers pursuant to which the carriers reimbursed us for a portion of our past lead
pigment and asbestos litigation defense costs.  Insurance recoveries include amounts we received from these insurance carriers.
 
The agreements with certain of our insurance carriers also include reimbursement for a portion of our future litigation defense costs.  We are not able to
determine how much we will ultimately recover from these carriers for defense costs incurred by us because of certain issues that arise regarding which
defense costs qualify for reimbursement.  Accordingly, these insurance recoveries are recognized when the receipt is probable and the amount is
determinable.  See Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Corporate expenses – Corporate expenses were $23.5 million in 2009, $1.4 million or 6% lower than in 2008 primarily due to lower legal and
environmental expenses as noted below, partially offset by higher pension expense as discussed in “Assumptions on defined benefit pension plans and OPEB
plans”.  Included in 2009 corporate expense are:

·  Litigation and related costs of $12.4 million in 2009 compared to $14.6 million in 2008 and
·  Environmental expenses of $3.7 million in 2009, compared to $6.8 million in 2008.

Corporate expenses were $25.0 million in 2008, $6.3 million or 20% lower than in 2007 primarily due to lower litigation and related costs partially
offset by higher environmental expenses.  Included in 2008 corporate expense are:

·  Litigation and related costs of $14.6 million in 2008 compared to $22.1 in 2007 and
·  Environmental expenses of $6.8 million in 2008, compared to $4.4 million in 2007.

We expect that our corporate expenses in 2010 will be comparable to 2009.

The level of our litigation and related expenses varies from period to period depending upon, among other things, the number of cases in which we
are currently involved, the nature of such cases and the current stage of such cases (e.g. discovery, pre-trial motions, trial or appeal, if applicable).  See Note
19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  If our current expectations regarding the number of cases in which we expected to be involved during 2010, or
the nature of such cases, were to change, our corporate expenses could be higher than we currently estimate.

Obligations for environmental remediation costs are difficult to assess and estimate, and it is possible that actual costs for environmental remediation will
exceed accrued amounts or that costs will be incurred in the future for sites in which we cannot currently estimate our liability.  If these events were to occur
in 2010, our corporate expenses would be higher than we currently estimate.  See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest expense - Substantially all of our interest expense in 2007, 2008 and 2009 relates to CompX.  Interest expense decreased approximately $1.3 million
in 2009 compared to 2008 as the result of a lower interest rate on the outstanding principal amount of our note payable to affiliate (5.05% at December 31,
2008 as compared to 1.25% at December 31, 2009).  Interest expense increased approximately $1.6 million in 2008 compared to 2007 as a result of financing
the October 2007 repurchase and/or cancellation of a net $2.7 million shares of our Class A common stock from an affiliate with a promissory note.  See Note
2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Provision (benefit) for income taxes - We recognized an income tax benefit of $10.3 million in 2009 compared to an expense of $14.9 million in
2008 and a benefit of $8.3 million in 2007. In accordance with GAAP, we recognize deferred income taxes on our undistributed equity in earnings of
Kronos.  We do not recognize, and we are not required to pay, income taxes to the extent we receive dividends from Kronos.  Because we and Kronos are part
of the same U.S. federal income tax group, any dividends we receive from Kronos are nontaxable to us.  Therefore, our effective income tax rate will generally
be lower than the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate in periods during which we receive dividends from Kronos.  In this regard, Kronos announced the
suspension of its regularly quarterly dividend in February 2009 in consideration of the challenges and opportunities that exist in the TiO2 pigment industry.

See Note 15 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for a tabular reconciliation of our statutory tax expense to our actual tax expense.  Some of
the more significant items impacting this reconciliation are summarized below.

Our income tax benefit in 2009 includes a $.6 million benefit related to a net reduction in our reserve for uncertain tax positions primarily due certain statute
of limitation expirations in the fourth quarter of 2009.



The goodwill impairment charge of $10.1 million recorded in the third quarter of 2008 (see Note 8) is non-deductible goodwill for income tax
purposes.  Accordingly, there is no income tax benefit associated with the goodwill impairment charge for financial reporting purposes.  Our income tax
expense in 2008 includes a $2.1 million benefit related to a net reduction in our reserve for uncertain tax positions primarily due to a fourth quarter
recognition of unrecognized tax benefits because of statute of limitation expirations.

Our income tax benefit in 2007 includes a $1.3 million benefit related to a net reduction in our reserve for uncertain tax positions primarily due to a
third quarter recognition of unrecognized tax benefits because of statute of limitation expirations.

Noncontrolling interest – Noncontrolling interest in net loss of subsidiary decreased $124,000 in 2009 as compared to 2008.  This increase is due to
a higher net loss for CompX in 2009.

Noncontrolling interest decreased $3.0 million in 2008 as compared to 2007.  This decrease is due to both our increased ownership of CompX as
compared to 2007 and to lower earnings of CompX in 2008.
 

Related party transactions – We are a party to certain transactions with related parties.  See Notes 2 and 17 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.  It is our policy to engage in transactions with related parties on terms, in our opinion, no less favorable to us than we could obtain from unrelated
parties.

Recent accounting pronouncements - See Note 21 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Assumptions on defined benefit pension plans and OPEB plans

Defined benefit pension plans - We maintain various defined benefit pension plans in the U.S. and the U.K., and Kronos maintains various defined
benefit pension plans in the U.S., Europe and Canada.  See Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Under defined benefit pension plan accounting, we recognize defined benefit pension plan expense and prepaid and accrued pension costs are each
recognized based on certain actuarial assumptions, principally the assumed discount rate, the assumed long-term rate of return on plan assets and the assumed
increase in future compensation levels.  We recognize the full funded status of our defined benefit pension plans as either an asset (for overfunded plans) or a
liability (for underfunded plans) in our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

We recognized consolidated defined benefit pension plan income of $2.5 million in 2007 and $3.1 million in 2008, as compared to defined benefit
pension plan expense of $700,000 in 2009.  The amount of funding requirements for these defined benefit pension plans is generally based upon applicable
regulations (such as ERISA in the U.S.), and will generally differ from pension expense recognized under GAAP for financial reporting purposes.  We made
contributions to all of our plans of $900,000 in 2007, $600,000 in 2008 and $500,000 in 2009.

Our defined benefit pension plan expense was significantly higher in 2009 compared to pension income in 2008 primarily due to the expected return on plan
assets for 2009 compared to 2008 resulting from the lower fair value of plan assets at the beginning of 2009 as compared to the beginning of 2008.

The discount rates we use for determining defined benefit pension expense and the related pension obligations are based on current interest rates
earned on long-term bonds that receive one of the two highest ratings given by recognized rating agencies in the applicable country where the defined
benefit pension benefits are being paid.  In addition, we receive third-party advice about appropriate discount rates, and these advisors may in some cases use
their own market indices.  We adjust these discount rates as of each December 31 valuation date to reflect then-current interest rates on such long-term
bonds.  We use these discount rates to determine the actuarial present value of the pension obligations as of December 31 of that year.  We also use these
discount rates to determine the interest component of defined benefit pension expense for the following year.

At December 31, 2009, our projected benefit obligations for defined benefit plans comprised $42.5 million related to U.S. Plans and $8.5 million for
the U.K. plan, which is associated with a former disposed business unit.  We use different discount rate assumptions in determining our defined benefit
pension plan obligations and expense for the plans we maintain in the United States and the U.K. as the interest rate environment differs from country to
country.

We used the following discount rates for our defined benefit pension plans:

 Discount rates used for:

 

Obligations at
December 31, 2007
and expense in 2008  

Obligations at
December 31, 2008
and expense in 2009  

Obligations at
December 31, 2009 and expense in

2010
      

U.S. 6.1%  6.1%  5.7%
United Kingdom 5.8%  6.0%  5.8%

The assumed long-term rate of return on plan assets represents the estimated average rate of earnings expected to be earned on the funds invested or to be
invested from the plans’ assets provided to fund the benefit payments inherent in the projected benefit obligations.  Unlike the discount rate, which is
adjusted each year based on changes in current long-term interest rates, the assumed long-term rate of return on plan assets will not necessarily change based
upon the actual short-term performance of the plan assets in any given year.  Defined benefit pension expense each year is based upon the assumed long-term
rate of return on plan assets for each plan, the actual fair value of the plan assets as of the beginning of the year and an estimate of the amount of contributions
to and distributions from the plan during the year.  Differences between the expected return on plan assets for a given year and the actual return are deferred
and amortized over future periods based either upon the expected average remaining service life of the active plan participants (for plans for which benefits
are still being earned by active employees) or the average remaining life expectancy of the inactive participants (for plans in which benefits are not still being
earned by active employees).

At December 31, 2009, approximately 82% of the plan assets related to plan assets for our plans in the U.S., with the remainder related to the
U.K.  plan.  We use different long-term rates of return on plan asset assumptions for our U.S. and U.K. defined benefit pension plan expense because the
respective plan assets are invested in a different mix of investments and the long-term rates of return for different investments differ from country to country.

In determining the expected long-term rate of return on plan asset assumptions, we consider the long-term asset mix (e.g. equity vs. fixed income) for
the assets for each of our plans and the expected long-term rates of return for such asset components.  In addition, we receive advice about appropriate long-
term rates of return from our third-party actuaries.  At December 31, 2008 and 2009, substantially all of the assets attributable to U.S. plans were invested in
the Combined Master Retirement Trust (“CMRT”), a collective investment trust sponsored by Contran to permit the collective investment by certain master
trusts which fund certain employee benefits plans sponsored by Contran and certain of its affiliates.  Harold C. Simmons is the sole trustee of the CMRT and
is a member of the CMRT investment committee.



The CMRT’s long-term investment objective is to provide a rate of return exceeding a composite of broad market equity and fixed income indices
(including the S&P 500 and certain Russell indices), while utilizing both third-party investment managers as well as investments directed by Mr.
Simmons.  The CMRT holds TIMET common stock in its investment portfolio; however through December 31, 2009 NL invests in a portion of the CMRT
which does not include the TIMET holdings.  During the history of the CMRT from its inception in 1988 through December 31, 2009, the average annual
rate of return (excluding the CMRT’s investment in TIMET common stock) has been 11%.

The CMRT weighted-average asset allocation by asset category was as follows:

    December 31,   
 2008 2009
Equity securities and limited partnerships 53% 68%
Fixed income securities 43 31
Cash, cash equivalents and other   4   1
   

Total 100% 100%

We regularly review our actual asset allocation for each of our plans, and will periodically rebalance the investments in each plan to more accurately
reflect the targeted allocation when considered appropriate.

Our assumed long-term rates of return on plan assets for 2007, 2008 and 2009 were as follows:

    2007     2008     2009  
       

U.S.  10.0%  10.0%  10.0%
United Kingdom  6.5%  7.0%  6.5%

We currently expect to utilize the same long-term rate of return on plan asset assumptions in 2010 as we used in 2009 for purposes of determining the 2010
defined benefit pension plan expense.

To the extent that a plan’s particular pension benefit formula calculates the pension benefit in whole or in part based upon future compensation levels, the
projected benefit obligations and the pension expense would be based in part upon expected increases in future compensation levels. However, we have no
active employees participating in our defined benefit pension plans.  Such plans are closed to additional participants and assumptions regarding future
compensation levels are not applicable for our plans.

In addition to the actuarial assumptions discussed above, because we maintain a defined benefit pension plan in the U.K., the amount of recognized defined
benefit pension expense and the amount of net pension asset and net pension liability will vary based upon relative changes in currency exchange rates.

As discussed above, assumed discount rates and rates of return on plan assets are reevaluated annually.  A reduction in the assumed discount rate
generally results in an actuarial loss, as the actuarially-determined present value of estimated future benefit payments will increase.  Conversely, an increase
in the assumed discount rate generally results in an actuarial gain. In addition, an actual return on plan assets for a given year that is greater than the assumed
return on plan assets results in an actuarial gain, while an actual return on plan assets that is less than the assumed return results in an actuarial loss.  Other
actual outcomes that differ from previous assumptions, such as individuals living longer or shorter than assumed in mortality tables, which are also used to
determine the actuarially-determined present value of estimated future benefit payments, changes in such mortality table themselves or plan amendments,
will also result in actuarial losses or gains.  These amounts are recognized in other comprehensive income.  In addition, any actuarial gains generated in
future periods would reduce the negative amortization effect included in earnings of any cumulative unrecognized actuarial losses, while any actuarial losses
generated in future periods would reduce the favorable amortization effect included in earnings of any cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains. 

During 2009, all of our defined benefit pension plans generated a combined net actuarial loss of approximately $1.3 million.  This actuarial loss
resulted primarily from the reduction of the assumed discount rate in determining our projected benefit obligation.

Based on the actuarial assumptions described above and our current expectation for what actual average currency exchange rates will be during 2010, we
expect that our defined benefit pension expense will approximate $600,000 in 2010.  In comparison, we expect to be required to contribute approximately
$600,000 to such plans during 2010.

As noted above, defined benefit pension expense and the amounts recognized as accrued pension costs are based upon the actuarial assumptions discussed
above.  We believe that all of the actuarial assumptions used are reasonable and appropriate.  However, if we had lowered the assumed discount rate by 25
basis points for all of our plans as of December 31, 2009, our aggregate projected benefit obligations would have increased by approximately $1.0 million at
that date.  Such a change would not materially impact our defined benefit pension income for 2009.  Similarly, if we lowered the assumed long-term rate of
return on plan assets by 25 basis points for all of our plans, our defined benefit pension expense would be expected to increase by approximately $95,000
during 2009.

OPEB plans - We provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees in the U.S.  See Note 16 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.  Under GAAP, OPEB expense and accrued OPEB costs are based on certain actuarial assumptions, principally the assumed discount rate
and the assumed rate of increases in future health care costs.  We recognize the full unfunded status of our OPEB plans as a liability. 

We recognized consolidated OPEB expense of $629,000 in 2007, $476,000 in 2008 and $372,000 in 2009.  Similar to defined benefit pension
benefits, the amount of funding will differ from the expense recognized for financial reporting purposes, and contributions to the plans to cover benefit
payments aggregated $1.5 million in 2007, $1.1 million in 2008 and $800,000 in 2009.  Substantially all of our accrued OPEB cost relates to benefits being
paid to retirees and their dependents, and no OPEB benefits are being earned by current employees.  As a result, the amount recognized for OPEB expense for
financial reporting purposes has been, and is expected to continue to be, significantly less than the amount of OPEB benefit payments made each
year.  Accordingly, the amount of accrued OPEB expense is expected to decline gradually.

The assumed discount rates we utilize for determining OPEB expense and the related accrued OPEB obligations are generally based on the same discount
rates we utilize for our defined benefit pension plans.

In estimating the health care cost trend rate, we consider our actual health care cost experience, future benefit structures, industry trends and advice
from our third-party actuaries.  In certain cases, we have the right to pass on to retirees all or a portion of increases in health care costs.  During each of the past
three years, we have assumed that the relative increase in health care costs will generally trend downward over the next several years, reflecting, among other
things, assumed increases in efficiency in the health care system and industry-wide and plan-design cost containment initiatives.  For example, at December
31, 2009 the expected rate of increase in future health care costs ranges from 7.5% in 2010, declining to 5.5% in 2014 and thereafter.



Based on the actuarial assumptions described above, we expect that our consolidated OPEB expense will approximate $300,000 in 2010.  In
comparison, we expect to be required to make approximately $1.2 million of contributions to such plans during 2010.

As noted above, OPEB expense and the amount we recognize as accrued OPEB costs are based upon the actuarial assumptions discussed above.  We believe
that all of the actuarial assumptions used are reasonable and appropriate.  If we had lowered the assumed discount rate by 25 basis points for all of our OPEB
plans as of December 31, 2009, our aggregate projected benefit obligations would have increased by approximately $200,000 at that date, and our OPEB
expense would be expected to decrease by less than $10,000 during 2010.  Similarly, if the assumed future health care cost trend rate had been increased by
100 basis points, our accumulated OPEB obligations would have increased by approximately $475,000 at December 31, 2009 and the change to OPEB
expense would not have been material.

Non-U.S. operations

CompX - CompX has substantial operations and assets located outside the United States, principally furniture component product operations in
Canada and Taiwan.  At December 31, 2009, CompX had substantial net assets denominated in the Canadian dollar and the New Taiwan dollar.

Kronos - Kronos has substantial operations located outside the United States (principally Europe and Canada) for which the functional currency is
not the U.S. dollar.  As a result, the reported amount of our net investment in Kronos will fluctuate based upon changes in currency exchange rates.  At
December 31, 2009, Kronos had substantial net assets denominated in the euro, Canadian dollar, Norwegian krone and British pound sterling.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Consolidated cash flows

Operating activities

Trends in cash flows from operating activities, excluding the impact of deferred taxes and relative changes in assets and liabilities, are generally similar to
trends in our income from operations.  Cash flows provided by operating activities increased from $760,000 in 2008 to $1.4 million in 2009.  The $631,000
increase in cash provided by operating activities includes the net effect of:

·  Kronos’ suspension of its quarterly dividend in 2009,
·  lower income from operations in 2009 of $22.2 million (excluding the litigation settlement pre-tax gain of $11.3 million and the non-cash write-

down of $.7 million on assets held for sale in 2009 and the litigation settlement pre-tax gain of $48.8 million and the $10.1 million non-cash
goodwill impairment charge in 2008),

·  a higher amount of net cash provided by relative changes in receivables, inventories and payables and accrued liabilities in 2009 of $25.5 million,
·  lower cash paid for income taxes in 2009 of $16.9 million,
·  lower interest income of $5.3 million in 2009 primarily due to $4.3 million of interest received from certain escrow funds in 2008,
·  lower cash paid for interest of $1.0 million in 2009 related to CompX’s affiliate note payable and
·  higher adjustments to the provision for inventory reserves in 2009 of approximately $827,000 due to an increase in obsolete inventory resulting

from reduced demand.

Cash flows provided by operating activities increased from $2.8 million used in operating activities in 2007 to $760,000 provided by operating activities in
2008.  The $3.5 million increase in cash provided by operating activities includes the net effect of:

·  higher income from operations in 2008 of $10.4 million (excluding both the $10.1 million non-cash goodwill impairment charge and the litigation
settlement pre-tax gain of $48.8 million), due primarily to lower litigation expense of $7.5 million and lower depreciation and amortization in 2008
of $2.0 million,

·  higher interest income of $3.2 million in 2008 primarily due to $4.3 million of interest received from certain escrow funds,
·  higher cash paid for environmental liabilities in 2008 of $2.3 million,
·  lower net cash provided by relative changes in our inventories and receivables of $3.0 million and
·  higher cash paid for interest in 2008 of $2.2 million due to CompX’s issuance of its note payable to an affiliate in the fourth quarter of 2007.

We do not have complete access to CompX’s cash flows in part because we do not own 100% of CompX.  A detail of our consolidated cash flows
from operating activities is presented in the table below.  Intercompany dividends have been eliminated.  The reference to NL Parent in the tables below is a
reference to NL Industries, Inc., as the parent company of CompX and our other wholly-owned subsidiaries.

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
Cash provided by (used in) operating
 activities:          
  CompX  $ 11.9  $ 15.7  $ 15.3 
  NL Parent and wholly-owned subsidiaries   (9.3)   (9.5)   (8.5)
Eliminations   (5.4)   (5.4)    (5.4)
             
  Total  $ (2.8)  $ .8  $ 1.4 

Relative changes in working capital can have a significant effect on cash flows from operating activities.  As shown below, our average days sales
outstanding decreased from December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2009.  In absolute terms, however, we reduced trade accounts receivable by $5.1 million in
2009 as compared to December 31, 2008.  The reduction in our average days sales outstanding was the result of our efforts to increase our accounts receivable
collection efforts in order to reduce our exposure to bad debts in light of the challenging economic environment.  Also shown below, our average number of
days in inventory decreased from December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2009.  In addition, we reduced inventory by $6.4 million in 2009 as compared to
2008.  The overall decrease in days in inventory was the result of our focus on inventory management controls in order to ensure our inventory balances are
aligned with the current needs of our business in light of the reduction in customer demand.  We have provided 2007 data for comparative purposes below.

    
 2007 2008 2009
    
Days sales outstanding 44 Days 41 Days 37 Days
Days in inventory 63 Days 70 Days 64 Days



Investing activities

Net cash provided by investing activities totaled $32.4 million in 2009, $7.1 million in 2008, and $17.5 million in 2007. Capital expenditures,
substantially all of which relate to CompX, were $2.3 million in 2009, $6.9 million in 2008, and $14.0 million in 2007.  Capital expenditures in the past
three years have primarily emphasized improving our manufacturing facilities and investing in manufacturing equipment which utilizes new technologies
and increases automation of the manufacturing process to provide for increased productivity and efficiency.

During 2009:
·  we received $11.8 million from the second closing contained in a settlement agreement related to condemnation proceedings on certain

real property we formerly owned in New Jersey,
·  we collected $22.2 million on notes receivable from affiliates,
·  we used $2.3 million for capital expenditures, substantially all of which relates to CompX, and
·  we purchased approximately 2,800 shares of Valhi in open-market transactions for an aggregate amount of $33,000, and we purchased

approximately 14,000 shares of Kronos in open–market transactions for an aggregate amount of $139,000.

During 2008:
·  We received $39.6 million from the initial closing contained in a settlement agreement related to condemnation proceedings on certain

real property we owned in New Jersey,
·  We provided loans to affiliates in the aggregate amount of $22.2 million,
·  CompX purchased approximately 126,000 shares of its common stock in market transactions for $1.0 million,
·  We purchased approximately 79,500 shares of Kronos common stock for $.8 million and approximately 79,000 shares of Valhi for $1.1

million in market transactions and
·  We used a net $2.6 million of cash to fund two new escrow accounts related to environmental matters (such escrow funds are classified as

restricted cash.)

In addition during 2008 we received a $15 million promissory note related to the settlement of condemnation proceedings.  See Notes 9 and 19 to
our Consolidated Financial Statements.

During 2007:
·  We sold 800,000 shares of TIMET common stock to Valhi at a cash price of $33.50 per share, or an aggregate of $26.8 million,
·  We had additional net proceeds from sales of other marketable securities of $4.2 million and
·  CompX purchased approximately 179,100 shares of its common stock in market transactions for $3.3 million.

In addition, during 2007 CompX repurchased or cancelled a net 2.7 million shares of its Class A common stock held by TIMET, an affiliate, for
$19.50 per share, or aggregate consideration of $52.6 million, which was paid in the form of a consolidated promissory note.  See Notes 2 and 17 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $25.9 million, $32.2 million, and $27.3 million in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.  We paid cash
dividends of $24.3 million ($.50 per share) in each of 2009, 2008 and 2007.  Other financing activities over the past three years consisted principally of:

·  CompX paid cash dividends to noncontrolling interests in the amount of $.8 million in 2009, $.8 million in 2008 and $1.9 million in
2007,

·  CompX prepaid $.8 million in 2009, $7.0 million in 2008 and $2.6 million in 2007 on its note payable to TIMET and
·  CompX received proceeds from the exercise of options to purchase CompX common stock of $1.4 million in 2007.

CompX and Kronos are in compliance with all of their debt covenants at December 31, 2009.  Our and our affiliates’ ability to borrow funds under
our credit facilities in the future will, in some instances, depend in part on our ability to comply with specified financial ratios and satisfy certain financial
covenants contained in the applicable credit agreements.

Certain of Kronos’ credit facilities require the maintenance of minimum levels of equity, require the maintenance of certain financial ratios, limit
dividends and additional indebtedness and contain other provisions and restrictive covenants customary in lending transactions of this type.  In this regard,
in the first half of 2009 Kronos reduced its production levels in response to the current economic environment, which favorably impacted its liquidity and
cash flows by reducing inventory levels.  The reduced capacity utilization levels negatively impacted Kronos’ 2009 results of operations due to the resulting
unabsorbed fixed production costs that are charged to expense as incurred.  Furthermore, lower sales negatively impacted Kronos’ results of operations in the
first half of 2009.  As a result, we did not expect Kronos to maintain compliance under its European revolving credit facility with the required financial ratio
of the borrowers’ net secured debt to earnings before income taxes, interest and depreciation, as defined in the credit facility, for the 12-month period ending
March 31, 2009.  Beginning on March 20, 2009, the lenders associated with Kronos’ European revolving credit facility agreed to a series of waivers for
compliance with such required financial ratio.  On September 15, 2009 Kronos and the lenders entered into the Fourth Amendment to the credit
facility.  Among other things, the Fourth Amendment added two additional financial covenants and increased the rate on outstanding borrowings to LIBOR
plus a margin ranging from 3% to 4% depending on the amount of outstanding borrowings.  Upon achieving a specified financial covenant, these two
additional financial covenants will no longer be in effect, and the interest rate on outstanding borrowings will be reduced to LIBOR plus 1.75%. 
Additionally the borrowing availability under the line is limited to euro 51 million ($73.5 million at December 31, 2009) until Kronos is in compliance with
certain specified financial covenants, and in any event no earlier than March 31, 2010.  We believe that Kronos will be able to comply with the new financial
covenants through the maturity of the facility; however if future operating results differ materially from our predictions Kronos may be unable to maintain
compliance.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, Kronos amended the terms of its Canadian revolving credit facility to reduce the size of the facility from Cdn. $30
million to Cdn. $20 million and extend the maturity date to January 2012.

At December 31, 2009, Kronos is in compliance with all of its debt covenants.

Liquidity

Our primary source of liquidity on an ongoing basis is our cash flow from operating activities.  We generally use these amounts to (i) fund capital
expenditures (substantially all of which relate to CompX), (ii) pay ongoing environmental remediation and legal expenses and (iii) provide for the payment
of debt service and dividends.

At December 31, 2009, there were no amounts outstanding under CompX’s $37.5 million revolving credit facility that matures in January 2012 and



there are no current expectations to borrow on the revolving credit facility in the near term.  As a result of covenant restrictions relating to the ratio of
earnings before interest and tax to cash interest expense, as defined in the Credit Agreement, CompX would not have been able to borrow under the Credit
Agreement during the third or fourth quarters of 2009 due to a loss before interest and tax incurred in each of those quarters, respectively.  Any future losses
before interest and tax would also likely restrict or prohibit borrowings under the Credit Agreement.  However, there are no current expectations that CompX
will be required to borrow on the revolving credit facility in the near term as cash flows from operations are expected to be sufficient to fund its future
liquidity requirements.  See “Outlook” for further discussion of expectations relating to compliance with credit facility debt covenants.

While the required ratio of earnings before interest and tax to cash interest expense limited CompX’s ability to borrow under the Credit Agreement
during the third and fourth quarters of 2009, the financial covenant does not directly impact CompX’s ability to pay dividends on its common stock.  CompX
believes that cash generated from operations together with cash on hand will be sufficient to meet its liquidity needs for working capital, capital
expenditures, debt service and dividends (if declared) for at least the next twelve months.  To the extent that actual operating results or other developments
differ from our expectations, CompX’s liquidity could be adversely affected.

At December 31, 2009, we had an aggregate of $36.9 million of restricted and unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and debt securities.  A detail by
entity is presented in the table below.

  CompX $20.8
  NL Parent and wholly-owned subsidiaries  16.1
  

Total $36.9

We routinely compare our liquidity requirements and alternative uses of capital against the estimated future cash flows we expect to receive from our
subsidiaries and affiliates.  As a result of this process, we have in the past and may in the future seek to raise additional capital, incur debt, repurchase
indebtedness in the market or otherwise, modify our dividend policies, consider the sale of our interests in our subsidiaries, affiliates, business units,
marketable securities or other assets, or take a combination of these and other steps, to increase liquidity, reduce indebtedness and fund future
activities.  Such activities have in the past and may in the future involve related companies.

We periodically evaluate acquisitions of interests in or combinations with companies (including related companies) perceived by management to be
undervalued in the marketplace.  These companies may or may not be engaged in businesses related to our current businesses.  We intend to consider such
acquisition activities in the future and, in connection with this activity, may consider issuing additional equity securities and increasing indebtedness.  From
time to time, we also evaluate the restructuring of ownership interests among our respective subsidiaries and related companies.

Based upon our expectations of our operating performance, and the anticipated demands on our cash resources we expect to have sufficient liquidity
to meet our short-term obligations (defined as the twelve-month period ending December 31, 2010).  If actual developments differ from our expectations, our
liquidity could be adversely affected.  In this regard, during 2010 we currently expect to borrow funds from CompX in order to meet our cash requirements,
and CompX has agreed to loan us up to $8 million.  The amount of any such outstanding loan CompX would make to us at any time is at CompX’s
discretion.  It is probable during 2010 that CompX will loan amounts to us in addition to the $8 million available under the promissory note.  Any such loans
would be eliminated in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Capital Expenditures

We currently expect that our aggregate capital expenditures for CompX in 2010 will be approximately $3.6 million compared to $2.3 million in
2009 and $6.8 million in 2008.  CompX’s planned capital expenditures in 2009 were limited to expenditures required to meet expected customer demand
and properly maintain our facilities.  Capital spending for 2010 is expected to be funded through cash on hand and cash generated from operations and relate
to expenditures required to meet expected customer demand and to properly maintain our facilities.   Kronos intends to spend approximately $43 million for
major improvements and upgrades to existing facilities during 2010, including approximately $12 million in the area of environmental protection and
compliance.

Dividends

Because our operations are conducted primarily through subsidiaries and affiliates, our long-term ability to meet parent company-level corporate
obligations is largely dependent on the receipt of dividends or other distributions from our subsidiaries and affiliates.  CompX currently pays a regular
quarterly dividend of $.125 per share.  At that rate, and based on the 10.8 million shares of CompX we held at December 31, 2009, we would receive annual
dividends from CompX of $5.4 million.  In addition, Valhi pays regular quarterly dividends of $.10 per share.  Based on the 4.8 million shares of Valhi we
held at December 31, 2009, we would receive annual dividends from Valhi of $1.9 million. In February 2009, Kronos and TIMET announced the suspension
of their regularly quarterly dividends in consideration of the challenges and opportunities that exist in the respective TiO2 pigments and titanium metals
industries.  We received aggregate dividends from Kronos and TIMET of $17.5 million and $435,000, respectively, in 2008.

Investments in our Subsidiaries and Affiliates and other Acquisitions

We have in the past, and may in the future, purchase the securities of our subsidiaries and affiliates or third-parties in market or privately-negotiated
transactions.  We base our purchase decisions on a variety of factors, including an analysis of the optimal use of our capital, taking into account the market
value of the securities and the relative value of expected returns on alternative investments.  In connection with these activities, we may consider issuing
additional equity securities or increasing our indebtedness.  We may also evaluate the restructuring of ownership interests of our businesses among our
subsidiaries and related companies.

During 2009, we purchased approximately 14,000 shares of Kronos in open-market transactions for an aggregate amount of $139,000.  Also during
2009 we purchased approximately 2,800 shares of Valhi in open-market transactions for an aggregate amount of $33,000.  During 2008 we purchased
approximately 79,000 shares of Valhi in open-market transactions for an aggregate amount of $1.1 million and we purchased approximately 79,500 shares of
Kronos in open–market transactions for an aggregate amount of $800,000.  See Notes 4 and 7 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Summary of debt and other contractual commitments

As more fully described in the notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements, we are party to various debt, lease and other agreements which
contractually and unconditionally commit us to pay certain amounts in the future.  See Notes 12 and 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.  The
following table summarizes our contractual commitments as of December 31, 2009 by the type and date of payment.

  Payment due date  
 

Contractual commitment  2010    2011/2012   2013/2014  
2015 and

After   Total  
  (In millions)  



Note and interest payable to affiliate  $ -  $ 3.5  $ 41.1  $ -  $ 44.6 
Estimated tax obligations   .3   -   -   -   .3 
Operating leases   .6   .7   -   -   1.3 
Purchase obligations   11.4   -   -   -   11.4 
Fixed asset acquisitions   .4   -   -    -   .4 
                     
  $ 12.7  $ 4.2  $ 41.1  $ -  $ 58.0 
    

The timing and amount shown for our commitments related to notes payable, operating leases and fixed asset acquisitions are based upon the
contractual payment amount and the contractual payment date for such commitments.  The timing and amount shown for raw material and other purchase
obligations, which consist of all open purchase orders and contractual obligations (primarily commitments to purchase raw materials) is also based on the
contractual payment amount and the contractual payment date for such commitments.  The amount shown for income taxes is the consolidated amount of
income taxes payable including the net amount payable to Valhi under our tax sharing agreement at December 31, 2009, which is assumed to be paid during
2010.  Fixed asset acquisitions include firm purchase commitments for capital projects.

The above table does not reflect any amounts that we might pay to fund our defined benefit pension and OPEB plans, as the timing and amount of
any such future fundings are unknown and dependent on, among other things, the future performance of defined benefit pension plan assets, interest rate
assumptions and actual future retiree medical costs.  Such defined benefit pension plans and OPEB plans are discussed above in greater detail.

The above table also does not reflect any amounts that we might pay to settle any of our uncertain tax positions, as the timing and amount of any
such future settlements are unknown and dependent on, among other things, the timing of tax audits.  See Notes 15 and 21 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Commitments and contingencies

We are subject to certain commitments and contingencies, as more fully described in Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements or in Part I, Item 3 of
this report.  In addition to those legal proceedings described in Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements, various legislation and administrative
regulations have, from time to time, been proposed that seek to (i) impose various obligations on present and former manufacturers of lead pigment and lead-
based paint (including us) with respect to asserted health concerns associated with the use of such products and (ii) effectively overturn court decisions in
which we and other pigment manufacturers have been successful.  Examples of such proposed legislation include bills which would permit civil liability for
damages on the basis of market share, rather than requiring plaintiffs to prove that the defendant's product caused the alleged damage, and bills which would
revive actions barred by the statute of limitations.  While no legislation or regulations have been enacted to date that are expected to have a material adverse
effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity, enactment of such legislation could have such an effect.

Off balance sheet financing arrangements

Other than operating lease commitments disclosed in Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements, we are not party to any material off-balance
sheet financing arrangements.

ITEM 7A.                                QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

General - We are exposed to market risk from changes in currency exchange rates, interest rates, raw materials and equity security prices.

Interest rates - We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates, primarily related to our indebtedness.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, CompX had no amounts outstanding under its secured Revolving Bank Credit Agreement.  In conjunction with
CompX’s repurchase and/or cancellation of a net 2.7 million shares of its class A common stock, during the fourth quarter of 2007, CompX issued a
promissory note for $52.6 million.  See Notes 12 and 17 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.  At December 31, 2009, there was $42.2 million
outstanding on the promissory note ($43.0 million at December 31, 2008) which bears interest at LIBOR plus 1%, (1.25% and 5.05% at December 31, 2009
and 2008, respectively) and the fair value of such indebtedness approximates its carrying value.  The interest rate is reset quarterly based on the three month
LIBOR.
 

Currency exchange rates - We are exposed to market risk arising from changes in currency exchange rates as a result of manufacturing and selling
our products outside the United States (principally Canada and Taiwan).  A portion of sales generated from our non-U.S. operations are denominated in
currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally the Canadian dollar and the New Taiwan dollar.  In addition, a portion of our sales generated from our non-
U.S. operations are denominated in the U.S. dollar.  Most raw materials, labor and other production costs for such non-U.S. operations are denominated
primarily in local currencies.  Consequently, the translated U.S. dollar value of our non-U.S. sales and operating results are subject to currency exchange rate
fluctuations which may favorably or unfavorably impact reported earnings and may affect comparability of period-to-period operating results.

As mentioned above, certain of our sales generated by CompX’s non-U.S. operations are denominated in U.S. dollars.  To mitigate the financial
statement impact of changes in currency exchange rates, CompX periodically enters into forward currency contracts.  At each balance sheet date, outstanding
forward currency contracts are marked to market with any resulting gain or loss recognized in income currently unless the contract is designated as a hedge
upon which the mark-to-market adjustment is recorded in other comprehensive income. We had no forward currency contracts outstanding at December 31,
2009.

To manage a portion of the currency exchange rate market risk associated with receivables, or similar exchange rate risk associated with future sales,
at December 31, 2008 CompX had entered into a series of short-term forward currency exchange contracts to exchange an aggregate of $7.5 million for an
equivalent value of Canadian dollars at exchange rates of Cdn. $1.25 to $1.26 per U.S. dollar.  These contracts qualified for hedge accounting and matured
through June 2009.  At December 31, 2008, the actual exchange rate was Cdn. $1.22 per U.S. dollar.  The estimated fair value of such contracts was not
material at December 31, 2008.

Marketable equity and debt security prices - We are exposed to market risk due to changes in prices of the marketable securities which we own.  The
fair value of equity securities at December 31, 2008 and 2009 was $64.0 million and $85.1 million, respectively.  The potential change in the aggregate fair
value of these investments, assuming a 10% change in prices, would be $6.4 million at December 31, 2008 and $8.5 million at December 31, 2009.  The fair
value of marketable debt securities at December 31, 2008 was $5.5 million and was $5.2 million at December 31, 2009.  The potential change in the
aggregate fair value of these investments assuming a 10% change in prices would be $550,000 at December 31, 2008 and $520,000 at December 31, 2009.

Raw materials - CompX will occasionally enter into raw material arrangements to mitigate the short-term impact of future increases in raw material
costs.  Otherwise, we generally do not have long-term supply agreements for our raw material requirements because either we believe the risk of
unavailability of those raw materials is low and we believe the price to be stable or because long-term supply agreements for those materials are generally not
available.  We do not engage in commodity hedging programs.



Other - We believe there may be a certain amount of incompleteness in the sensitivity analyses presented above.  For example, the hypothetical effect of
changes in interest rates discussed above ignores the potential effect on other variables which affect our results of operations and cash flows, such as demand
for our products, sales volumes, selling prices and operating expenses.  Contrary to the above assumptions, changes in interest rates rarely result in
simultaneous parallel shifts along the yield curve.  Accordingly, the amounts presented above are not necessarily an accurate reflection of the potential losses
we would incur assuming the hypothetical changes in market prices were actually to occur.

The above discussion and estimated sensitivity analysis amounts include forward-looking statements of market risk which assume hypothetical changes in
market prices.  Actual future market conditions will likely differ materially from such assumptions.  Accordingly, such forward-looking statements should not
be considered to be projections of future events, gains or losses.

ITEM 8.                      FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information called for by this Item is contained in a separate section of this Annual Report.  See "Index of Financial Statements and Schedules" (page F-
1).

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A.               CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

We maintain a system of disclosure controls and procedures.  The term "disclosure controls and procedures," as defined by Exchange Act Rule 13a-
15(e), means controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit to the
SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in
the SEC's rules and forms.  Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information we are
required to disclose in the reports we file or submit to the SEC under the Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive officer and our principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions to be made regarding
required disclosure.  Each of Harold C. Simmons, our Chief Executive Officer, and Gregory M. Swalwell, our Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial
Officer, have evaluated the design and effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2009.  Based upon their evaluation, these
executive officers have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of December 31, 2009.

Internal control over financial reporting

We also maintain internal control over financial reporting.  The term “internal control over financial reporting,” as defined by Exchange Act Rule
13a-15(f) means a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar
functions, and effected by the board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP, and includes those policies and procedures that:

·  pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets,
·  provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP,

and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors and
·  provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of an unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could

have a material effect on our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to report on internal control over financial reporting in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2009.  Our independent registered public accounting firm is also required to audit our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2009.

As permitted by the SEC, our assessment of internal control over financial reporting excludes (i) internal control over financial reporting of equity
method investees and (ii) internal control over the preparation of our financial statement schedules required by Article 12 of Regulation S-X.  However, our
assessment of internal control over financial reporting with respect to equity method investees did include controls over the recording of amounts related to
our investment that are recorded in the consolidated financial statements, including controls over the selection of accounting methods for our investments,
the recognition of equity method earnings and losses and the determination, valuation and recording of our investment account balances.

 
Changes in internal control over financial reporting

There has been no change to our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2009 that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f).  Our evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting is based upon the criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (commonly
referred to as the “COSO” framework).  Based on our evaluation under that framework, we have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2009.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that has audited our consolidated financial statements included in this
Annual Report, has audited the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, as stated in their report which is
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Certifications

Our chief executive officer is required to annually file a certification with the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), certifying our compliance with
the corporate governance listing standards of the NYSE.  During 2009, our chief executive officer filed such annual certification with the NYSE.  The 2009
certification was unqualified.

Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer are also required to, among other things, quarterly file certifications with the SEC regarding the
quality of our public disclosures, as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  We have filed the certifications for the quarter ended
December 31, 2009 as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.



ITEM 9B.                      OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
 

PART III

ITEM 10.                      DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report (the "NL Proxy Statement").

ITEM 11.                      EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the NL Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12.                      SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the NL Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13.                      CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the NL Proxy Statement.  See also Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 14.                      PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The Information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the NL Proxy Statement.
 
 

PART IV

ITEM 15.                      EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

 (a) and (c) Financial Statements and Schedules

The Registrant
 

The consolidated financial statements and schedules of the Registrant listed on the accompanying Index of Financial Statements and
Schedules (see page F-1) are filed as part of this Annual Report.

50%-or-less persons

 The consolidated financial statements of Kronos (36%-owned at December 31, 2009) are incorporated by reference in Exhibit 99.1 of this
Annual Report pursuant to Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X.  Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting of Kronos is
not included as part of Exhibit 99.1.  The Registrant is not required to provide any other consolidated financial statements pursuant to Rule
3-09 of Regulation S-X.

  (b) Exhibits

We have included as exhibits the items listed in the Exhibit Index.  We will furnish a copy of any of the exhibits listed below upon
payment of $4.00 per exhibit to cover our cost to furnish the exhibits.  Pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K, any instrument
defining the rights of holders of long-term debt issues and other agreements related to indebtedness which do not exceed 10% of
consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2009 will be furnished to the Commission upon request.

We will also furnish, without charge, a copy of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, as adopted by the board of directors on February
19, 2004, upon request.  Such requests should be directed to the attention of our Corporate Secretary at our corporate offices located at
5430 LBJ Freeway, Suite 1700, Dallas, Texas 75240.

Item No.                                                 Exhibit Index

2.1 Form of Distribution Agreement between NL Industries, Inc. and Kronos Worldwide, Inc. – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Kronos Worldwide, Inc. Registration Statement on Form 10 (File No. 001-31763).

3.1 Certificate of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated May 22, 2008 - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 to the
Registrant’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-00640) for the annual meeting held on May 21, 2008.

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of NL Industries, Inc. as of May 23, 2008 – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-00640) filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on May 23, 2008.

4.1 Indenture governing the 6.5% Senior Secured Notes due 2013, dated
 as of April 11, 2006, between Kronos International,  Inc. and The
 Bank of New York, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Kronos International, Inc. (File

No. 333-100047) that was filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 2006).
 
 
10.1  Lease Contract dated June 21, 1952, between Farbenfabriken Bayer Aktiengesellschaft and Titangesellschaft mit beschrankter Haftung

(German language version and English translation thereof) - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K (File No. 001-00640) for the year ended December 31, 1985.



10.2  Formation Agreement dated as of October 18, 1993 among Tioxide Americas Inc., Kronos Louisiana, Inc. and Louisiana Pigment Company,
L.P. - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-00640) for the quarter
ended September 30, 1993.

10.3  Joint Venture Agreement dated as of October 18, 1993 between Tioxide Americas Inc. and Kronos Louisiana, Inc. - incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-00640) for the quarter ended September 30, 1993.

10.4  Kronos Offtake Agreement dated as of October 18, 1993 between Kronos Louisiana, Inc. and Louisiana Pigment Company, L.P. -
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-00640) for the quarter ended
September 30, 1993.

10.5  Amendment No. 1 to Kronos Offtake Agreement dated as of December 20, 1995 between Kronos Louisiana, Inc. and Louisiana Pigment
Company, L.P. - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-00640) for the
year ended December 31, 1995.

10.6  Tioxide Americas Offtake Agreement dated as of October 18, 1993 between Tioxide Americas Inc. and Louisiana Pigment Company, L.P. -
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-00640) for the quarter ended
September 30, 1993.

10.7  Amendment No. 1 to Tioxide Americas Offtake Agreement dated as of December 20, 1995 between Tioxide Americas Inc. and Louisiana
Pigment Company, L.P. - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-00640)
for the year ended December 31, 1995.

10.8  Parents’ Undertaking dated as of October 18, 1993 between ICI American Holdings Inc. and Kronos Worldwide, Inc. (f/k/a Kronos, Inc.) -
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-00640) for the quarter ended
September 30, 1993.

10.9  Allocation Agreement dated as of October 18, 1993 between Tioxide Americas Inc., ICI American Holdings, Inc., Kronos Worldwide, Inc.
(f/k/a Kronos, Inc.). and Kronos Louisiana, Inc. - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (File No. 001-00640) for the quarter ended September 30, 1993.

10.10 * Form of Kronos Worldwide, Inc. 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Kronos Worldwide, Inc.
Registration Statement on Form 10 (File No. 001-31763).

10.11  Intercorporate Services Agreement by and between Contran Corporation and Kronos Worldwide, Inc. – incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Kronos Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-31763) for the quarter ended March 31, 2004.

10.12  Form of Tax Agreement between Valhi, Inc. and Kronos Worldwide, Inc – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Kronos
Worldwide, Inc. Registration Statement on Form 10 (File No. 001-31763).

10.13  Euro 80,000,000 Facility Agreement, dated June 25, 2002, among Kronos Titan GmbH & Co. OHG, Kronos Europe S.A./N.V., Kronos Titan
A/S and Titania A/S, as borrowers, Kronos Titan GmbH & Co. OHG, Kronos Europe S.A./N.V. and Kronos Norge AS, as guarantors, Kronos
Denmark ApS, as security provider, Deutsche Bank AG, as mandated lead arranger, Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A., as agent and security
agent, and KBC Bank NV, as fronting bank, and the financial institutions listed in Schedule 1 thereto, as lenders - incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NL Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-00640) for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.

10.14  First Amendment Agreement, dated September 3, 2004, Relating to a Facility Agreement dated June 25, 2002 among Kronos Titan GmbH,
Kronos Europe S.A./N.V., Kronos Titan AS and Titania A/S, as borrowers, Kronos Titan GmbH, Kronos Europe S.A./N.V. and Kronos Norge
AS, as guarantors, Kronos Denmark ApS, as security provider, with Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A., acting as agent – incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of Kronos Worldwide, Inc. (File No. 333-119639).

10.15  Second Amendment Agreement Relating to a Facility Agreement dated June 25, 2002 executed as of June 14, 2005 by and among
Deutsche Bank AG, as mandated lead arranger, Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. as agent, the participating lenders, Kronos Titan GmbH,
Kronos Europe S.A./N.V, Kronos Titan AS, Kronos Norge AS, Titania AS and Kronos Denmark ApS – incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Annual report on Form 10-K (File No. 333-100047) of Kronos International, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009.

10.16  Third Amendment Agreement Relating to a Facility Agreement dated June 25, 2002 executed as of May 26, 2008 by and among Deutsche
Bank AG, as mandated lead arranger, Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A., as agent, the participating lenders, Kronos Titan GmbH, Kronos
Europe S.A.,/N.V, Kronos Titan AS, Kronos Norge AS, Titania AS and Kronos Denmark ApS – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Annual report on Form 10-K (File No. 333-100047) of Kronos International, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009.

10.17  Fourth Amendment Agreement Relating to a Facility Agreement dated June 25, 2002 executed as of September 15, 2009 by and among
Deutsche Bank AG, as mandated lead arranger, Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A., as agent, the participating lenders, Kronos Titan GmbH,
Kronos Europe S.A./N.V., Kronos Titan AS, Kronos Norge AS, Titania AS and Kronos Denmark ApS – incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5 to the Annual report on Form 10-K (File No. 333-100047) of Kronos International, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009.

10.18  Intercorporate Services Agreement between CompX International Inc. and Contran Corporation effective as of January 1, 2004 –
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the CompX International Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-13905) for the year
ended December 31, 2004.

10.19*  CompX International Inc. 1997 Long-Term Incentive Plan – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the CompX International Inc.
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 1-13905).

10.20  $50,000,000 Credit Agreement between CompX International Inc. and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Agent and various lending
institutions dated December 23, 2005 – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of CompX International Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-
13905) for the year ended December 31, 2009.

10.21  First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of October 16, 2007 among CompX International Inc., CompX Security Products, Inc.,
CompX Precision Slides Inc., CompX Marine Inc., Custom Marine Inc., Livorsi Marine Inc., Wachovia Bank, National Association for itself
and as administrative agent for Compass Bank and Comerica Bank - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of CompX International
Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-13905) for the year ended December 31, 2007.



 
10.22  Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of January 15, 2009 among CompX International Inc., CompX Security Products Inc.,

CompX Precision Slides Inc., CompX Marine Inc., Custom Marine Inc., Livorsi Marine Inc., Wachovia Bank, National Association for itself
and as administrative agent for Compass Bank and Comerica Bank - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-13905) filed on January 21, 2009.

10.23  Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of September 21, 2009 by and among CompX International Inc., CompX Security Products
Inc., CompX Precision Slides Inc., CompX Marine Inc., Custom Marine Inc., Livorsi Marine Inc., Wachovia Bank, National Association and
Comerica Bank - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-13905) filed on
September 24, 2009.

10.24  Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 11, 2007 between NL Industries, Inc. and Valhi, Inc., - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
of CompX International Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-13905) for the year ended December 31, 2007.

10.25  Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 16, 2007 between CompX International, Inc. and TIMET Finance Management Company –
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of CompX International Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-13905) for the year ended December 31,
2007.

10.26  Form of Subordination Agreement among CompX International Inc., TIMET Finance Management Company, CompX Security Products,
Inc., CompX Precision Sildes Inc., CompX Marine Inc., Custom Marine Inc., Livorsi Marine Inc., Wachovia Bank, National Association as
administrative agent for itself, Compass Bank and Comerica Bank – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of CompX International
Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-13905) for the year ended December 31, 2007.

10.27  First Amendment to Subordination Agreement dated as of the September 21, 2009 by TIMET Finance Management Company and
Wachovia Bank, National Association – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 24, 2009 (File No. 1-13905).

10.28  Subordinated Term Loan Promissory Note dated October 26, 2007 executed by CompX International Inc. and payable to the order of
TIMET Finance Management Company – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of CompX International Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-
13905) for the year ended December 31, 2007.

10.29  Amended and Restated Subordinated Term Loan Promissory Note dated September 21, 2009 in the original principal amount of
$42,230,190 payable to the order of TIMET Finance Management Company by CompX International Inc. – incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-13905) filed on September 24, 2009.

10.30*  NL Industries, Inc. 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan - incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the NL Industries, Inc. Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A (File No. 001-00640) for the annual meeting of shareholders held on May 6, 1998.

10.31  Insurance Sharing Agreement, effective January 1, 1990, by and between the Registrant, NL Insurance, Ltd. (an indirect subsidiary of
Tremont Corporation) and Baroid Corporation - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the NL Industries, Inc. Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 001-00640) for the year ended December 31, 1991.

10.32  Amended Tax Agreement among NL Industries, Inc., Valhi, Inc. and Contran Corporation effective November 30, 2004 – incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-00640) as of November 30, 2004.

10.33  Intercorporate Services Agreement by and between Contran Corporation and NL Industries, Inc. effective as of January 1, 2004 –
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the NL Industries, Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-00640) for the quarter
ended March 31, 2004.

10.34  Insurance sharing agreement dated October 30, 2003 by and among CompX International Inc., Contran Corporation, Keystone
Consolidated Industries, Inc., Kronos Worldwide, Inc., Titanium Metals Corp., Valhi, Inc. and NL Industries, Inc. – incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.48 to the NL Industries, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-00640) for the year ended December 31,
2003.

10.35**  Reinstated and Amended Settlement Agreement and Release, dated June 26, 2008, by and among NL Industries, Inc., NL Environmental
Management Services, Inc., the Sayreville Economic and Redevelopment Agency, Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P., and the County of
Middlesex.

 
10.36  Amendment to Restated and Amended Settlement Agreement and Release, dated September 25, 2008 by and among NL Industries, Inc., NL

Environmental Management Services, Inc., the Sayreville Economic and Redevelopment Agency, Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P., and
the County of Middlesex - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the NL Industries, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-
00640) that was filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on October 16, 2008.

10.37  Mortgage Note, dated October 15, 2008 by Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P. in favor of NL Industries, Inc. and NL Environmental
Management Services, Inc - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the NL Industries, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-
00640) that was filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on October 16, 2008.

10.38**  Leasehold Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated October 15, 2008, by Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P. in
favor of NL Industries, Inc. and NL Environmental Management Services, Inc.

10.39**  Intercreditor, Subordination and Standstill Agreement, dated October 15, 2008, by NL Industries, Inc., NL Environmental Management
Services, Inc., Bank of America, N.A. on behalf of itself and the other financial institutions, and acknowledged and consented to by
Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P. and J. Brian O'Neill

10.40**  Multi Party Agreement, dated October 15, 2008 by and among Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P., Sayreville Seaport Associates
Acquisition Company, LLC, OPG Participation, LLC, J. Brian O'Neill, NL Industries, Inc., NL Environmental Management Services, Inc.,
The Prudential Insurance Company of America, Sayreville PRISA II LLC.

10.41  Guaranty Agreement, dated October 15, 2008, by J. Brian O’Neill in favor of NL Industries, Inc. and NL Environmental Management
Services, Inc - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the NL Industries, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-00640) that
was filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on October 16, 2008.



10.42  Unsecured Revolving Demand Promissory Note dated October 29, 2008 in the original principal amount of $40.0 million executed by
Kronos Worldwide, Inc. and payable to the order of NL Industries, Inc. - incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K that Kronos Worldwide, Inc. (Commission File No. 1-31763) filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on October
29, 2008.

10.43  Unsecured Revolving Demand Promissory Note dated November 5, 2008 in the original principal amount of $40.0 million executed by
Valhi, Inc. and payable to the order of NL Industries, Inc. -incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the NL Industries, Inc. Current
Report on Form 8-K, Commission (File No. 001-0064), that was filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on November 5,
2008.

21.1** Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1** Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP with respect to NL’s consolidated financial statements.

23.2** Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP with respect to Kronos’ consolidated financial
statements                         

 
31.1** Certification
 
31.2** Certification
 
32.1** Certification

99.1 Consolidated financial statements of Kronos Worldwide, Inc. – incorporated by reference to Kronos’ Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-
31763) for the year ended December 31, 2009.

                                      

* Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
** Filed herewith
 
 

 



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NL Industries, Inc.
 (Registrant)

By:/s/ Harold C. Simmons
Harold C. Simmons
March 9, 2010
(Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of NL Industries, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive income, of
stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of NL Industries, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31,
2008 and 2009 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the
accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial
statements.  Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).  The Company's management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting under Item 9A.  Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial
statement schedule, and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.  Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.  Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk.  Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company changed the manner in which it classified its noncontrolling interest
in 2009.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 9, 2010

 
 



 

NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 16,450  $ 24,555 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents   7,457   7,157 
Marketable securities   5,534   5,225 
Accounts and other receivables, net   25,513   14,165 
Receivable from affiliates   3,150   2,888 
Inventories, net   22,661   16,266 
Prepaid expenses and other   1,435   1,349 
Deferred income taxes   5,766   5,039 

         
Total current assets   87,966   76,644 

         
Other assets:         

Marketable equity securities   64,000   85,073 
Investment in and advances to
 Kronos Worldwide, Inc.   133,745   112,766 
Goodwill   44,194   44,316 
Assets held for sale   3,517   2,800 
Other, net   17,832   17,026 

         
Total other assets   263,288   261,981 

         
Property and equipment:         

Land   12,232   12,368 
Buildings   32,723   34,261 
Equipment   115,546   126,203 
Construction in progress   4,406   1,180 

   164,907   174,012 
Less accumulated depreciation   96,625   109,646 

         
Net property and equipment   68,282   64,366 

         
Total assets  $ 419,536  $ 402,991 

 
 



 

NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)

(In thousands, except per share data)

   LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable  $ 6,802  $ 6,664 
Accrued liabilities   24,475   25,966 
Accrued environmental costs   9,834   8,328 
Payable to affiliates   3,139   583 
Income taxes   1,167   332 

         
Total current liabilities   45,417   41,873 

         
Noncurrent liabilities:         

Note payable and interest due to affiliate   41,980   42,540 
Accrued pension costs   11,768   12,233 
Accrued postretirement benefits (OPEB) cost   8,883   8,307 
Accrued environmental costs   40,220   37,518 
Deferred income taxes   49,215   55,750 
Other   21,823   19,112 

         
Total noncurrent liabilities   173,889   175,460 

         
         
Equity:         

NL stockholders’ equity:         
Preferred stock, no par value; 5,000 
  shares authorized; none issued   -   - 
Common stock, $.125 par value; 150,000 
  shares authorized; 48,599 and 48,612   shares issued and outstanding   6,074   6,076 
Additional paid-in capital   330,879   311,939 
Retained earnings   16,909   - 
Accumulated other comprehensive income:         
  Marketable securities   24,970   38,577 
  Currency translation   (135,922)   (128,753)
  Defined benefit pension plans   (54,333)   (52,574)
  Postretirement benefit (OPEB) plans   (213)   (661)

         
    Total NL stockholders' equity   188,364   174,604 

         
  Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary   11,866   11,054 
         
    Total equity   200,230   185,658 
         
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 419,536  $ 402,991 
         

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 15, 19 and 21)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 

 



 

NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
          
Net sales  $ 177,683  $ 165,502  $ 116,125 
Cost of goods sold   132,455   125,749   92,345 
             

Gross margin   45,228   39,753   23,780 
             
Selling, general and administrative expense   25,846   24,818   26,722 
Other operating income (expense):             

Insurance recoveries   5,659   9,610   4,631 
Facility consolidation expense   (2,665)   -   - 
Goodwill impairment   -   (10,111)   - 
Litigation settlement gains   -   48,806   11,313 
Currency transaction gains (losses), net   (1,086)   679   (236)
Assets held for sale write-down   -   -   (717)
Other income (expense), net   (256)   (131)   (75)
Corporate expense   (31,318)   (25,012)   (23,547)

             
Income (loss) from operations   (10,284)   38,776   (11,573)

             
Equity in earnings (losses) of Kronos Worldwide, Inc.   (23,901)   3,229   (12,470)
Other income (expense):             

Interest and dividends   4,778   8,010   2,752 
Securities transactions, net   22,749   (1)   (9)
Interest expense   (760)   (2,362)   (1,060)

             
Income (loss) before income taxes   (7,418)   47,652   (22,360)

             
Provision for income taxes (benefit)   (8,311)   14,850   (10,347)

             
Net income (loss)   893   32,802   (12,013)

             
Noncontrolling interest in net income (loss) of subsidiary   2,624   (382)   (258)

             
Net income (loss) attributable to NL   stockholders  $ (1,731)  $ 33,184  $ (11,755)

             
Amounts attributable to NL stockholders:             
             

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per   share  $ (.04)  $ .68  $ (.24)
             

Cash dividend per share  $ .50  $ .50  $ .50 
             
Weighted-average shares used in the calculation of net income per share:             

Basic   48,590   48,596   48,609 
Dilutive impact of stock options   -   9   - 

             
Diluted   48,590   48,605   48,609 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 

 
 



 

NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands)

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
          
Net income (loss)  $ 893  $ 32,802  $ (12,013)
             
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:             
             

Marketable securities:             
Unrealized net gains (losses) arising during the year   15,475   (32,633)   13,607 
Realized gains included in net income   (14,668)   -   - 

   807   (32,633)   13,607 
             

Currency translation adjustment   10,969   (12,423)   7,415 
             

Defined benefit pension plans:             
Net actuarial gain (loss) arising during the year   10,618   (23,151)   (259)
Amortization of prior service cost, net transition obligation and net actuarial losses included

in net periodic pension cost   1,623   191   2,018 
   12,241   (22,960)   1,759 

Postretirement benefit (OPEB) plan  adjustment:             
Net actuarial gain (loss) arising during the year   861   746   (303)
Amortization of prior service credit included in net periodic pension cost   (75)   (134)   (145)

   786   612   (448)
             

Total other comprehensive income (loss)   24,803   (67,404)   22,333 
             

Comprehensive income (loss)   25,696   (34,602)   10,320 
             

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable
   to noncontrolling interest   3,441   (712)   (12)

             
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable
   to NL stockholders  $ 22,255  $ (33,890)  $ 10,332 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 

 
 



 

NL INDUSTRIES , INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009
(In thousands, except per share data)

  NL Stockholders’ Equity        
           Accumulative other        
     Additional  Retained  comprehensive income (loss)        
  Common  paid-in   earnings  Marketable  Currency   Pension   OPEB   Noncontrolling    
  stock   capital   (deficit)   securities   translation  plans   plans   interest   Total  
                            
                            
Balance at December 31, 2006  $ 6,073  $ 363,472  $ 1,826  $ 56,796  $ (133,981) $ (44,063) $ (1,611) $ 45,416  $ 293,928 
                                     
Net loss   -   -   (1,731)   -   -   -   -   2,624   893 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax   -   -   -   807   10,152   12,241   786   817   24,803 
Issuance of common stock   -   63   -   -   -   -   -   460   523 
Cash dividends - $.50 per share   -   (18,222)  (6,073)   -   -   -   -   (1,918)  (26,213)
Change in accounting:                                     
Uncertain tax positions provisions of

ASC Topic 740   -   -   (97)   -   -   -   -   12   (85)
Asset and liability provisions of ASC

Topic 715   -   -   (450)   -   -   449   -   -   (1)
CompX stock buyback   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (33,045)  (33,045)
Other   -   25   -   -   -   -   -   -   25 
                                     
Balance at December 31, 2007   6,073   345,338   (6,525)   57,603   (123,829)  (31,373)  (825)  14,366   260,828 
                                     
Net income   -   -   33,184   -   -   -   -   (382)  32,802 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax   -   -   -   (32,633)  (12,093)  (22,960)  612   (330)  (67,404)
Issuance of common stock   1   71   -   -   -   -   -   7   79 
Cash dividends - $.50 per share   -   (14,549)  (9,750)   -   -   -   -   (804)  (25,103)
Other   -   19   -   -   -   -   -   (991)  (972)
                                     
Balance at December 31, 2008   6,074   330,879   16,909   24,970   (135,922)  (54,333)  (213)  11,866   200,230 
                                     
Net loss   -   -   (11,755)   -   -   -   -   (258)  (12,013)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax   -   -   -   13,607   7,169   1,759   (448)  246   22,333 
Issuance of common stock   2   133   -   -   -   -   -   6   141 
Cash dividends - $.50 per share   -   (19,151)  (5,154)    -   -   -   -   (806)  (25,111)
Other   -   78   -   -   -   -   -   -   78 
                                     
Balance at December 31, 2009  $ 6,076  $ 311,939  $ -  $ 38,577  $ (128,753) $ (52,574) $ (661) $ 11,054  $ 185,658 
 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
 

 



 

NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
Cash flows from operating activities:          

Net income (loss)  $ 893  $ 32,802  $ (12,013)
Depreciation and amortization   11,375   9,420   8,272 
Deferred income taxes   (12,604)   (4,352)   (4,703)
Provision for inventory reserves   141   195   1,022 
Securities transaction gains   (22,749)   -   - 
Benefit plan expense greater (less)
  than cash funding:             
    Defined benefit pension plans   (2,464)   (2,976)   833 
    Other postretirement benefit plans   629   476   372 

Equity in Kronos Worldwide, Inc.   23,901   (3,229)   12,470 
Distributions from Kronos Worldwide, Inc.   17,516   17,532   - 

Goodwill impairment   -   10,111   - 
Litigation settlement gains   -   (48,806)   (11,313)
Assets held for sale write-down   -   -   717 
Other, net   1,272   406   534 
Change in assets and liabilities:             

Accounts and other receivable   1,032   (4,703)   12,081 
Inventories   (1,813)   889   5,878 
Prepaid expenses   (160)   92   803 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (918)   (2,830)   1,996 
Income taxes   (1,127)   976   (3,432)
Accounts with affiliates   (12,779)   2,277   (3,767)
Accrued environmental costs   (383)   (275)   (4,208)

Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net   (4,533)   (7,245)   (4,151)
Net cash provided by (used in)  operating activities   (2,771)   760   1,391 

             
Cash flows from investing activities:             

Capital expenditures   (13,998)   (6,897)   (2,324)
Proceeds from real estate-related litigation settlement   -   39,550   11,800 
Loans to affiliates, net   -   (22,210)   22,210 
Collection of note receivable   1,306   1,306   261 
Change in restricted cash equivalents  and marketable debt securities, net   2,386   (2,558)   447 
Proceeds from disposal of:             

Marketable securities   36,894   554   164 
Property and equipment   73   377   - 

Purchase of:             
  CompX common stock   (3,309)   (1,007)   - 
  Kronos common stock   -   (793)   (139)
  Valhi common stock   -   (1,081)   (33)
  Other marketable securities   (5,861)   (156)   - 

Net cash provided by investing activities   17,491   7,085   32,386 

 



NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(In thousands)

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
          
          
Cash flows from financing activities:          
  Repayment of note payable to affiliate  $ (2,600)  $ (7,000)  $ (750)

Cash dividends paid   (24,295)   (24,299)   (24,305)
Proceeds from issuance of stock:             

NL common stock   -   6   84 
CompX common stock   1,395   -   - 

Tax benefit from exercise of stock options   73   -   - 
Distributions to noncontrolling interests   (1,918)   (804)   (806)
Deferred financing costs paid   -   (56)   (133)

             
Net cash used in financing activities   (27,345)   (32,153)   (25,910)

             
Net increase (decrease)  $ (12,625)  $ (24,308)  $ 7,867 
             
             
Cash and cash equivalents - net change from:             
             

Operating, investing and financing activities  $ (12,625)  $ (24,308)  $ 7,867 
Currency translation   995   (354)   238 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   52,742   41,112   16,450 
             
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 41,112  $ 16,450  $ 24,555 
             
Supplemental disclosures:             
  Cash paid for:             

Interest  $ 109  $ 2,278  $ 1,246 
Income taxes, net   19,680   19,398   2,548 

             
Non-cash investing and financing activities:             

Note payable to affiliate issued for repurchase of CompX common stock  $ 52,580  $ -  $ - 
Receipt of TIMET shares from Valhi   11,410   -   - 
Accrual for capital expenditures   665   511   666 
Note receivable from litigation settlement   -   15,000   - 

 
 



 

NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
 

December 31, 2009

Note 1 -                           Organization and basis of presentation:

Nature of our business – NL Industries, Inc. (NYSE: NL) is primarily a holding company.  We operate in the component products industry through
our majority-owned subsidiary, CompX International Inc. (NYSE: CIX).  We operate in the chemicals industry through our noncontrolling interest in Kronos
Worldwide, Inc. (NYSE: KRO).

Organization – We are majority-owned by Valhi, Inc. (NYSE: VHI), which owns approximately 83% of our outstanding common stock at December
31, 2009.  Valhi is majority-owned by subsidiaries of Contran Corporation.  Substantially all of Contran's outstanding voting stock is held by trusts
established for the benefit of certain children and grandchildren of Harold C. Simmons (for which Mr. Simmons is the sole trustee), or is held by Mr. Simmons
or other persons or companies related to Mr. Simmons.  Consequently, Mr. Simmons may be deemed to control Contran, Valhi and us.

Unless otherwise indicated, references in this report to “we,” “us” or “our” refer to NL Industries, Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliate, Kronos, taken
as a whole.

Management’s estimates - In preparing our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”), we are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of our assets and liabilities and disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities at each balance sheet date, and the reported amounts of our revenues and expenses during each reporting period.  Actual
results may differ significantly from previously-estimated amounts under different assumptions or conditions.

Principles of consolidation - Our consolidated financial statements include the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of NL and our
wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries, including CompX.  We account for the 13% of CompX stock we do not own as a noncontrolling
interest.  We eliminate all material intercompany accounts and balances.

Beginning January 1, 2009 we adopted the new provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 810 Consolidation, which
establishes an equity transaction framework of accounting for noncontrolling interest.  Under the framework, which applies to transactions on a prospective
basis, changes in ownership are accounted for as equity transactions with no gain or loss recognized on the transaction unless there is a change in
control.  Prior to the adoption of the new provisions, we accounted for increases in ownership interests of our consolidated subsidiaries, either through our
purchase of additional shares of their common stock or through their purchase of their own shares of common stock, by the purchase method (step
acquisition).  Unless otherwise noted, such purchase accounting generally resulted in an adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill for our consolidated
subsidiaries.  We accounted for decreases in our ownership interest of our consolidated subsidiaries through cash sales of their common stock to third parties
(either by us or by our subsidiary) by recognizing a gain or loss in net income equal to the difference between the proceeds from such sale and the carrying
value of the shares sold.  See Note 21.

Currency translation - The financial statements of our non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars.  The functional currency of our non-U.S.
subsidiaries is generally the local currency of their country.  Accordingly, we translate the assets and liabilities at year-end rates of exchange, while we
translate their revenues and expenses at average exchange rates prevailing during the year.  We accumulate the resulting translation adjustments in
stockholders' equity as part of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of related deferred income taxes and noncontrolling interest.  We recognize
currency transaction gains and losses in income.

Derivatives and hedging activities – We recognize derivatives as either an asset or liability measured at fair value in accordance with ASC Topic
815, Derivatives and Hedging.  We recognize the effect of changes in the fair value of derivatives either in net income or other comprehensive income,
depending on the intended use of the derivative.  See Note 20.

Cash and cash equivalents - We classify bank time deposits and government and commercial notes and bills with original maturities of three months
or less as cash equivalents.

Restricted cash equivalents and restricted marketable debt securities - We classify cash equivalents and marketable debt securities that have been
segregated or are otherwise limited in use as restricted.  To the extent the restricted amount relates to a recognized liability, we classify such restricted amount
as either a current or noncurrent asset to correspond with the classification of the liability.  To the extent the restricted amount does not relate to a recognized
liability, we classify restricted cash as a current asset and we classify the restricted debt security as either a current or noncurrent asset depending upon the
maturity date of the security. See Note 4.

Marketable securities and securities transactions – We carry marketable debt and equity securities at fair value.  ASC Topic 820, Fa ir Value
Measurements and Disclosures, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value and beginning January 1, 2008 (with certain exceptions) this
framework is generally applied to all financial statement items required to be measured at fair value.  The standard requires fair value measurements to be
classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

 
·    Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities;

    · Level 2 – Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs which are observable, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term
of the assets or liability; and

    · Level 3 – Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable.

We accumulate unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities as part of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of related
deferred income taxes and noncontrolling interest.  We calculate realized gains and losses by the specific identification of securities sold.

Accounts receivable - We provide an allowance for doubtful accounts for known and estimated potential losses arising from sales to customers based
on a periodic review of these accounts.

Inventories and cost of goods sold - We state  inventories at the lower of cost or market, net of allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
inventories.  We generally base inventory costs for all inventory categories on an average cost that approximates the first-in, first-out method.  Inventories
include the costs for raw materials, the cost to manufacture the raw materials into finished goods and overhead.  Depending on the inventory’s stage of



completion, our manufacturing costs can include the costs of packing and finishing, utilities, maintenance and depreciation, shipping and handling, and
salaries and benefits associated with our manufacturing process.  We allocate fixed manufacturing overhead based on normal production
capacity.  Unallocated overhead costs resulting from periods with abnormally low production levels are charged to expense as incurred.  As inventory is sold
to third parties, we recognize the cost of goods sold in the same period that the sale occurs.  We periodically review our inventory for estimated obsolescence
or instances when inventory is no longer marketable for its intended use, and we record any write-down equal to the difference between the cost of inventory
and its estimated net realizable value based on assumptions about alternative uses, market conditions and other factors.

Investment in Kronos Worldwide, Inc. – We account for our 36% non-controlling interest in Kronos by the equity method.  See Note 7.

Goodwill and other intangible assets; amortization expense - Goodwill represents the excess of cost over fair value of individual net assets acquired
in business combinations.  Goodwill is not subject to periodic amortization.  We amortize other intangible assets, consisting principally of certain acquired
patents and tradenames, using the straight-line method over their estimated lives and state them net of accumulated amortization.  We evaluate goodwill for
impairment annually, or when circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  We evaluate other intangible assets for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  See Notes 8 and 9.

Property and equipment; depreciation expense - We state property and equipment, including purchased computer software for internal use, at
cost.  We compute depreciation of property and equipment for financial reporting purposes principally by the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of 15 to 40 years for buildings and 3 to 20 years for equipment and software.  We use accelerated depreciation methods for income tax purposes, as
permitted.  Depreciation expense was $10.4 million in 2007, $8.6 million in 2008, and $7.7 million in 2009.  Upon sale or retirement of an asset, the related
cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is recognized in income currently.  Expenditures for maintenance,
repairs and minor renewals are expensed; expenditures for major improvements are capitalized.

We perform impairment tests when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  We consider all relevant
factors.  We perform impairment tests by comparing the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset to the asset’s net carrying value to
determine whether impairment exists.

Employee benefit plans - Accounting and funding policies for our retirement and post retirement benefits other than pensions (“OPEB”) plans are
described in Note 16.

Income taxes - We and our qualifying subsidiaries are members of Contran’s consolidated U.S. federal income tax group (the “Contran Tax
Group”).  We and certain of our qualifying subsidiaries also file consolidated unitary state income tax returns with Contran in qualifying U.S.
jurisdictions.  As a member of the Contran Tax Group, we are jointly and severally liable for the federal income tax liability of Contran and the other
companies included in the Contran Tax Group for all periods in which we are included in the Contran Tax Group.  See Note 19.  We are party to a tax sharing
agreement with Valhi and Contran pursuant to which we generally compute our provision for income taxes on a separate-company basis, and make payments
to or receive payments from Valhi in amounts that we would have paid to or received from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service or the applicable state tax
authority had we not been a member of the Contran Tax Group.  Refunds are limited to amounts previously paid under the Contran Tax Agreement unless the
individual company was entitled to a refund from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service on a separate company basis.  The separate company provisions and
payments are computed using the tax elections made by Contran.  We made net cash payments to Valhi for income taxes of $14.2 million in 2007, $15.4
million in 2008 and $.8 million in 2009.

We recognize deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the income tax
and financial reporting carrying amounts of our assets and liabilities, including investments in our subsidiaries and affiliates who are not members of the
Contran Tax Group and undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries which are not permanently reinvested.  In addition, we recognize deferred income
taxes with respect to the excess of the financial reporting carrying amount over the income tax basis of our direct investment in Kronos common stock
because the exemption under GAAP to avoid recognition of such deferred income taxes is not available to us.  The earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries
subject to permanent reinvestment plans aggregated $5.7 million at December 31, 2009 (2008 - $5.6 million).  It is not practical for us to determine the
amount of the unrecognized deferred income tax liability related to such earnings due to the complexities associated with the U.S. taxation on earnings of
non-U.S. subsidiaries repatriated to the U.S.  We periodically evaluate our deferred income tax assets and recognize a valuation allowance based on the
estimate of the amount of such deferred tax assets which we believe does not meet the more-likely-than-not recognition criteria.

We record a reserve for uncertain tax positions where we believe it is more-likely-than-not our position will not prevail with the applicable tax
authorities.  See Note 21.

Environmental remediation costs – We record liabilities related to environmental remediation obligations when estimated future expenditures are
probable and reasonably estimable.  We adjust these accruals as further information becomes available to us or as circumstances change.  We generally do not
discount estimated future expenditures to present value.  We recognize any recoveries of remediation costs from other parties when we deem their receipt
probable.  At December 31, 2008 and 2009, we had not recognized any receivables for recoveries.  See Note 19.

Net sales – We record sales when products are shipped and title and other risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the customer.  We include
amounts charged to customers for shipping and handling costs, which are not material, in net sales.  We state sales net of price, early payment and distributor
discounts and volume rebates.  We report taxes assessed by a governmental authority such as sales, use, value added and excise taxes on a net basis (i.e., we
do not recognize these taxes in either our revenues or in our costs and expenses).

Selling, general and administrative expenses; advertising costs; research and development costs - Selling, general and administrative expenses
include costs related to marketing, sales, distribution, research and development, legal and administrative functions such as accounting, treasury and finance,
as well as costs for salaries and benefits, travel and entertainment, promotional materials and professional fees.  Advertising costs are expensed as incurred
and were approximately $1 million in each of 2007 and 2008 and $500,000 in 2009.  Research, development and certain sales technical support costs related
to continuing operations are expensed as incurred and approximated $200,000 in each of 2007 and 2008 and $1.4 million in 2009.

Corporate expenses - Corporate expenses include environmental, legal and other costs attributable to formerly-owned business units.

Earnings per share - Basic earnings per share of common stock is based upon the weighted average number of our common shares actually
outstanding during each period.  Diluted earnings per share of common stock includes the impact of our outstanding dilutive stock options.  The weighted
average number of outstanding stock options excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because their impact would have been anti-dilutive
was immaterial in each of 2007, 2008 and 2009.

Note 2 -                      Business combinations and related transactions:

In October 2007, CompX repurchased or cancelled a net 2.7 million shares of its Class A common stock held by TIMET, including the Class A shares held
indirectly by TIMET through its ownership interest in CompX Group, Inc.  The repurchase was approved by the independent members of CompX’s board of
directors.  CompX purchased or cancelled these shares for $19.50 per share, or aggregate consideration of $52.6 million, which was paid in the form of a
promissory note.  See Note 17.  The price per share was determined based on CompX’s open market repurchases of its Class A common stock around the time



the repurchase from TIMET was approved.  As a result of the repurchase or cancellation of CompX’s Class A shares from TIMET, TIMET no longer has any
direct or indirect ownership in CompX or in CompX Group.  CompX’s outstanding Class A shares were reduced by 2.7 million and, as a result, our ownership
interest in CompX increased to approximately 86%.  During 2008, CompX purchased approximately 126,000 shares of its Class A shares, which has
subsequently increased NL’s ownership to approximately 87%.   We accounted for our increase in ownership of CompX by the purchase method (step
acquisition).  CompX did not repurchase any of its shares in 2009.

Note 3 - Geographic information:

We operate in the component products industry through our majority ownership of CompX.  CompX manufactures and sells security products,
precision ball bearing slides, and ergonomic computer support systems used in the office furniture, transportation, postal, tool storage, appliance and a
variety of other industries.  CompX is also a leading manufacturer of stainless steel exhaust systems, gauges, and throttle controls for the performance marine
industry.  CompX has production facilities in North America and Asia.

Fo r geographic information, we attribute net sales to the place of manufacture (point of origin) and the location of the customer (point of
destination); we attribute property and equipment to their physical location.  At December 31, 2008 and 2009 the net assets of non-U.S. subsidiaries included
in consolidated net assets approximated $28.5 million and $27.9 million, respectively.

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
          
Net sales - point of origin:          

United States  $ 118.5  $ 115.5  $ 84.8 
Canada   52.7   46.5   29.0 
Taiwan   11.7   8.3   5.8 
Eliminations   (5.2)   (4.8)   (3.5)

             
Total  $ 177.7  $ 165.5  $ 116.1 
             
Net sales - point of destination:             

United States  $ 147.8  $ 134.2  $ 96.0 
Canada   19.3   16.9   10.4 
Other   10.6   14.4   9.7 

             
Total  $ 177.7  $ 165.5  $ 116.1 

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
Identifiable assets -       

Net property and equipment:       
United States  $ 52.2  $ 47.8 
Canada   9.0   9.2 
Taiwan   7.1    7.4 

         
Total  $ 68.3  $ 64.4 

Note 4 -                           Marketable securities:

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
       
Current assets (available-for-sale):       

Restricted debt securities  $ 5,372  $ 5,225 
Other marketable securities   162    - 

         
Total  $ 5,534  $ 5,225 

         
Noncurrent assets (available-for-sale):         

Valhi common stock  $ 51,234  $ 66,930 
TIMET common stock   12,766   18,143 

         
Total  $ 64,000  $ 85,073 

 

  Fair Value Measurements  

  Total   
Quoted Prices in

Active Markets (Level 1)   

Siginficant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)  

  (in thousands)  
December 31, 2008:           
Current assets (available-for-
sale):          
  Restricted debt securities  $ 5,372   $ -   $ 5,372  
  Other marketable securities    162     -    162  

             



    Total  $ 5,534   $ -   $ 5,534  
             

Noncurrent assets (available-for-
sale):             

  Valhi common stock  $ 51,234   $ 51,234   $ -  
  TIMET common stock   12,766    12,766    -  

             
    Total  $ 64,000   $ 64,000   $ -  

             
December 31, 2009:             
Current assets (available-for-
sale):             
  Restricted debt securities  $ 5,225   $ -   $ 5,225  

             
Noncurrent assets (available-for-

sale):             
  Valhi common stock  $ 66,930   $ 66,930   $ -  
  TIMET common stock    18,143     18,143     -  

             
    Total  $ 85,073   $ 85,073   $ -  

 
We held no level 3 securities at December 31, 2008 and 2009.  Restricted debt securities at December 31, 2008 and 2009 collateralize certain of our

outstanding letters of credit.

The aggregate cost of the restricted debt securities and other available-for-sale marketable securities approximates their net carrying value at
December 31, 2008 and 2009.  The fair value of these securities is generally determined using Level 2 inputs because although these securities are traded, in
many cases the market is not active and the year end valuation is based on the last trade of the year which may be several days prior to December 31.

At December 31, 2008 and 2009, we owned approximately 4.8 million shares of Valhi common stock.  We account for our shares of Valhi common
stock as available-for-sale marketable equity securities carried at fair value based on quoted market prices, a Level 1 input.  The quoted market price per share
of Valhi common stock was $10.70 and $13.97 at December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively, with an aggregate market value of $51.2 million and $66.9
million, respectively.  The aggregate cost basis of our investment in Valhi common stock was $24.3 million at both December 31, 2008 and 2009.

  In October 2007, we sold 800,000 shares of our TIMET common stock to Valhi for approximately $26.8 million cash.  The transaction was
approved by the independent members of our board of directors.  The transaction was valued based on TIMET’s October 10, 2007 closing market price.  As a
result of such sale, we recognized a pre-tax securities transaction gain in the fourth quarter of 2007 of $22.7 million.

At December 31, 2008 and 2009, we owned approximately 1.4 million shares of TIMET common stock.  The quoted market price per share of
TIMET common stock was $8.81 and $12.52 at December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively, or an aggregate market value of $12.8 million and $18.1 million,
respectively.  The aggregate cost basis of our shares of TIMET common stock was $7.4 million at December 31, 2008 and 2009.

The Valhi and TIMET common stock we own is subject to the restrictions on resale pursuant to certain provisions of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) Rule 144.  In addition, as a majority-owned subsidiary of Valhi we cannot vote our shares of Valhi common stock under Delaware
Corporation Law, but we do receive dividends from Valhi on these shares, when declared and paid.  For financial reporting purposes, Valhi reports its
proportional interest in these shares as treasury stock.

Note 5 -                           Accounts and other receivables, net:
  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
       
Trade receivables  $ 17,598  $ 12,204 
Accrued insurance recoveries   7,219   465 
Other receivables   1,069   133 
Refundable income taxes   338   1,844 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (711)   (481)
         

Total  $ 25,513  $ 14,165 

Accrued insurance recoveries are discussed in Note 19.
 
 Note 6 -                           Inventories, net:

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
       
Raw materials  $ 7,552  $ 4,830 
In process products   8,225   6,151 
Finished products   6,884   5,285 
         

Total  $ 22,661  $ 16,266 

Note 7 -                           Investment in and advances to Kronos Worldwide, Inc.:

At December 31, 2009, we owned approximately 17.6 million shares of Kronos common stock and the quoted market price was $16.25 per share, or
an aggregate market value of $286.2 million.  At December 31, 2008, we owned approximately 17.5 million Kronos shares and the quoted market price per
share was $11.65, or an aggregate market value of $205.0 million.  During 2009 we purchased approximately 14,000 shares of Kronos common stock in
market transactions for an aggregate $139,000.  As part of our appeal of certain litigation discussed in Note 19, we have pledged 2.5 million of our shares of



Kronos stock (and a nominal number of shares of our CompX common stock).

The composition of our investment in and advances to Kronos at December 31, 2008 and 2009 are summarized below.  Our loan to Kronos is
discussed in Note 17.

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
       

Investment in Kronos  $ 114.5  $ 112.8 
Loan to Kronos   19.2    - 

         
Total assets  $ 133.7  $ 112.8 

         

The change in the carrying value of our investment in Kronos during the past three years is summarized below:

  Year ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
          
Balance at the beginning of the period  $ 160.5  $ 147.1  $ 114.5 
Equity in earnings (losses) of Kronos   (23.9)   3.2   (12.5)
Dividends received from Kronos   (17.5)   (17.5)    - 
Purchases of Kronos stock   -   .8   .1 
Equity in Kronos’ changes in accounting   (2.1)   -   - 
Other, principally equity in Kronos’ other comprehensive income   30.1   (19.1)   10.7 
             
Balance at the end of the period  $ 147.1  $ 114.5  $ 112.8 

Selected financial information of Kronos is summarized below:

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
       

Current assets  $ 589.5  $ 529.9 
Property and equipment, net   485.5   499.7 
Investment in TiO2 joint venture   105.6   98.7 
Other noncurrent assets   178.1   196.7 

         
Total assets

 $ 1,358.7  $ 1,325.0 
         

Current liabilities  $ 204.4  $ 215.4 
Long-term debt   618.5   611.1 
Note payable to NL   19.2   - 
Accrued pension and post retirement benefits   134.2   131.7 
Other noncurrent liabilities   64.5   54.3 
Stockholders’ equity   317.9   312.5 

         
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 1,358.7  $ 1,325.0 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
          
Net sales  $ 1,310.3  $ 1,316.9  $ 1,142.0 
Cost of sales   1,058.9   1,096.3   1,011.7 
Income (loss) from operations   84.9   47.2   (15.7)
Net income (loss)   (66.7)   9.0   (34.7)

Note 8 – Goodwill:

Substantially all of our goodwill is related to our component products operations and was generated from CompX's acquisitions of certain business
units and the step acquisition of CompX discussed in Note 2, as such goodwill was determined prior to the adoption of the equity transaction framework
provisions of ASC Topic 810 on January 1, 2009.  See Note 21.  Our remaining goodwill resulted from our acquisition of EWI RE, Inc., an insurance broker
subsidiary, and totaled approximately $6.4 million.

We have assigned goodwill related to the component products operations to three reporting units (as that term is defined in ASC Topic 350-20-20
Goodwill): one consisting of CompX's security products operations, one consisting of CompX’s furniture components operations and one consisting of
CompX’s marine component operations.  We test for goodwill impairment at the reporting unit level.  In accordance with the requirements of ASC Topic 350-
20-20, we test for goodwill impairment at each of our three component products reporting units as well as the goodwill associated with the EWI reporting unit
during the third quarter of each year or when circumstances arise that indicate impairment might be present.  In determining the estimated fair value of the
reporting units, we use appropriate valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flows.  Such discounted cash flows are a Level 3 input as defined by ASC
820-10-35 (although this guidance was not in effect with respect to estimating the fair value of a reporting unit until January 1, 2009).  If the carrying amount
of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment charge is recorded.  Our 2007 and 2009 annual impairment reviews of goodwill indicated no
impairments.  The only goodwill impairment we have recorded since we began testing goodwill on an annual basis is the 2008 impairment noted below.



During the third quarter of 2008, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $10.1 million for CompX’s marine components reporting unit, which
represented all of the goodwill we had previously recognized for this reporting unit (including a nominal amount of goodwill inherent in our investment in
CompX.)  We used a discounted cash flow methodology in determining the estimated fair value of CompX’s marine components reporting unit.  The factors
that led us to conclude goodwill associated with the marine components reporting unit was fully impaired included the continued decline in consumer
spending in the marine market as well as the overall negative economic outlook, both of which resulted in near-term and longer-term reduced revenue, profit
and cash flow forecasts for the marine components unit.  While we continue to believe in the long-term potential of the marine components reporting unit,
due to the extraordinary economic downturn in the marine industry we are not currently able to foresee when the industry and our business will recover.  In
response to the present economic conditions, we have taken steps to reduce operating costs without inhibiting our ability to take advantage of opportunities
to expand our market share.

During 2009 due to the continued unfavorable economic trends associated with CompX’s furniture components reporting unit including, among
other things, sales and operating income falling materially below our projections, we re-evaluated goodwill associated with this reporting unit at the first and
second interim periods of 2009, along with the annual testing date in the third quarter.  At each interim and annual testing date, we concluded that no
impairments were present.  At December 31, 2009 CompX’s furniture components reporting unit had approximately $7.2 million of goodwill.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill related to our three components products reporting units (which exclude the $6.4 million of goodwill
related to our EWI reporting unit) during the past three years are presented in the table below.

 Component products      operations    
(In millions)

  
Balance at December 31, 2006 $26.6
  
Goodwill acquired during the year  21.7

  
Balance at December 31, 2007 48.3
  
Goodwill impairment during the year (10.1)
Changes in currency exchange rates   (.4)
  
Balance at December 31, 2008 37.8
  
Changes in currency exchange rates    .1
  
Balance at December 31, 2009 $37.9

Note 9 -                      Intangible and other noncurrent assets:

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
       

Promissory note receivable  $ 15,000  $ 15,000 
Patents and other intangible assets, net   1,991   1,408 
Other   841   618 

         
Total  $ 17,832  $ 17,026 

Patents and other intangible assets, all of which relate to CompX, are stated net of accumulated amortization of $3.7 million at December 31, 2008
and $4.2 million at December 31, 2009.

Aggregate amortization expense of all intangible assets, including certain intangible assets which were fully amortized prior to 2008, was
$1,216,000 in 2007, $716,000 in 2008 and $549,000 in 2009 and is expected to be approximately $600,000 in 2010, $400,000 in 2011, $300,000 in 2012,
$100,000 in 2013 and $29,000 in 2014.

The promissory note receivable bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%, with interest payable monthly.  All principal is due no later than October
2011.  The promissory note is collateralized by a real estate developer’s ground lease on certain real property we owned that was taken in condemnation
proceeding, and all improvements to the property performed by the developer.  Both the promissory note and our lien on the property are subordinated to
certain senior indebtedness of the developer.  In the event that the developer has not repaid the promissory note at its stated maturity, we have the right to
demand repayment of up to $15.0 million due under the promissory note from one of the developer’s equity partners, and such right is not subordinated to
the developer’s senior indebtedness.  See Note 19.

Note 10 - Accrued liabilities:

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
       

Employee benefits  $ 8,158  $ 7,561 
Professional fees and settlements   3,624   6,747 
Reserve for uncertain tax positions   212   59 
Other   12,481   11,599 

         
Total  $ 24,475  $ 25,966 

Note 11 -                           Other noncurrent liabilities:

  December 31,  



  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
       

Insurance claims and expenses  $ 1,197  $ 659 
Reserve for uncertain tax positions

  19,121   16,936 
Other   1,505   1,517 

         
Total  $ 21,823  $ 19,112 

Our reserve for uncertain tax positions is discussed in Note 21.

Note 12 – Credit facility:

At December 31, 2009, CompX had a $37.5 million revolving credit facility that matures in January 2012.  Until the end of March 2011, any
outstanding borrowings are limited to the sum of 80% of CompX’s consolidated net accounts receivable, 50% of CompX’s consolidated raw material
inventory, 50% of CompX’s consolidated finished goods inventory and 100% of CompX’s consolidated unrestricted cash and cash equivalents.  Any
amounts outstanding under the credit facility bear interest, at our option, at the prime rate plus a margin or at LIBOR plus a margin.  The credit facility is
collateralized by 65% of the ownership interests in CompX’s first-tier non-U.S. subsidiaries.  The facility, as amended, contains certain covenants and
restrictions customary in lending transactions of this type, which among other things restricts CompX’s ability to incur debt, incur liens, pay dividends or
merge or consolidate with, or transfer substantially all assets to, another entity.  The facility also required maintenance of specified levels of net worth (as
defined).  In the event of a change of control, as defined, the lenders would have the right to accelerate the maturity of the facility.  One of the financial
performance covenants requires CompX’s earnings before interest and taxes for the trailing four quarters (not including quarters prior to 2009) to be 2.5
times cash interest expense.  As a result of CompX’s loss before interest and taxes at December 31, 2009, it could not have had any borrowings outstanding
under the Credit Agreement without violating the covenant as any cash interest incurred would have exceeded the required 2.5 to 1 ratio. At December 31,
2008 and 2009, no amounts were outstanding under the facility.  We believe that CompX will be able to comply with the current covenant through the
maturity of the facility in January 2012; however if future operating results differ materially from our predictions CompX may be unable to maintain
compliance.

The credit facility permits CompX to pay dividends and/or repurchase common stock in an amount equal to the sum of (i) a dividend of $.125 per
share in any calendar quarter, not to exceed $8.0 million in any calendar year, plus (ii) $20.0 million plus 50% of aggregate net income over the term of the
credit facility.  In addition to the permitted $.125 per share amount to repurchase its common stock and/or to pay dividends, at December 31, 2009, $19.4
million was available for dividends and/or repurchases of our common stock under the terms of the facility.

Note 13 - Stockholders' equity:

 Shares of common stock  issued and outstanding 
 (In thousands)
  
Balance at December 31, 2006 48,586
  
Common stock issued       6
  
Balance at December 31, 2007  48,592
  
Common stock issued       7
  
Balance at December 31, 2008  48,599
  
Common stock issued      13
  
Balance at December 31, 2009  48,612

Stock options - The NL Industries, Inc. 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for the discretionary grant of restricted common stock, stock
options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) and other incentive compensation to our officers and other key employees and non-employee directors, including
individuals who are employed by Kronos.  In addition, certain stock options granted pursuant to another plan remain outstanding at December 31, 2009, but
we may not grant any additional options under that plan.

We may issue up to five million shares of our common stock pursuant to the 1998 plan, and at December 31, 2009 4.1 million shares were available
for future grants.  The 1998 plan currently provides for the grant of options due to its extension for an additional five years and for options which are not
qualified as incentive stock options.  Generally, stock options and SARs (collectively, “options”) are granted at a price equal to or greater than 100% of the
market price at the date of grant, vest over a five-year period and expire ten years from the date of grant.  Restricted stock, forfeitable unless certain periods of
employment are completed, is held in escrow in the name of the grantee until the restriction period expires.  No SARs have been granted under the 1998 plan.

Changes in outstanding options granted under all plans are summarized in the table below.  We did not grant any options during 2007, 2008 or
2009.

  Shares   

Exercise
price per

 share   

Amount
payable

upon
exercise   

Weighted-
average

exercise  price  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  
             
Outstanding at December 31, 2006   106  $ 2.66 - $ 11.49  $ 1,027  $ 9.71 
                 
Cancelled   (9)   5.19 - 11.49    (67)   7.51 
                 
Outstanding at December 31, 2007   97   2.66 - 11.49   960   9.91 
                 
Exercised   (1)   5.63   (3)   5.63 



Cancelled   (1)   11.49    (14)   11.49 
                 
Outstanding at December 31, 2008   95   2.66 - 11.49   943   9.92 
                 
Exercised   (7)   2.66 - 11.49   (42)   6.11 
Cancelled   (7)   2.66 - 11.49   (76)   10.40 
                 
Outstanding at December 31, 2009   81  $ 5.63 - $ 11.49  $ 825  $ 10.20 

At December 31, 2009 all of the outstanding options were exercisable.  At December 31, 2009, the aggregate intrinsic value (defined as the excess of
the market price of our common stock over the exercise price) for the outstanding options for which the exercise price was less than the market price of our
common stock of $6.94 per share was approximately $23,000.  Outstanding options at December 31, 2009 expire at various dates through 2011.  Shares
issued under the 1998 plan are generally newly-issued shares, however prior to 2005 we issued shares from our treasury shares.

The intrinsic value of options exercised aggregated nil in 2007, $5,000 in 2008 and $43,000 in 2009 and the related income tax benefit from such
exercises was approximately nil in 2007, $2,000 in 2008 and $15,000 in 2009.

Stock option plan of subsidiaries and affiliates - CompX maintains a stock option plan that provides for the grant of options to purchase its
common stock.  At December 31, 2009, options to purchase 81,000 CompX shares were outstanding with exercise prices ranging from $12.15 to $19.25 per
share, or an aggregate amount payable upon exercise of $1.4 million.  Through December 31, 2009, Kronos has not granted any options to purchase its
common stock.

Note 14 – Facility consolidation and assets held for sale:

Prior to 2007, CompX had three facilities in northern Illinois, two security products facilities (located in Lake Bluff, Illinois and River Grove,
Illinois) and one marine components facility (located in Grayslake, Illinois).  In order to create opportunities to reduce operating costs and improve operating
efficiencies, CompX determined that it would be more effective to consolidate these three operations into one location.  In 2006, CompX acquired land
adjacent to the marine components facility for approximately $1.8 million in order to expand the facility, and during 2007 CompX incurred approximately
$9.6 million of capital expenditures in connection with the expansion.

In addition to the capital expenditures, during 2007, CompX incurred approximately $2.7 million in expenses relating to the facility consolidation
including physical move costs, equipment installation, redundant labor and recruiting fees and write-downs for fixed assets no longer in use, all of which are
included in facility consolidation expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations.  The majority of these costs were incurred during the
fourth quarter of 2007.

The fixed asset write-downs amounted to $765,000 of which $600,000 related to the classification of the River Grove facility as an “asset held for
sale” in November 2007 as it was no longer being utilized and met all of the criteria under GAAP to be classified as an “asset held for sale.”  In classifying the
facility and related assets (primarily land, building, and building improvements) as held for sale, CompX concluded that the carrying amount of the assets
exceeded the estimated fair value less costs to sell such assets.  In determining the estimated fair value of such assets, CompX considered recent sales prices
for other property near the facility (Level 2 inputs).  Accordingly, we recognized $600,000 to write-down the assets to their estimated net realizable value of
approximately $3.1 million at December 31, 2007.

Our assets held for sale at December 31, 2009, consist of the River Grove facility discussed above and a facility in Neenah, Wisconsin.  These two
properties (primarily land, buildings and building improvements) were formerly used in CompX’s operations.  Discussions with potential buyers of both
properties had been active through the first quarter of 2009.  Subsequently during the second quarter of 2009, and as weak economic conditions continued
longer than expected, CompX concluded that it was unlikely it would sell these properties at or above their previous carrying values in the near term and
therefore an adjustment to their carrying values was appropriate.  In determining the estimated fair values of the properties, we considered recent sales prices
for other properties near the facilities (Level 2 inputs).  Accordingly, during the second quarter of 2009, we recorded a write-down of approximately $717,000
to reduce the carrying value of these assets to their aggregate estimated fair value less cost to sell of $2.8 million.  Both properties are being actively
marketed.  However, due to the current state of the commercial real estate market, we cannot be certain of the timing of the disposition of the assets.

 Note 15 - Income taxes:

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
Pre-tax income (loss):          

U.S.  $ (14.9)  $ 53.0  $ (20.4)
Non-U.S.   7.5  (5.3 )  (2.0)

             
Total  $ (7.4)  $ 47.7  $ (22.4)

             
Expected tax (benefit) expense, at U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 35%  $ (2.6)  $ 16.7  $ (7.8)
Non-U.S. tax rates   (.2)   (.3)   .1 
Incremental U.S. tax and rate differences on equity in earnings   (5.0)   (3.4)   (1.2)
Nondeductible expenses   .5   .3   .3 
U.S. state income taxes, net   .5   .9   (.6)
Goodwill impairment   -   3.5   - 
Tax contingency reserve adjustment, net   (1.3)   (2.1)   (.6)
Other, net   (.2)   (.7)   (.5)
             

Provision for income taxes (benefit)  $ (8.3)  $ 14.9  $ (10.3)

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
Components of income tax expense (benefit):          

Currently payable (refundable):          



U.S. federal and state  $ .1  $ 18.6  $ (2.7)
Non-U.S.   3.6   3.7   (.7)

             
   3.7   22.3   (3.4)

Deferred income taxes (benefit):             
U.S. federal and state   (12.0)   (7.1)   (6.8)
Non-U.S.   -   (.3)   (.1)

             
   (12.0)   (7.4)   (6.9)
             

Total  $ (8.3)  $ 14.9  $ (10.3)

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
Comprehensive provision for
 income taxes (benefit) allocable to:          

Income (loss) from operations  $ (8.3)  $ 14.9  $ (10.3)
Other comprehensive income (loss):             

Marketable securities   (5.6)   (17.8)   7.4 
Pension liabilities   6.8   (12.6)   1.0 
OPEB Plans   .4   .3   (.2)
Currency translation   6.0   (7.0)   3.8 

             
Total

 $ (.7)  $ (22.2)  $ 1.7 

The components of the net deferred tax liability at December 31, 2008 and 2009 are summarized in the following table.  We have not recognized any deferred
income tax asset valuation allowance during the past three years.

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  Assets   Liabilities   Assets   Liabilities  
  (In millions)  
             
Tax effect of temporary differences 
 related to:             

Inventories  $ .9  $ -  $ .8  $ - 
Marketable securities   -   (2.4)   -   (9.9)
Property and equipment   -   (5.5)   -   (5.5)
Accrued OPEB costs   3.5   -   3.3   - 
Accrued pension cost   4.2   -   4.4   - 
Accrued environmental liabilities   17.7   -   16.3   - 
Other accrued liabilities and deductible differences   2.6   -   2.2   - 
Other taxable differences   -   (11.3)   -   (11.2)
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates   -   (53.3)   -   (51.5)

        Tax loss and tax credit carryforwards   .2   -   .3   - 
Adjusted gross deferred tax assets (liabilities)   29.1   (72.5)   27.3   (78.1)
Netting of items by tax jurisdiction   (23.3)   23.3   (22.3)   22.3 
   5.8   (49.2)   5.0   (55.8)
Less net current deferred tax asset   5.8   -   5.0   - 
                 

Net noncurrent deferred tax liability  $ -  $ (49.2)  $ -  $ (55.8)

We received 2.2 million shares of TIMET common stock in March 2007 when Valhi paid a special dividend.  For income tax purposes, the tax basis in the
shares of TIMET we received is equal to the fair value of such TIMET shares on the date we received them.  However, if the fair value of all of the TIMET
shares distributed by Valhi exceeds Valhi’s cumulative earnings and profits as of the end of 2007, we are required to reduce the tax basis of the shares of
Valhi common stock we own by an amount equal to the lesser of our tax basis in such Valhi shares or our pro-rata share of the amount by which the aggregate
fair value of the TIMET shares distributed by Valhi exceeds Valhi’s earnings and profits.  Additionally, if our pro-rata share of the amount by which the
aggregate fair value of the TIMET shares distributed by Valhi exceeds Valhi’s earnings and profits is greater than the tax basis of our Valhi shares, we are
required to recognize a capital gain for the difference.  The fair value of the TIMET shares we received exceeds our share of Valhi’s cumulative earnings and
profits at the end of 2007 and exceeds our aggregate tax basis of our Valhi shares.  Accordingly, the benefit associated with receiving a fair-value tax basis in
our TIMET shares has been offset by the elimination of the tax basis in our Valhi shares and the capital gain we are required to recognize for the excess.  The
income tax generated from this capital gain is approximately $11.2 million.  For financial reporting purposes, we provide deferred income taxes for the excess
of the carrying value over the tax basis of our shares of both Valhi and TIMET common stock, and as a result the $11.2 million current income tax generated
is offset by deferred income taxes we previously provided on our shares of Valhi common stock.

We, our qualifying subsidiaries and Valhi are members of Contran’s consolidated U.S. federal income tax group (the “Contran Tax Group”).  We make
payments to Valhi for income taxes in amounts that we would have paid to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service had we not been a member of the Contran Tax
Group.  Approximately $10.8 million of the $11.2 million tax related to the TIMET distribution is payable to Valhi (the remaining $.4 million relates to one
of our subsidiaries that was not a member of the Contran Tax Group on the distribution date).  Valhi is not currently required to pay this $10.8 million tax
liability to Contran, nor is Contran currently required to pay this tax liability to the applicable tax authority, because the related taxable gain is currently
deferred at the Valhi and Contran levels since Valhi and NL are members of the Valhi tax group on a separate company basis and of the Contran Tax
Group.  This income tax liability would become payable by Valhi to Contran, and by Contran to the applicable tax authority, when the shares of Valhi
common stock held by NL are sold or otherwise transferred outside the Contran Tax Group or in the event of certain restructuring transactions involving NL
and Valhi.



Tax authorities are continuing to examine certain of our U.S. and non U.S. tax returns, including those of Kronos, and tax authorities have or may propose tax
deficiencies, including penalties and interest.  We cannot guarantee that these tax matters will be resolved in our favor due to the inherent uncertainties
involved in settlement initiatives and court and tax proceedings.  We believe that we have adequate accruals for additional taxes and related interest expense
which could ultimately result from tax examinations.  We believe the ultimate disposition of tax examinations should not have a material adverse effect on
our consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

In March 2010, Kronos received a reevised notice of proposed adjustment from the Canadian tax authorities related to the years 2002 through 2004. 
Kronos objects to the proposed assessment and intends to formally respond to the Canadian tax authorities in the second quarter of 2010.  If the full amount
of the proposed adjustment were ultimately to be assessed against Kronos the impact to our consolidated financial statements would be approximately $.9
million.  Because of the inherent uncertainties involved in the settlement of the potential exposure, if any, the final outcome is also uncertain.  We believe
that we have provided adequate reserves.

 
As a consequence of a European Court ruling that resulted in a favorable resolution of certain income tax issues in Germany, during the first quarter

of 2010 the German tax authorities agreed to an increase in Kronos’ German net operating loss carryforward.  Accordingly, Kronos expects to report a non-
cash income tax benefit of approximately $35.2 million in the first quarter of 2010.

The goodwill impairment charge of $10.1 million recorded in the third quarter of 2008 (see Note 8) is non-deductible goodwill for income tax
purposes.  Accordingly, there is no income tax benefit associated with the goodwill for financial reporting purposes.

Note 16 - Employee benefit plans:

Defined contribution plans - We maintain various defined contribution pension plans worldwide.  Company contributions are based on matching or
other formulas.  Defined contribution plan expense approximated $2.5 million in 2007, $2.1 million in 2008 and $1.5 million in 2009.

Accounting for defined benefit pension and postretirement benefits other than pension (“OPEB”) plans - We recognize all changes in the funded
status of these plans through comprehensive income, net of income taxes.  Any future changes will be recognized either in net income, to the extent they are
reflected in periodic benefit cost, or through other comprehensive income.   Prior to December 31, 2007 we used September 30 as a measurement date for
certain of our pension plans. In accordance with asset and liability recognition provisions of ASC Topic 715 Compensation – Retirement Benefits, effective
December 31, 2007 we transitioned all of our plans which had previously used a September 30 measurement date to a December 31 measurement date using a
15 month net periodic benefit cost.  Accordingly one-fifth of the net periodic benefit cost for the period from October 1, 2006 through December 31, 2007,
net of income taxes, has been allocated as a direct adjustment to retained earnings to reflect this change and four-fifths of the cost was allocated to expense in
2007.  In addition, we are providing the expanded disclosures regarding our defined benefit pension plan assets as of December 31, 2009, as required by the
provisions of ASC Topic 715.

Defined benefit plans – We maintain a defined benefit pension plan in the U.S.  We also maintain a plan in the United Kingdom related to a former
disposed business unit in the U.K.  All of our defined benefit plans use a December 31 measurement date.  The benefits under our defined benefit plans are
based upon years of service and employee compensation.  Prior to 2007, the plans were closed to new participants and no additional benefits accrue to
existing plan participants.  Our funding policy is to contribute annually the minimum amount required under ERISA (or equivalent non U.S.) regulations plus
additional amounts as we deem appropriate.

 
 

We currently expect to contribute approximately $600,000 to all of our defined benefit pension plans during 2010.  Benefit payments to plan
participants out of plan assets are expected to be the equivalent of (in millions):

2010  $ 3.2
2011    3.2
2012    3.2
2013    3.3
2014    3.4
Next 5 years   17.5
 
 

The funded status of our defined benefit pension plans is presented in the table below.

  Years ended December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
Change in projected benefit obligations ("PBO"):       

Balance at beginning of the year  $ 50,922  $ 47,964 
Interest cost   2,931   2,722 
Participant contributions   10   7 
Plan amendment   27   - 
Actuarial losses, net   125   2,795 
Change in currency exchange rates   (2,535)   913 
Benefits paid   (3,516)   (3,342)

         
Benefit obligation at end of the year   47,964   51,059 

         
Change in plan assets:

        
Fair value at beginning of the year   66,706   36,022 
Actual return on plan assets   (25,593)   4,836 
Employer contributions   560   453 
Participant contributions   10   7 
Change in currency exchange rates   (2,145)   675 
Benefits paid   (3,516)   (3,342)

         
Fair value of plan assets at end of year   36,022   38,651 

         
Funded status  $ (11,942)  $ (12,408)
         



Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:         
Accrued pension costs:         

Current  $ (174)  $ (175)
Noncurrent   (11,768)   (12,233)

         
  $ (11,942)  $ (12,408)

Accumulated other comprehensive income -         
  actuarial losses (gains), net  $ 26,393  $ 26,372 

         
Accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO”)  $ 47,964  $ 51,059 

The amounts shown in the table above for unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at December 31, 2008 and 2009 have not been recognized as
components of our periodic defined benefit pension cost as of those dates.  These amounts will be recognized as components of our periodic defined benefit
cost in future years.  These amounts, net of deferred income taxes, are recognized in our accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at December 31,
2008 and 2009.  We expect that $1.2 million of the unrecognized actuarial losses will be recognized as a component of our periodic defined benefit pension
cost in 2010.  The table below details the changes in other comprehensive income during 2007, 2008 and 2009.

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
Changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income:          

Net actuarial gain (loss) arising during the    year  $ 1,735  $ (31,640)  $ (1,286)
    Amortization of unrecognized net actuarial loss   295   144   1,307 
    Change in measurement date   76   -   - 
             
    Total  $ 2,106  $ (31,496)  $ 21 
             

The components of our net periodic defined benefit pension cost are presented in the table below.  The amount shown below for the amortization of
unrecognized actuarial losses in 2007, 2008 and 2009, net of deferred income taxes, was recognized as a component of our accumulated other comprehensive
income at December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
          
Net periodic pension cost (income):          

Interest cost on PBO  $ 2,925  $ 2,931  $ 2,722 
Expected return on plan assets   (5,800)   (6,209)   (3,300)
Plan amendment   -   27   - 
Amortization of unrecognized   net actuarial losses   295   144   1,307 

             
Total  $ (2,580)  $ (3,107)  $ 729 

Certain information concerning our defined benefit pension plans is presented in the table below.

  
December 31,

 
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
PBO at end of the year:       

U.S. plan  $ 41,440  $ 42,534 
U.K. plan   6,524   8,525 

         
Total  $ 47,964  $ 51,059 

         
Fair value of plan assets at end of the year:         

U.S. plan  $ 30,623  $ 31,683 
U.K. plan   5,399   6,968 

         
Total  $ 36,022  $ 38,651 

         
Plans for which the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds plan assets:         
PBO  $ 47,964  $ 51,059 
ABO   47,964   51,059 
  Fair value of plan assets   36,022   38,651 

The weighted-average rate assumptions used in determining the actuarial present value of our benefit obligations as of December 31, 2008 and 2009 are 6.1%
and 5.7%, respectively.  Such weighted-average rates were determined using the projected benefit obligations at each date.  Since our plans are closed to new
participants and no new additional benefits accrue to existing plan participants, assumptions regarding future compensation levels are not
applicable.  Consequently, the accumulated benefit obligations for all of our defined benefit pension plans were equal to the projected benefit obligations at
December 31, 2008 and 2009.

The weighted-average rate assumptions used in determining the net periodic pension cost for 2007, 2008 and 2009 are presented in the table
below.  Such weighted-average discount rates were determined using the projected benefit obligations as of the beginning of each year and the weighted-
average long-term return on plan assets was determined using the fair value of plan assets as of the beginning of each year.

       Years ended December 31,     



Rate 2007 2008 2009
    
Discount rate 5.7%  6.0% 6.1%
Long-term return on plan assets 9.6%  9.6% 9.5%

Variances from actuarially assumed rates will result in increases or decreases in accumulated pension obligations, pension expense and funding
requirements in future periods.

As noted above we are adopting the fair value measurement and disclosure provisions of ASC Topic 715 Compensation – Retirement Benefits
beginning with our December 31, 2009 plan asset values.  The standard required us to adopt these provisions on a prospective basis for the December 31,
2009 plan assets only.

At December 31, 2008 and 2009, substantially all of the assets attributable to our U.S. plans were invested in the Combined Master Retirement Trust
(“CMRT”), a collective investment trust sponsored by Contran to permit the collective investment by certain master trusts that fund certain employee
benefits plans sponsored by Contran and certain of its affiliates. The CMRT’s long-term investment objective is to provide a rate of return exceeding a
composite of broad market equity and fixed income indices (including the S&P 500 and certain Russell indicies) while utilizing both third-party investment
managers as well as investments directed by Mr. Simmons.  Mr. Simmons is the sole trustee of the CMRT.  The trustee of the CMRT, along with the CMRT's
investment committee, of which Mr. Simmons is a member, actively manages the investments of the CMRT.  The CMRT trustee and investment committee
seek to maximize returns in order to meet the CMRT’s long-term investment objective.  The CMRT trustee and investment committee do not maintain a
specific target asset allocation in order to achieve their objectives, but instead they periodically change the asset mix of the CMRT based upon, among other
things, advice they receive from third-party advisors and their expectations regarding potential returns for various investment alternatives and what asset mix
will generate the greatest overall return.  During the history of the CMRT from its inception in 1988 through December 31, 2009, the average annual rate of
return of the CMRT has been 11%. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, the assumed long-term rate of return for plan assets invested in
the CMRT was 10%.  In determining the appropriateness of the long-term rate of return assumption, we primarily rely on the historical rates of return
achieved by the CMRT, although we consider other factors as well including, among other things, the investment objectives of the CMRT's managers and
their expectation that such historical returns will in the future continue to be achieved over the long-term.

 At December 31, 2009, the portion of the CMRT in which our U.S. plans are invested is represented by investments which are valued using Level 1,
Level 2 and Level 3 inputs with approximately 75% valued using Level 1 inputs, 4% using Level 2 inputs and 21% using Level 3 inputs.  The CMRT is not
traded on any market.  The CMRT unit value is determined semi-monthly and the plans have the ability to redeem all or any portion of their investment in
the CMRT at any time based on the most recent semi-monthly valuation.  However, the plans do not have the right to individual assets held by the CMRT
and the CMRT has the sole discretion in determining how to meet any redemption request.  For purposes of our plan asset disclosure, we consider the
investment in the CMRT a Level 2 input because (i) the CMRT value is established semi-monthly and the plans have the right to redeem their investment in
the CMRT, in part or in whole, at anytime based on the most recent value and (ii) approximately 79% of the assets of the CMRT are valued using either Level
1 or Level 2 inputs, as noted above, which have observable inputs.  The total fair value of all of the CMRT assets, including funds of Contran and its other
affiliates that also invest in the CMRT, was $399 million and $407 million at December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively.  At December 31, 2009
approximately 50% of the CMRT assets were invested in domestic equity securities with the majority of these being publically traded securities;
approximately 7% were invested in publically traded international equity securities; approximately 30% were invested in publically traded fixed income
securities; approximately 11% were invested in various privately managed limited partnerships and the remainder was invested in real estate and cash and
cash equivalents.

At December 31, 2008 approximately 53% of the CMRT assets were invested in equity securities; approximately 43% in debt securities and the
remainder was invested in real estate and cash equivalents.  The composition of our December 31, 2009 pension plan assets by fair value level were as
follows:

  
Fair Value Measurements at

December 31, 2009  

  Total   

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets
(Level 1)   

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs (Level

2)  
  (In millions)  
          
CMRT  $ 31.0  $ -  $ 31.0 
Other    7.7    7.7    - 
             
    Total  $ 38.7  $ 7.7  $ 31.0 
 

Postretirement benefits other than pensions - In addition to providing pension benefits, we also provide certain health care and life insurance
benefits for eligible retired employees.  We use a December 31 measurement date for our OPEB plans.  Prior to 2007, this plan was closed to new participants,
and no additional benefits accrue to existing plan participants.  The majority of all retirees are required to contribute a portion of the cost of their benefits and
certain current and future retirees are eligible for reduced health care benefits at age 65.  We have no OPEB plan assets, rather, we fund postretirement benefits
as they are incurred, net of any contributions by the retiree.  At December 31, 2009, we currently expect to contribute approximately $1.2 million to all OPEB
plans during 2010.  Benefit payments, net of estimated Medicare Part D subsidy of approximately $175,000 per year, expected to be paid to OPEB plan
participants are summarized in the table below:

2010  $1.2 million
2011   1.1 million
2012   1.1 million
2013   1.0 million
2014    .9 million
Next 5 years   3.7 million

The funded status of our OPEB plans is presented in the table below.

  Years ended December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
Actuarial present value of accumulated OPEB     obligations:       

Balance at beginning of the year  $ 11,242  $ 10,114 



Interest cost   655   551 
Actuarial gain   (665)   (437)
Net benefits paid   (1,118)   (767)

         
Obligations at end of the year   10,114   9,461 

         
Fair value of plan assets at end of year   -   - 
         
Funded status  $ (10,114)  $ (9,461)
         
Accrued OPEB costs recognized in the   Consolidated Balance Sheets:         

Current  $ (1,231)  $ (1,154)
Noncurrent   (8,883)   (8,307)

         
Total  $ (10,114)  $ (9,461)

         
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:         

  Unrecognized net actuarial losses  $ 1,288  $ 851 
  Unrecognized prior service credit   (704)   (525)

         
Total  $ 584  $ 326 

The amounts shown in the table above for unrecognized actuarial losses and prior service credit at December 31, 2008 and 2009 have not been
recognized as components of our periodic OPEB cost as of those dates.  These amounts will be recognized as components of our periodic OPEB cost in future
years.  These amounts, net of deferred income taxes, are now recognized in our accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31, 2008 and
2009.  We expect to recognize approximately $179,000 of the prior service credit as a component of our periodic OPEB cost in 2010.

The table below details the changes in other comprehensive income during 2007, 2008 and 2009.
  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
Changes in benefit obligations recognized in
 other comprehensive income:          
   Net actuarial gain arising during the year  $ (836)  $ (665)  $ (437)
   Plan amendments   (425)   -   - 
Amortization of unrecognized:

Prior service credit    112   179   179 
   Net actuarial losses   (15)    -    - 
             
     Total  $ (1,164)  $ (486)  $ (258)

The components of our periodic OPEB cost are presented in the table below.  The amounts shown below for the amortization of unrecognized
actuarial losses and prior service credit in 2008 and 2009, net of deferred income taxes, were recognized as components of our accumulated other
comprehensive income at December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 respectively.
 
  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
          
Net periodic OPEB cost:          

Interest cost  $ 726  $ 655  $ 551 
Amortization of prior service credit   (112)   (179)   (179)
Recognized actuarial losses   15   -   - 

             
Total  $ 629  $ 476  $ 372 

A summary of our key actuarial assumptions used to determine the net benefit obligation as of December 31, 2008 and 2009 follows:

 2008 2009
   
Health care inflation:   
  Initial rate 8.0% 7.5%
  Ultimate rate 5.5% 5.5%
  Year of ultimate rate achievement 2014 2014
   
Discount rate 5.8% 4.9%

The assumed health care cost trend rate has a significant effect on the amount we report for OPEB cost.  A one-percent change in assumed health care
trend rates would have the following effect:

 1% Increase 1% Decrease
 (In thousands)
   
Effect on net OPEB cost during 2009 $ 25 $(20)
Effect at December 31, 2009 on
 postretirement obligation 475 (430)

The weighted average discount rate used in determining the net periodic OPEB cost for 2009 was 5.8% (the rate was 6.2% in 2008 and 5.8% in



2007).  The weighted average rate was determined using the projected benefit obligation as of the beginning of each year.

Note 17 - Related party transactions:

We may be deemed to be controlled by Harold C. Simmons.  See Note 1.  We and other entities that may be deemed to be controlled by or affiliated
with Mr. Simmons sometimes engage in (a) intercorporate transactions such as guarantees, management and expense sharing arrangements, shared fee
arrangements, joint ventures, partnerships, loans, options, advances of funds on open account, and sales, leases and exchanges of assets, including securities
issued by both related and unrelated parties and (b) common investment and acquisition strategies, business combinations, reorganizations, recapitalizations,
securities repurchases, and purchases and sales (and other acquisitions and dispositions) of subsidiaries, divisions or other business units, which transactions
have involved both related and unrelated parties and have included transactions which resulted in the acquisition by one related party of a publicly-held
noncontrolling equity interest in another related party.  We periodically consider, review and evaluate, and understand that Contran and related entities
consider, review and evaluate such transactions.  Depending upon the business, tax and other objectives then relevant, it is possible that we might be a party
to one or more such transactions in the future.

Receivables from and payables to affiliates are summarized in the table below:

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
       
Current receivables from affiliates:       

Income taxes receivable from Valhi  $ 150  $ 2,880 
Note receivable from Valhi   3,000   - 

  Valhi – trade items    -   8 
         

Total  $ 3,150  $ 2,888 
         
Current payables to affiliates:         

Income taxes payable to Valhi  $ 919  $ - 
Note payable TIMET   1,000   - 
Accrued interest payable to TIMET   528   - 
Kronos – trade items   256   112 
Tremont – trade items   436   471 

         
Total  $ 3,139  $ 583 

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
       
Noncurrent payable to affiliate:       

Note payable to TIMET  $ 42,980  $ 42,230 
Accrued interest payable to TIMET      -    310 

   42,980   42,540 
         

Less current maturities   1,000   - 
         

Total note payable and interest due to TIMET  $ 41,980  $ 42,540 

In 2007, CompX purchased or cancelled a net 2.7 million shares of its Class A common stock from TIMET.  CompX purchased or cancelled these
shares for $19.50 per share, or aggregate consideration of $52.6 million, which was paid in the form of a promissory note.  The price per share was determined
based on CompX’s open market repurchases of its Class A common stock around the time the repurchase and/or cancellation from TIMET was approved.  The
promissory note, as amended, bears interest at LIBOR plus 1% (1.25% at December 31, 2009) and provides for quarterly principal repayments of $250,000
commencing in March 2011, with the balance due at maturity in September 2014.  Prior to September 2009, we made required quarterly interest payments
and made quarterly principal repayments of $250,000 commencing in September 2008.  We could also make principal prepayments at any time, in any
amount without penalty, including $2.6 million paid in the fourth quarter of 2007 and $7.0 million paid during 2008.  The promissory note is subordinated
to CompX’s U.S. revolving bank credit agreement, and no further principal or interest payments are due until March 2011.  See Note 12.  We may make
additional prepayments on or after March 31, 2011, subject to meeting certain conditions specified in the revolving bank credit agreement.  At December 31,
2009, the principal amount outstanding under the promissory note was approximately $42.2 million and the amount of related accrued and unpaid interest
was approximately $311,000.  Interest expense on the note payable to TIMET was approximately $.6 million, $2.2 million and $.8 million in 2007, 2008 and
2009, respectively.  The scheduled repayments of the promissory note are shown in the table below.

Years ending December 31, Amount
 (In thousands)
  
  2010 $    -     
  2011 1,000
  2012 1,000
  2013  1,000
  2014  39,230
  
Total $42,230

From time to time, we will have loans and advances outstanding between us and various related parties, pursuant to term and demand notes.  We
generally enter into these loans and advances for cash management purposes.  When we loan funds to related parties, we are generally able to earn a higher
rate of return on the loan than the lender would earn if the funds were invested in other instruments.  While certain of such loans may be of a lesser credit
quality than cash equivalent instruments otherwise available to us, we believe that we have evaluated the credit risks involved and reflected those credit risks
in the terms of the applicable loans.  When we borrow from related parties, we are generally able to pay a lower rate of interest than we would pay if we



borrowed from unrelated parties.

In 2008 the independent members of our Board of Directors and the independent members of the Board of Directors of Kronos and Valhi approved
the terms for us to lend up to $40 million to each of Kronos and Valhi through December 31, 2009.  Our loans to Kronos and Valhi under each of the
revolving notes were unsecured, bore interest at the prime rate minus 1.5% and were due no later than December 31, 2009.  At December 31, 2008, we had
loans of $19.2 million outstanding under the revolving note to Kronos and $3.0 million outstanding to Valhi, which amounts were repaid to us during
2009.  Loans to Kronos are included in our equity investment in Kronos.  See Note 7.  Interest earned on our notes receivable from Kronos and Valhi
aggregated approximately $115,000 in 2008 and $270,000 in 2009.

Under the terms of various intercorporate services agreements ("ISAs") we enter into with Contran, employees of Contran will provide certain
management, tax planning, financial and administrative services to the other company on a fee basis.  Such charges are based upon estimates of the time
devoted by the Contran employees to our affairs and the compensation and other expenses associated with those persons.  Because of the large number of
companies affiliated with Contran, we believe we benefit from cost savings and economies of scale gained by not having certain management, financial and
administrative staffs duplicated at each entity, thus allowing certain Contran employees to provide services to multiple companies but only be compensated
by Contran.  The net ISA fees charged to us by Contran, (including amounts attributable to Kronos for all periods), approved by the independent members of
the applicable board of directors, aggregated approximately $14.3 million, $14.7 million, and $15.4 million in 2007, 2008 and 2009 respectively.

Tall Pines Insurance Company (“TPIC”) and EWI RE, Inc. provide for or broker certain insurance or reinsurance policies for Contran and certain of
its subsidiaries and affiliates, including us.  Tall Pines is wholly-owned by a subsidiary of Valhi and EWI is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ours.  Consistent
with insurance industry practices, Tall Pines and EWI receive commissions from insurance and reinsurance underwriters and/or assess fees for the policies that
they provide or broker.  These amounts principally included payments for insurance and reinsurance premiums paid to third parties, but also included
commissions paid to Tall Pines and EWI.  Tall Pines purchases reinsurance for substantially all of the risks it underwrites.  We expect that these relationships
with Tall Pines and EWI will continue in 2010.
 

Contran and certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates, including us, purchase certain of their insurance policies as a group, with the costs of the
jointly-owned policies being apportioned among the participating companies.  With respect to certain of such policies, it is possible that unusually large
losses incurred by one or more insured party during a given policy period could leave the other participating companies without adequate coverage under
that policy for the balance of the policy period.  As a result, Contran and certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates, including us, have entered into a loss sharing
agreement under which any uninsured loss is shared by those entities who have submitted claims under the relevant policy.  We believe the benefits in the
form of reduced premiums and broader coverage associated with the group coverage for such policies justifies the risk associated with the potential for any
uninsured loss.

Note 18 – Other operating income (expense):

Insurance recoveries in 2007, 2008 and 2009 relate to amounts we received from certain of our former insurance carriers, and relate principally to the
recovery of prior lead pigment and asbestos litigation defense costs incurred by us.  We have agreements with two former insurance carriers pursuant to which
the carriers reimburse us for a portion of our future lead pigment litigation defense costs, and one such carrier reimburses us for a portion of our future asbestos
litigation defense costs.  We are not able to determine how much we will ultimately recover from these carriers for defense costs incurred by us because of
certain issues that arise regarding which defense costs qualify for reimbursement.
 

While we continue to seek additional insurance recoveries for lead pigment and asbestos litigation matters, we do not know the extent to which we
will be successful in obtaining additional reimbursement for either defense costs or indemnity.  Any additional insurance recoveries would be recognized
when the receipt is probable and the amount is determinable.

The litigation settlement gain is discussed in Note 19.

Note 19 - Commitments and contingencies:

Lead pigment litigation

Our former operations included the manufacture of lead pigments for use in paint and lead-based paint.  We, other former manufacturers of lead
pigments for use in paint and lead-based paint (together, the “former pigment manufacturers”), and the Lead Industries Association (“LIA”), which
discontinued business operations in 2002, have been named as defendants in various legal proceedings seeking damages for personal injury, property
damage and governmental expenditures allegedly caused by the use of lead-based paints.  Certain of these actions have been filed by or on behalf of states,
counties, cities or their public housing authorities and school districts, and certain others have been asserted as class actions.  These lawsuits seek recovery
under a variety of theories, including public and private nuisance, negligent product design, negligent failure to warn, strict liability, breach of warranty,
conspiracy/concert of action, aiding and abetting, enterprise liability, market share or risk contribution liability, intentional tort, fraud and misrepresentation,
violations of state consumer protection statutes, supplier negligence and similar claims.

The plaintiffs in these actions generally seek to impose on the defendants responsibility for lead paint abatement and health concerns associated
with the use of lead-based paints, including damages for personal injury, contribution and/or indemnification for medical expenses, medical monitoring
expenses and costs for educational programs.  To the extent the plaintiffs seek compensatory or punitive damages in these actions, such damages are
generally unspecified.  In some cases, the damages are unspecified pursuant to the requirements of applicable state law.  A number of cases are inactive or
have been dismissed or withdrawn.  Most of the remaining cases are in various pre-trial stages.  Some are on appeal following dismissal or summary judgment
rulings in favor of either the defendants or the plaintiffs.  In addition, various other cases (in which we are not a defendant) are pending that seek recovery for
injury allegedly caused by lead pigment and lead-based paint.  Although we are not a defendant in these cases, the outcome of these cases may have an
impact on cases that might be filed against us in the future.

We believe that these actions are without merit, and we intend to continue to deny all allegations of wrongdoing and liability and to defend against
all actions vigorously.  We do not believe it is probable that we have incurred any liability with respect to all of the lead pigment litigation cases to which we
are a party, and liability to us that may result, if any, in this regard cannot be reasonably estimated, because:

·  we have never settled any of these cases,
·  no final, non-appealable adverse verdicts have ever been entered against us, and
·  we have never ultimately been found liable with respect to any such litigation matters.

Accordingly, we have not accrued any amounts for any of the pending lead pigment and lead-based paint litigation cases.  New cases may continue
to be filed against us.  We cannot assure you that we will not incur liability in the future in respect of any of the pending or possible litigation in view of the
inherent uncertainties involved in court and jury rulings.  The resolution of any of these cases could result in recognition of a loss contingency accrual that
could have a material adverse impact on our net income for the interim or annual period during which such liability is recognized and a material adverse
impact on our consolidated financial condition and liquidity.



Environmental matters and litigation

Our operations are governed by various environmental laws and regulations.  Certain of our businesses are and have been engaged in the handling,
manufacture or use of substances or compounds that may be considered toxic or hazardous within the meaning of applicable environmental laws and
regulations.  As with other companies engaged in similar businesses, certain of our past and current operations and products have the potential to cause
environmental or other damage.  We have implemented and continue to implement various policies and programs in an effort to minimize these risks.  Our
policy is to maintain compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations at all of our plants and to strive to improve environmental
performance.  From time to time, we may be subject to environmental regulatory enforcement under U.S. and non-U.S. statutes, the resolution of which
typically involves the establishment of compliance programs.  It is possible that future developments, such as stricter requirements of environmental laws and
enforcement policies, could adversely affect our production, handling, use, storage, transportation, sale or disposal of such substances.  We believe that all of
our facilities are in substantial compliance with applicable environmental laws.

Certain properties and facilities used in our former operations, including divested primary and secondary lead smelters and former mining locations,
are the subject of civil litigation, administrative proceedings or investigations arising under federal and state environmental laws.  Additionally, in
connection with past operating practices, we are currently involved as a defendant, potentially responsible party (“PRP”) or both, pursuant to the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act
(“CERCLA”), and similar state laws in various governmental and private actions associated with waste disposal sites, mining locations, and facilities we or
our predecessors currently or previously owned, operated or were used by us or our subsidiaries, or their predecessors, certain of which are on the United
States Environmental Protection Agency’s (“EPA”) Superfund National Priorities List or similar state lists.  These proceedings seek cleanup costs, damages
for personal injury or property damage and/or damages for injury to natural resources.  Certain of these proceedings involve claims for substantial
amounts.  Although we may be jointly and severally liable for these costs, in most cases we are only one of a number of PRPs who may also be jointly and
severally liable, and among whom costs may be shared or allocated.  In addition, we are also a party to a number of personal injury lawsuits filed in various
jurisdictions alleging claims related to environmental conditions alleged to have resulted from our operations.

Environmental obligations are difficult to assess and estimate for numerous reasons including the:
·  complexity and differing interpretations of governmental regulations,
·  number of PRPs and their ability or willingness to fund such allocation of costs,
·  financial capabilities of the PRPs and the allocation of costs among them,
·  solvency of other PRPs,
·  multiplicity of possible solutions,
·  number of years of investigatory, remedial and monitoring activity required and
·  number of years between former operations and notice of claims and lack of information and documents about the former operations.

In addition, the imposition of more stringent standards or requirements under environmental laws or regulations, new developments or changes
regarding site cleanup costs or allocation of costs among PRPs, solvency of other PRPs, the results of future testing and analysis undertaken with respect to
certain sites or a determination that we are potentially responsible for the release of hazardous substances at other sites, could cause our expenditures to
exceed our current estimates.  Because we may be jointly and severally liable for the total remediation cost at certain sites, the amount for which we are
ultimately liable may exceed our accruals due to, among other things, the reallocation of costs among PRPs or the insolvency of one or more PRPs.  We
cannot assure you that actual costs will not exceed accrued amounts or the upper end of the range for sites for which estimates have been made, and we
cannot assure you that costs will not be incurred for sites where no estimates presently can be made.  Further, additional environmental matters may arise in
the future.  If we were to incur any future liability, this could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements, results of operations and
liquidity.

We record liabilities related to environmental remediation obligations when estimated future expenditures are probable and reasonably
estimable.  We adjust our environmental accruals as further information becomes available to us or as circumstances change.  We generally do not discount
estimated future expenditures to their present value due to the uncertainty of the timing of the pay out.  We recognize recoveries of remediation costs from
other parties, if any, as assets when their receipt is deemed probable.  At December 31, 2009, we have not recognized any receivables for recoveries.

We do not know and cannot estimate the exact time frame over which we will make payments for our accrued environmental costs.  The timing of
payments depends upon a number of factors including the timing of the actual remediation process; which in turn depends on factors outside of our
control.  At each balance sheet date, we estimate the amount of our accrued environmental costs which we expect to pay within the next twelve months, and
we classify this estimate as a current liability.  We classify the remaining accrued environmental costs as a noncurrent liability.

The table below presents a summary of the activity in our accrued environmental costs during the past three years.  The amount charged to expense
is included in corporate expense on our consolidated statements of income.
  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
          
Balance at the beginning of the year  $ 50,713  $ 50,330  $ 50,054 
Additions charged to expense, net   4,368   6,779   3,725 
Payments, net   (4,751)   (7,055)   (7,933)
             
Balance at the end of the year  $ 50,330  $ 50,054  $ 45,846 
             
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet:             

Current liability  $ 11,863  $ 9,834  $ 8,328 
Noncurrent liability   38,467   40,220   37,518 

             
Total  $ 50,330  $ 50,054  $ 45,846 

On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the potential range of our liability at sites where we have been named as a PRP or defendant, including sites for
which our wholly-owned environmental management subsidiary, EMS, has contractually assumed our obligations.  At December 31, 2009, we had accrued
approximately $46 million, related to approximately 50 sites, which are environmental matters that we believe are at the present time and/or in their current
phase reasonably estimable.  The upper end of the range of reasonably possible costs to us for sites for which we believe it is possible to estimate costs is
approximately $81 million, including the amount currently accrued.  We have not discounted these estimates to present value.

We believe that it is not possible to estimate the range of costs for certain sites.  At December 31, 2009, there were approximately 5  sites for which
we are not currently able to estimate a range of costs.  For these sites, generally the investigation is in the early stages, and we are unable to determine whether
or not we actually had any association with the site, the nature of our responsibility, if any, for the contamination at the site and the extent of contamination



at and cost to remediate the site.  The timing and availability of information on these sites is dependent on events outside of our control, such as when the
party alleging liability provides information to us.  At certain of these previously inactive sites, we have received general and special notices of liability from
the EPA and/or state agencies alleging that we, sometimes with other PRPs, are liable for past and future costs of remediating environmental contamination
allegedly caused by former operations.  These notifications may assert that we, along with any other alleged PRPs, are liable for past and/or future clean-up
costs that could be material to us if we are ultimately found liable.

In 2005, certain real property we owned that is subject to environmental remediation was taken from us in a condemnation proceeding by a
governmental authority in New Jersey.  The condemnation proceeds, the adequacy of which we disputed, were placed into escrow with a court in New
Jersey.  Because the funds were in escrow with the court and were beyond our control, we never gave recognition to such condemnation proceeds for financial
reporting purposes.  In October 2008 we reached a definitive settlement agreement with such governmental authority and a real estate developer, among
others, pursuant to which, among other things, we would receive certain agreed-upon amounts in satisfaction of our claim to just compensation for the taking
of our property in the condemnation proceeding at three separate closings, and we would be indemnified against certain environmental liabilities related to
such property, in exchange for the release of our equitable lien on specified portions of the property at each closing.  At the initial October 2008 closing, we
received aggregate proceeds of $54.6 million, comprising $39.6 million in cash plus a promissory note in the amount of $15.0 million in exchange for the
release of our equitable lien on a portion of the property.  In April 2009, the second closing was completed, pursuant to which we received an aggregate of
$11.8 million in cash.  The agreement calls for one final closing that is scheduled to occur in October 2010 and that is subject to, among other things, our
receipt of an additional payment.

For financial reporting purposes, we have accounted for the aggregate consideration received in the 2008 and 2009 closings of the reinstated
settlement agreement by the full accrual method of accounting for real estate sales (since the settlement agreement arose out of a dispute concerning the
adequacy of the condemnation proceeds for our former real property in New Jersey).  Under this method, we recognized a pre-tax gain of $48.8 million in the
fourth quarter of 2008 and a pre-tax gain of $11.3 million in the second quarter of 2009, in both cases based on the difference between the aggregate
consideration received and the carrying value of the portion of the property for which we have released our equitable lien in the closings ($5.5 million and
$487,000, respectively).  Similarly, the cash consideration we received in the closings is reflected as an investing activity in our Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows.  Our carrying value of the remaining portion of this property, attributable to the portion of the property for which our equitable lien
would be released in the third closing, was approximately $500,000 at December 31, 2009.

Insurance coverage claims

We are involved in certain legal proceedings with a number of our former insurance carriers regarding the nature and extent of the carriers’
obligations to us under insurance policies with respect to certain lead pigment and asbestos lawsuits.  The issue of whether insurance coverage for defense
costs or indemnity or both will be found to exist for our lead pigment and asbestos litigation depends upon a variety of factors, and we cannot assure you that
such insurance coverage will be available.

We have agreements with two former insurance carriers pursuant to which the carriers reimburse us for a portion of our future lead pigment litigation defense
costs, and one such carrier reimburses us for a portion of our future asbestos litigation defense costs.  We are not able to determine how much we will
ultimately recover from these carriers for defense costs incurred by us because of certain issues that arise regarding which defense costs qualify for
reimbursement.  While we continue to seek additional insurance recoveries, we do not know if we will be successful in obtaining reimbursement for either
defense costs or indemnity.  Accordingly, these insurance recoveries are recognized when the receipt is probable and the amount is determinable.

In October 2005 we were served with a complaint in OneBeacon American Insurance Company v. NL Industries, Inc., et al . (Supreme Court of the
State of New York, County of New York, Index No. 603429-05).  The plaintiff, a former insurance carrier, seeks a declaratory judgment of its obligations to us
under insurance policies issued to us by the plaintiff’s predecessor with respect to certain lead pigment lawsuits filed against us.  In March 2006, the trial
court denied our motion to dismiss.  In April 2006, we filed a notice of appeal of the trial court’s ruling, and in September 2007, the Supreme Court –
Appellate Division (First Department) reversed and ordered that the OneBeacon complaint be dismissed.  The Appellate Division did not dismiss the
counterclaims and cross claims.

 
In February 2006, we were served with a complaint in Certain Underwriters at Lloyds, London v. Millennium Holdings LLC  et al. (Supreme Court of

the State of New York, County of New York, Index No. 06/60026).  The plaintiff, a former insurance carrier of ours, seeks a declaratory judgment of its
obligations to us under insurance policies issued to us by the plaintiff with respect to certain lead pigment lawsuits.

In December 2008, we reached partial settlements with the plaintiffs in the two cases discussed above, pursuant to which the two former insurance
carriers agreed to pay us an aggregate of approximately $7.2 million in settlement of certain counter-claims related to past lead pigment and asbestos defense
costs.  We received these funds from the carriers in January 2009.  In connection with these partial settlements, we agreed to dismiss the case captioned NL
Industries, Inc. v. OneBeacon America Insurance Company, et al.  (District Court for Dallas County, Texas, Case No. 05-11347), and in January 2009 we filed
a notice of non-suit without prejudice in that matter.  The remaining claims in New York state cases are proceeding in the trial court.

Other litigation

In June 2005, we received notices from the three minority shareholders of EMS indicating they were each exercising their right, which became
exercisable on June 1, 2005, to require EMS to purchase their preferred shares in EMS as of June 30, 2005 for a formula-determined amount as provided in
EMS’ certificate of incorporation.  In accordance with the certificate of incorporation, we made a determination in good faith of the amount payable to the
three former minority shareholders to purchase their shares of EMS stock, which amount may be subject to review by a third party.  In June 2005, we set aside
funds as payment for the shares of EMS, but as of December 31, 2009 the former minority shareholders had not tendered their shares.  Therefore, the liability
owed to these former minority shareholders has not been extinguished for financial reporting purposes as of December 31, 2009 and remains recognized as a
current liability in our Consolidated Financial Statements.  We have similarly classified the funds which have been set aside in restricted cash and cash
equivalents.

In May 2007, we filed a complaint in Texas state court (Contran Corporation, et al. v. Terry S. Casey, et al., Case No. 07-04855, 192 nd Judicial
District Court, Dallas County, Texas) in which we alleged negligence, conversion, and breach of contract against a former service provider of ours who was
also a former minority shareholder of EMS.  In February 2008, two other former minority shareholders of EMS filed counterclaims, a third-party petition and
petition in intervention, seeking damages related to their former ownership in EMS.  Our original claims were removed to arbitration, and the case is now
captioned Industrial Recovery Capital Holdings Co. et al. v. Harold C. Simmons et al., Case No. 08-02589, District Court, Dallas County, Texas.   The
defendants are us, Contran and certain of our and EMS’s current or former officers or directors.  The plaintiffs claim that, in preparing the valuation of the
former minority shareholders’ preferred shares for purchase by EMS, defendants committed breach of fiduciary duty, civil conspiracy, and breach of contract. 
We and EMS filed counterclaims against the former minority shareholders relating to the formation and management of EMS.  The case was tried in July
2009, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiffs.  The jury awarded $28.2 million in breach of contract damages and $33.7 million in breach of
fiduciary duty damages.  In addition, the jury awarded an aggregate of $145 million in punitive damages associated with the finding of breach of fiduciary
duty.  The plaintiffs will be required to elect breach of contract or breach of fiduciary duty damages, and the punitive damages would be awarded only if the
fiduciary duty claim and the punitive damage award are upheld on appeal.  Following the jury verdict, we filed a motion to disregard the jury’s findings and
for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.  In October 2009, the judge denied our motions and entered a final judgment.  In November 2009, we filed a
motion for new trial and, alternatively, for reduction of the damages awarded against us.  In December 2009, the punitive damages were reduced from $145



million to $67.4 million.  In January 2010, we filed a notice of appeal with the Texas State Court of Appeals (5th District).   We do not believe that the facts
and evidence support the judgment and damages awarded.  We continue to believe that the claims of the plaintiffs are without merit and are subject to certain
defenses and counterclaims.  Moreover, we believe that the plaintiffs’ claims are required to be resolved by independent third-parties pursuant to the
applicable governing documents, whose findings would be binding on all parties.  We intend to continue to vigorously defend the matter.  We expect that
the judgment will be set aside.  At December 31, 2009, we believe that we have adequately accrued for the amount we will ultimately be required to pay to
the former minority shareholders in this matter, and our accrual in this regard is included in other current accrued liabilities.  See Note 10.  Such amount could
be increased or decreased as further information becomes available or circumstances change.

We have been named as a defendant in various lawsuits in several jurisdictions, alleging personal injuries as a result of occupational exposure
primarily to products manufactured by our former operations containing asbestos, silica and/or mixed dust.  During the first quarter of 2009, certain of these
cases involving multiple plaintiffs were separated into single-plaintiff cases.  As a result, the total number of outstanding cases increased.  Approximately
1,226 of these types of cases remain pending, involving a total of approximately 2,800 plaintiffs.  In addition, the claims of approximately 7,500 plaintiffs
have been administratively dismissed or placed on the inactive docket in Ohio and Indiana state courts.  We do not expect these claims will be re-opened
unless the plaintiffs meet the courts’ medical criteria for asbestos-related claims.  We have not accrued any amounts for this litigation because of the
uncertainty of liability and inability to reasonably estimate the liability, if any.  To date, we have not been adjudicated liable in any of these matters.  Based
on information available to us, including:

·  facts concerning historical operations,
·  the rate of new claims,
·  the number of claims from which we have been dismissed and
·  our prior experience in the defense of these matters,

we believe that the range of reasonably possible outcomes of these matters will be consistent with our historical costs (which are not material).  Furthermore,
we do not expect any reasonably possible outcome would involve amounts material to our consolidated financial position, results of operations or
liquidity.  We have sought and will continue to vigorously seek, dismissal and/or a finding of no liability from each claim.  In addition, from time to time, we
have received notices regarding asbestos or silica claims purporting to be brought against former subsidiaries, including notices provided to insurers with
which we have entered into settlements extinguishing certain insurance policies.  These insurers may seek indemnification from us.

CompX

On February 10, 2009, a complaint (Doc. No. DN2650) was filed with the U.S. International Trade Commission (“ITC”) by Humanscale Corporation
requesting that the ITC commence an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 to evaluate allegations concerning the unlawful
importation of certain adjustable keyboard related products into the U.S. by CompX’s Canadian subsidiary.  The products are alleged to infringe certain
claims under U.S. patent No. 5,292,097C1 (the “‘097 Patent”) held by Humanscale.  The complaint seeks as relief the barring of future imports of the products
into the U.S. until the expiration of the related patent in March 2011.  In March 2009 the ITC agreed to undertake the investigation and set a procedural
schedule with a hearing set for December 12, 2009 and a target date of June 2010 for its findings.  The hearing was completed on December 4, 2009.  On
February 23, 2010, the administrative law judge overseeing the investigation issued his opinion, finding that a significant independent claim within the ‘097
Patent was determined to be “obvious” under 35 U.S.C. Section 102, which generally results in the lack of enforceability of such a claim against
infringement.  The judge further found that 38 of the 40 keyboard support products in question that CompX imports into the United States from its Canadian
subsidiary did not infringe on the ‘097 Patent.  The sales of the remaining two products found to be infringing are not significant.  CompX denies any
infringement alleged in the investigation and plans to defend itself with respect to any claims of infringement by Humanscale through the Presidential review
process of the ruling, which is expected to conclude in August 2010.

On February 13, 2009, a Complaint for patent infringement was filed in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Virginia, Alexandria
Division (CV No. 3:09CV86-JRS) by Humanscale Corporation against CompX International Inc. and CompX Waterloo.  CompX answered the allegations of
infringement of Humanscale’s ‘097 Patent set forth in the complaint on March 30, 2009.  CompX filed for a stay in the U.S. District Court Action pending the
completion of the related case before the ITC with respect to Humanscale’s claims (as a matter of legislated right because of the ITC action) while at the same
time counterclaiming patent infringement claims against Humanscale for infringement of CompX’s keyboard support arm patents (U.S. No. 5,037,054 and
U.S. No. 5,257,767) by Humanscale’s models 2G, 4G and 5G support arms.  Humanscale has filed a response not opposing CompX’s motion to stay their
patent infringement claims but opposing CompX’s patent infringement counterclaims against them and asking the Court to stay all claims in the matter until
the ITC investigation is concluded.  CompX filed its response to their motions.  At a hearing before the court held on May 19, 2009, CompX’s motion to stay
the Humanscale claim of patent infringement was granted and Humanscale’s motion to stay CompX’s counterclaims was denied.  A jury trial was completed
on February 25, 2010 relating to CompX’s counter claims, with the jury finding that Humanscale infringed on CompX’s patents and awarded damages to
CompX in excess of $19 million for past royalties.  The verdict is subject to appeal.  Due to the uncertain nature of the ongoing legal proceedings we have
not accrued a receivable for the amount of the award.

We currently believe that the disposition of all of these various other claims and disputes, individually or in the aggregate, should not have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity beyond the accruals already provided.

Concentrations of credit risk

Component products are sold primarily in North America to original equipment manufacturers.  The ten largest customers accounted for
approximately 31% of sales in 2007, 35% in 2008 and 39% in 2009.  No customer accounted for sales of 10% or more in 2007, 2008 or 2009.

A t December 31, 2009, consolidated cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities includes $11.8 million invested in U.S.
Treasury and government agency securities purchased under short-term agreements to resell (2008 - $11.9 million), all of which is held in trust by a single
U.S. bank.

Other

Rent expense, principally for CompX operating facilities and equipment was $429,000 in 2007, $648,000 in 2008 and $658,000 in 2009.  At
December 31, 2009, future minimum rentals under noncancellable operating leases are approximately:

Years ending December 31, Amount
 (In thousands)
  
  2010 $   579
  2011      512
  2012     208
  
    Total $ 1,299
 
Income taxes



We and Valhi have agreed to a policy providing for the allocation of tax liabilities and tax payments as described in Note 1.  Under applicable law,
we, as well as every other member of the Contran Tax Group, are each jointly and severally liable for the aggregate federal income tax liability of Contran
and the other companies included in the Contran Tax Group for all periods in which we are included in the Contran Tax Group.  Valhi has agreed, however,
to indemnify us for any liability for income taxes of the Contran Tax Group in excess of our tax liability previously computed and paid by NL in accordance
with the tax allocation policy.  In this regard, in the event that all or a portion of the $10.8 million income tax liability discussed in Note 15 related to the
shares of TIMET transferred by Valhi to us in 2007 becomes payable by Contran to the applicable tax authority, we and every other member of the Contran
Tax Group would be jointly and severally liable for such income tax liabilities in the event Contran did not pay such tax to the applicable tax
authority.  However, in this event, we would also have the benefit of Valhi’s indemnification, as described above.

Note 20 - Financial instruments:

We adopted the fair value framework of ASC Topic 820 effective January 1, 2008 for financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis. The
statement requires fair value measurements to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories, see Note 1.

The following table summarizes the valuation of our short-term investments and marketable securities by the ASC Topic 820 categories as of
December 31, 2008 and 2009:

  Fair Value Measurements
 

Total
Quoted Prices in Active

Markets (Level 1)
Significant Other Observable

Inputs (Level 2)
 

  (in millions)
     
December 31, 2008:     
Marketable securities:     
  Current  $      5.5 $   -  $  5.5  
  Noncurrent  64.0   64.0    -  
     
December 31, 2009:     
Marketable securities:     
  Current  $     5.2  $   -    $  5.2  
  Noncurrent  85.1   85.1    -  
     

See Note 4 for information on how we determine fair value of our marketable securities.

Certain of our sales generated by CompX’s non-U.S. operations are denominated in U.S. dollars.  CompX periodically uses currency forward
contracts to manage a portion of currency exchange rate market risk associated with receivables, or similar exchange rate risk associated with future sales,
denominated in a currency other than the holder's functional currency.  CompX has not entered into these contracts for trading or speculative purposes in the
past, nor does it anticipate entering into such contracts for trading or speculative purposes in the future.  Most of the currency forward contracts meet the
criteria for hedge accounting under GAAP and are designated as cash flow hedges.  For these currency forward contracts, gains and losses representing the
effective portion of our hedges are deferred as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, and are subsequently recognized in earnings at the
time the hedged item affects earnings.  Occasionally CompX enters into currency forward contracts which do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting.  For
these contracts, we mark-to-market the estimated fair value of the contracts at each balance sheet date based on quoted market prices for the forward contracts,
with any resulting gain or loss recognized in income as part of net currency transactions.  The quoted market prices for the forward contracts are a Level 1
input as defined by ASC 820-10-35.  We had no currency forward contracts outstanding at December 31, 2009.  At December 31, 2008, we held a series of
contracts to exchange an aggregate of U.S. $7.5 million for an equivalent value of Canadian dollars at exchange rates ranging from Cdn. $1.25 to $1.26 per
U.S. dollar.  These contracts qualified for hedge accounting and matured through June 2009.  The exchange rate was $1.22 per U.S. dollar at December 31,
2008.  The estimated fair value of the contracts was not material at December 31, 2008.

The following table presents the financial instruments that are not carried at fair value but which require fair value disclosure as December 31, 2008
and 2009:

  December 31, 2008  December 31, 2009

 
Carrying
 Amount 

Fair
 Value 

Carrying
 Amount 

Fair
 Value 

 (in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents, current restricted cash equivalents and current

marketable securities $  29.4 $  29.4 $  36.9 $  36.9
     
Promissory note receivable    15.0    15.0   15.0   15.0
     
Note payable to affiliate   43.0   43.0   42.2   42.2
     
Noncontrolling interest in CompX common stock   11.9    8.5   11.1 12.2
     
NL stockholders’ equity  188.4  651.2  174.6  337.4

The fair value of our noncurrent marketable equity securities, restricted marketable debt securities, noncontrolling interest in CompX and NL
stockholder’s equity are based upon quoted market prices at each balance sheet date, which represent Level 1 inputs.  The fair value of our promissory note
receivable and our variable interest rate debt is deemed to approximate book value.  Due to their near-term maturities, the carrying amounts of accounts
receivable and accounts payable are considered equivalent to fair value.

Note 21 – Recent accounting pronouncements:

Noncontrolling Interest – I n December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard (“SFAS”) No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an Amendment of ARB No. 51, which is now included with ASC
Topic 810 Consolidation.  SFAS No. 160 establishes a single method of accounting for changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in deconsolidation.  On a prospective basis, any changes in ownership are accounted for as equity transactions with no gain or loss recognized on the
transactions unless there is a change in control; under previous GAAP such changes in ownership would generally result either in the recognition of
additional goodwill (for an increase in ownership) or a gain or loss included in the determination of net income (for a decrease in ownership).  The statement



standardizes the presentation of noncontrolling interest as a component of equity on the balance sheet and on a net income basis in the statement of
operations.  This Statement also requires expanded disclosures in the consolidated financial statements that clearly identify and distinguish between the
interests of the parent and the interests of the noncontrolling owners of a subsidiary.  Upon adoption, we reclassified our consolidated balance sheet and
statement of operations to conform to the new presentation requirements for noncontrolling interest for all periods presented.

Benefit Plan Asset Disclosures - During the fourth quarter of 2008, the FASB issued FSP SFAS 132 (R)-1, Employers’ Disclosures about
Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets, which is now included with ASC Topic 715 Defined Benefit Plans.  This statement amends SFAS No. 87, 88 and 106 to
require expanded disclosures about employers’ pension plan assets.  FSP 132 (R)-1 became effective for us beginning with this annual report, and we have
provided the expanded disclosures about our pension plan assets in Note 16.

Derivative Disclosures – In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, an
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133, which is now included with ASC Topic 815  Derivatives and Hedging.  SFAS No. 161 changes the disclosure
requirements for derivative instruments and hedging activities to provide enhanced disclosures about how and why we use derivative instruments, how
derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133 and how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect our
financial position and performance and cash flows.  This statement became effective for us in the first quarter of 2009.  We periodically use currency forward
contracts to manage a portion of our currency exchange rate market risk associated with trade receivables or future sales.  Because our prior disclosures
regarding these forward contracts substantially met all of the applicable disclosure requirements of the new standard, its effectiveness did not have a
significant effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairments - In April 2009 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, Recognition and
Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments, which is now included with ASC Topic 320 Debt and Equity Securities.  The FSP amends existing
guidance for the recognition and measurement of other-than-temporary impairments for debt and equity securities classified as available-for-sale and held-to-
maturity, and expands the disclosure requirements for interim and annual periods for available-for-sale and held-to-maturity debt securities, including
information about investments in an unrealized loss position for which an other-than-temporary impairment has or has not been recognized.  This FSP
became effective for us in the second quarter of 2009 and its adoption did not have a material effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fair Value Disclosures - Also in April 2009 the FASB issued FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments, which is now included with ASC Topic 825 Financial Instruments.  This FSP requires us to disclose the fair value of all financial instruments for
which it is practicable to estimate the value, whether recognized or not recognized in the statement of financial position, as required by SFAS No. 107,
Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments for interim as well as annual periods.  Prior to the adoption of the FSP we were only required to
disclose this information annually.  This FSP became effective for us in the second quarter of 2009.  See Note 20.

 
Subsequent Events – In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, Subsequent Events, which is now included with ASC Topic 855  Subsequent

Events.  SFAS No. 165 establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial
statements are issued. This statement clarifies existing guidance on subsequent events including:

·  the requirement that a public entity evaluate subsequent events through the issue date of the financial statements,
·  the determination of when the effects of subsequent events should be recognized in the financial statements and
·  the disclosures regarding all subsequent events.

SFAS No. 165 became effective for us in the second quarter of 2009 and its adoption did not have a material effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Uncertain Tax Positions - In the second quarter of 2006 the FASB issued FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertain Tax Positions, which is now included
with ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes , which we adopted on January 1, 2007.  FIN 48 clarifies when and how much of a benefit we can recognize in our
consolidated financial statements for certain positions taken in our income tax returns and enhances the disclosure requirements for our income tax policies
and reserves.  Among other things, FIN 48 prohibits us from recognizing the benefits of a tax position unless we believe it is more-likely-than-not our
position will prevail with the applicable tax authorities and limits the amount of the benefit to the largest amount for which we believe the likelihood of
realization is greater than 50%.  FIN 48 also requires companies to accrue penalties and interest on the difference between tax positions taken on their tax
returns and the amount of benefit recognized for financial reporting purposes under the new standard.  We are required to classify any future reserves for
uncertain tax positions in a separate current or noncurrent liability, depending on the nature of the tax position. 

Upon adoption of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007, we decreased our existing reserve for uncertain tax positions, which we previously classified as part of
our deferred income taxes, from $24.3 million to $23.9 million and accounted for such $.4 million decrease as an increase in retained earnings in accordance
with the transition provisions of the standard.  Kronos also adopted FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007.  The amount of our pro-rata share of the impact to Kronos
from adopting FIN 48, net of our applicable deferred income taxes, resulted in a $.5 million decrease in our retained earnings.

The following table shows the changes in the amount of our uncertain tax positions (exclusive of the effect of interest and penalties) during 2007,
2008 and 2009:

  December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In millions)  
Unrecognized liabilities:          
  Balance at the beginning of the period  $ 23.1  $ 21.1  $ 18.8 
  Tax positions taken in prior periods:             
                 Gross decreases   -   (.3)   - 
  Settlements with taxing authorities-cash paid   (.3)   -   - 
  Lapse of applicable statute of limitations   (1.7)   (2.0)   (1.8)
             
  Balance at the end of the period  $ 21.1  $ 18.8  $ 17.0 
             

If our uncertain tax positions were recognized, a benefit of $19.0 million, $16.8 million and $15.3 million would affect our effective income tax rate
in 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.  We currently estimate that our unrecognized tax benefits will decrease by approximately $130,000 during the next
twelve months due to the resolution of certain examination and filing procedures related to one or more of our subsidiaries and to the expiration of certain
statutes of limitations.

     
We accrue interest and penalties on our uncertain tax positions as a component of our provision for income taxes.  The amount of interest and

penalties we accrued during 2007 was $1.3 million, and at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009 we had $.5 million and an immaterial amount,
respectively, accrued for interest and penalties for our uncertain tax positions.

 
We file income tax returns in various U.S. federal, state and local jurisdictions.  We also file income tax returns in various non-U.S. jurisdictions,

principally in Canada and Taiwan.  Our domestic income tax returns prior to 2006 are generally considered closed to examination by applicable tax



authorities.  Our non-U.S. income tax returns are generally considered closed to examination for years prior to 2004 for Taiwan and 2005 for Canada.

Note 22 -                           Quarterly results of operations (unaudited):

  Quarter ended  
  March 31   June 30   Sept. 30   Dec. 31  
  (In millions, except per share data)  
Year ended December 31, 2008             

Net sales  $ 40.5  $ 43.7  $ 43.9  $ 37.4 
Gross margin   9.4   11.0   11.2   8.2 

                 
Net income (loss)   (.1)   4.3   (7.7)   36.3 

                 
Net income (loss)   attributable to NL stockholders (a)    (.3)    4.0    (6.8)    36.3 

                 
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share  $ (.01)  $ .08  $ (.14)  $ .75 

  Quarter ended  
  March 31   June 30   Sept. 30   Dec. 31  
  (In millions, except per share data)  
Year ended December 31, 2009             

Net sales  $ 28.5  $ 29.2  $ 29.4  $ 29.0 
Gross margin (c)   4.8   6.2   7.0   5.8 

                 
Net income (loss)   (11.9)   (2.4)   3.2   (1.0)

                 
Net income (loss) attributable to NL stockholders (b)(c)    (11.8)    (2.1)     3.1    (.9)

                 
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share  $ (.24)  $ (.04)  $ .06  $ (.02)

The sum of the quarterly per share amounts may not equal the annual per share amounts due to relative changes in the weighted average number of
shares used in the per share computations.

(a) We recognized the following amounts during 2008:
     · $10.1 million goodwill impairment charge in the third quarter, see Note 8;
     · $48.8 million pre-tax gain in the fourth quarter for a litigation settlement, see Note 19; and

·  $2.6 million ($1.7 million net of tax) included in our equity in net income of Kronos in the second quarter related to an adjustment of
certain income tax attributes of Kronos in Germany.

(b) We recognized the following amounts during 2009:
     · $.7 million write-down of assets held for sale in the second quarter, see Note 14;
     ·  $11.3 million pre-tax gain in the second quarter for a litigation settlement, see Note 19; and
     ·  $.3 million included in our equity in loss of Kronos in the fourth quarter ($.2 million, net of income taxes) in connection with the correction

of Kronos’ employee benefit         expense previously recognized for 2007, 2008 and the first three quarters of 2009.
 

(c)  In the fourth quarter of 2009, we recognized an inventory adjustment to correct an error in the valuation of certain of CompX’s raw material
inventories at one of its locations, which negatively impacted gross profit by approximately $300,000.  Net income attributable to NL
stockholders in the fourth quarter of 2009 includes a $160,000 charge, net of income tax, less than $.01 per share, related to this item.

  

 
 



 

NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE I - CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

Condensed Balance Sheets

 (In thousands)

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,075  $ 2,842 
Restricted cash equivalents   2,452   2,454 
Restricted marketable debt securities   5,371   5,225 
Accounts and notes receivable   7,343   597 
Receivable from subsidiaries and affiliates   6,308   3,370 
Prepaid expenses   35   116 
Deferred income taxes   3,611   2,734 

         
Total current assets   26,195   17,338 

         
Other assets:         

Marketable securities   46,317   61,409 
Investment in subsidiaries   97,419   97,005 
Investment in Kronos Worldwide, Inc.   133,745   112,766 
Other   15,490   15,317 
Property and equipment, net   647   581 

         
Total other assets   293,618   287,078 

         
Total assets  $ 319,813  $ 304,416 
         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 6,755  $ 7,689 
Payable to subsidiaries and affiliates   22,185   18,682 
Accrued environmental costs   7,253   6,128 

         
Total current liabilities   36,193   32,499 

         
Noncurrent liabilities:         

Deferred income tax   39,240   45,897 
Accrued environmental costs   13,542   11,765 
Accrued pension cost   11,767   12,233 
Accrued postretirement benefits cost   8,883   8,307 
Other   21,824   19,111 

         
Total noncurrent liabilities   95,256   97,313 

         
Stockholders' equity   188,364   174,604 
         
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 319,813  $ 304,416 
         

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
 

 
 



 

NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE I - CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT (CONTINUED)

Condensed Statements of Operations

(In thousands)

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
          
Revenues and other income (expense):          

Equity in losses of subsidiaries and affiliates  $ (18,401)  $ (3,706)  $ (13,076)
Litigation settlement gains   -   52,266   11,476 
Interest and dividends   1,482   6,266   1,847 
Securities transactions, net   22,741   -   - 
Insurance recoveries   5,659   9,610   4,631 
Other income (expense), net   (215)   65   69 

             
Total revenues and other income   11,266   64,501   4,947 
             
Costs and expenses:             

Corporate expense   28,842   23,516   23,046 
Interest   1   -   - 

             
Total costs and expenses   28,843   23,516   23,046 
             

Income (loss) before income taxes   (17,577)   40,985   (18,099)
             
Income tax expense (benefit)   (15,846)   7,801   (6,344)
             
             
Net income (loss)  $ (1,731)  $ 33,184  $ (11,755)
             

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
 

 



 

NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE I - CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT (CONTINUED)

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

 (In thousands)

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
          
Cash flows from operating activities:          

Net income (loss)  $ (1,731)  $ 33,184  $ (11,755)
Distributions from Kronos   17,516   17,532   - 
Distributions from CompX   8,376   5,378   5,378 
Deferred income taxes   (5,871)   (4,250)   (1,594)
Equity in net loss of subsidiaries and investments   18,401   3,706   13,076 
Securities transactions   (22,741)   -   - 
Litigation settlement gains   -   (52,266)   (11,476)
Other, net   (1,578)   (2,429)   1,277 
Net change in assets and liabilities   (15,795)   (9,700)   692 

             
Net cash used in operating activities   (3,423)   (8,845)   (4,402)

             
Cash flows from investing activities:             

Capital expenditures   (175)   (45)   (1)
Loans to affiliates, net   -   (22,210)   22,210 
Proceeds from real estate-related litigation settlement   -   39,550   11,800 
Change in restricted cash equivalents and marketable debt securities, net   (7)   (2,379)   144 
Purchase of CompX common stock   -   (1,081)   - 
Proceeds from disposal of marketable securities   26,800   -   - 
Other   -   (794)   (173)

             
Net cash provided by investing activities   26,618   13,041   33,980 

             
Cash flows from financing activities:             

Loans from affiliates, net   (5,380)   16,630   (3,590)
Dividends paid   (24,295)   (24,299)   (24,305)
Common stock issued   -   6   84 

             
Net cash used in financing activities   (29,675)   (7,663)   (27,811)

             
Net change during the year from operating investing and financing activities   (6,480)   (3,467)   1,767 
Balance at beginning of year   11,022   4,542   1,075 
             
Balance at end of year  $ 4,542  $ 1,075  $ 2,842 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
 

 



 

NL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE I - CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT (CONTINUED)

Notes to Condensed Financial Information

December 31, 2009

Note 1 -                           Basis of presentation:

The Consolidated Financial Statements of NL Industries, Inc. and the related Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are incorporated herein by
reference.  The accompanying financial statements reflect NL Industries, Inc.'s investment in Kronos Worldwide, Inc., CompX International Inc. and NL's
other subsidiaries on the equity method of accounting.

Note 2 – Investment in and advances to subsidiaries:

  __December 31,_  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
Current:       

Receivable from:       
Valhi – federal income taxes  $ 150  $ 3,125 
CompX – state income taxes   -   245 
Valhi   3,000   - 
EMS   3,158   - 

         
Total  $ 6,308  $ 3,370 

         
Payable to:         

EWI - promissory note  $ 2,000  $ 2,000 
EMS - promissory note   16,630   13,040 
CompX – federal income taxes   1,472   1,726 
Valhi – state income taxes   919   245 
EWI – income taxes   16   7 
EMS – income taxes   456   15 
Tremont   436   471 
Kronos   256   112 
EMS   -   1,066 

         
Total  $ 22,185  $ 18,682 

  December 31,  
  2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
Investment in:       

CompX  $ 86,372  $ 80,934 
Other subsidiaries   11,047   16,071 

         
Total  $ 97,419  $ 97,005 

  Years ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009  
  (In thousands)  
Equity in earnings (losses) of subsidiaries and affiliates:          

Kronos  $ (23,901)  $ 3,229  $ (12,470)
CompX   6,356   (3,257)   (1,735)
Other subsidiaries   (856)   (3,678)   1,129 

             
Total  $ (18,401)  $ (3,706)  $ (13,076)

We have a demand revolving promissory note between us and EWI Re, Inc., that provides for borrowings of up to $3 million.  Our loans from EWI
are unsecured and bear interest at a rate equal to the three month United States LIBOR rate plus 1.75% per year with all principal due on demand (and no later
than December 31, 2011).

We also have a demand revolving promissory note with EMS, for borrowings up to $21 million.  Our loans from EMS are unsecured and  bear
interest at a rate equal to the three month United States LIBOR rate plus one 1.75% per year with all principal due on demand (and no later than December 31,
2011).



 
EXHIBIT 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
 
 
 
                NAME OF CORPORATION

Jurisdiction of
incorporation

or organization

% of Voting
Securities Held at December 31,

    2009 (1)   
   

    CompX International Inc. (2) Delaware   87
    Kronos Worldwide, Inc. (3) Delaware   36
    EWI RE, Inc. New York 100
    NL Environmental Management Services, Inc. New Jersey 100

    EMS Financial, Inc. Delaware 100
    United Lead Company New Jersey 100

 
                                     
 

(1) Held by the Registrant or the indicated subsidiary of the Registrant
(2) Subsidiaries of CompX International Inc. are incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 of CompX’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 1-13905)
(3) Subsidiaries of Kronos Worldwide, Inc. are incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 of Kronos’ Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 2009 (File No. 1-31763)



 
EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 33-29287 and 333-65817) of NL Industries, Inc. of our
report dated March 9, 2010 relating to the consolidated financial statements, financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 9, 2010



 
EXHIBIT 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 33-29287 and 333-65817) of NL Industries, Inc. of our
report dated March 9, 2010 relating to the consolidated financial statements, financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Kronos Worldwide, Inc., which is incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 9, 2010



 
EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Harold C. Simmons certify that:

1)  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NL Industries, Inc.;

2)  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3)  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4)  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5)  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
 employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  March 9, 2010

/s/           Harold C. Simmons                                                                
  Harold C. Simmons
      Chief Executive Officer



 
EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Gregory M. Swalwell certify that:

1)  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NL Industries, Inc.;

2)  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3)  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4)  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5)  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
 employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  March 9, 2010

/s/           Gregory M. Swalwell                                                                           
    Gregory M. Swalwell
     Chief Financial Officer



 
 Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NL Industries, Inc. (the Company) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Harold C. Simmons, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and I, Gregory M. Swalwell, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Harold C. Simmons
Harold C. Simmons
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Gregory M. Swalwell
Gregory M. Swalwell
Chief Financial Officer

March 9, 2010

Note:  The certification the registrant furnishes in this exhibit is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section.  Registration Statements or other documents filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission shall not incorporate this exhibit by reference, except as otherwise expressly stated in such filing.



EXHIBIT A
MEMORANDUM OF REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Attached.

 

 
 



 

EXHIBIT A
MEMORANDUM OF REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

 
This is a Memorandum of Redevelopment Agreement being made as of March, 2008 between SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY ("SERA"), a public body corporate and politic, organized and existing under the laws of the State of New Jersey, acting in the
capacity of redevelopment entity pursuant to the Local Redevelopment and Housing Law, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-1 et seq. (the "LRHL") having an address 161
Main Street, Sayreville, New Jersey 08872, and SAYREVILLE SEAPORT ASSOCIATES, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership ("SSA"), having offices at 2701
Renaissance Boulevard, 4th Floor, King of Prussia, PA 19406.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, it is agreed as of the date set forth above by and between SERA and SSA, as follows:
 

1.            Property. SERA is the fee simple owner of certain parcels of real property, commonly known as the NL Industries, Inc. site and designated
as Parcel A [as described on Exhibit A attached to this Memorandum] ("Parcel A"), Parcel B [as described on Exhibit B attached to this Memorandum]
("Parcel B"), and C2, C1-7, C1-6, C1-5, C1-4, C1-3, C1-2, C1-1, C3-1 and C3-2 [as described on Exhibit C attached to this Memorandum) [and Parcels C2, C-
7, CI-6, C1-5, C1-4, C1-3, C1-2, C1-1, C3-1 and C3- 2 are sometimes hereafter referred to as "Parcel C"] situated within the Sayreville Waterfront
Redevelopment Area (the "SWRA"), consisting of approximately 425 +/acres of land located in the Borough of Sayreville ("Borough"), Middlesex County,
New Jersey, as shown on Borough tax map (collectively, the "Property).
 

2.            Redevelopment Agreement. SERA and SSA have entered into a certain Redevelopment Agreement of even date herewith for the
redevelopment of the Property (the "Redevelopment Agreement"), which Redevelopment Agreement sets forth all of the terms, covenants, conditions,
representations and agreements of the parties.
 

3.            Proposed Redevelopment Project. The proposed redevelopment project for the Property is a mixed use development consisting of
residential, retail and  commercial office uses, along with associated public amenities more particularly set forth in the Redevelopment Agreement.
 

4. Phasing of Redevelopment Project. Pursuant to the Redevelopment Agreement, the redevelopment of the Property is contemplated to be
performed in phases as follows:

 
(a) After the initial closing scheduled for May 1, 2008, the redevelopment of the C Parcels is contemplated to be performed in phases and may

consist of any combination of the uses set forth in Paragraph 3 above; and
 

(b) After the second closing scheduled for December 1, 2008, Parcel A will be preserved for open space and recreational purposes; and
 

(c) After third and final closing scheduled for October 15, 2010, the redevelopment of Parcel B is contemplated to be performed in phases and may
consist of any combination of the uses set forth in Paragraph 3 above.
 

5.          Compliance with LRHL. The Redevelopment Agreement contains covenants which SSA is obligated to comply with, including, but not
limited to, each of the covenants set forth in N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-9.
 

6.          Purpose. This Memorandum is executed for the purpose of giving notice of the existence of the Redevelopment Agreement and the terms
thereof. Reference is made to the Redevelopment Agreement for the full description of the rights and duties of SERA and SSA, and this Memorandum shall in
no way affect or modify any of the terms and conditions of the Redevelopment Agreement, all of which remain in full force and effect, or the interpretation of
rights and duties of the SERA and SSA. A complete copy of the Redevelopment Agreement will be kept on file with the Secretary of the Sayreville Economic
and Redevelopment Agency located at Borough Hall, 167 Main Street, Sayreville, New Jersey 08872.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has caused this Memorandum to he duly executed on its respective behalf as of the day and year first above
written.
 
WITNESS:
 

SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY
 

By:                                                                
Ranieri Travisano, Chairman

 
SAYREVILLE SEAPORT ASSOCIATES, L.P

 
By: Sayreville Seaport Associates Acquisition Company, LLC, its General Partner

 
By:                                                                

Richard Heany, President
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ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
 
STATE OF NEW JERSEY, COUNTY OF SS:
 
 

I CERTIFY that on March  , 2008, Richard Heany, President of Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P., personally came before me and stated to my
satisfaction that this person (or if more than one, each person):
 

(a) Was the maker of the annexed instrument; and,
(b) Executed this instrument as his/her own act duly authorized by the represented entity.

 
 
STATE OF NEW JERSEY, COUNTY OF MIDDLESEX SS:
 

I CERTIFY that on March , 2008, Ranieri Travisano, Chairman of the
Sayreville Economic and Redevelopment Agency, personally came before me and stated to my satisfaction that this person (or if more than one, each person):

(a) Was the maker of the annexed instrument; and,
(b) Executed this instrument as his/her own act duly authorized by the represented entity.

{00035555;}
 

 



 
                                                                                                                                                       

EXHIBIT A
[Attach Parcel A Legal Description]

 
Includes professional description of property performed by CME Associates for the periods October 2004 revised April 2008 for Parcel A.
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EXHIBIT B

[Attach Parcel B Legal Description]
 
Includes professional description of property performed by CME Associates for the periods October 2004 revised April 2008 for Parcel B.

 
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT C
[Attach C Parcels Legal Description]

 
Includes professional description of property performed by CME Associates for the period December 2007 for Parcel C.
 
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT B
MEMORANDUM OF PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

Attached.



 
EXHIBIT B

MEMORANDUM OF PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT
 

 
This is a Memorandum of Purchase and Sale Agreement being made as of March 2008 between SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY ("Seller"), a public body corporate and politic, organized and existing under the laws of the State of New Jersey,
acting in the capacity of redevelopment entity pursuant to the Local Redevelopment and Housing Law, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-1 et seq. (the
"LRHL") having an address 161 Main Street, Sayreville, New Jersey 08872, and SAYREVILLE SEAPORT ASSOCIATES, L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership ("Purchaser"), having offices at 2701 Renaissance Boulevard, 4th Floor, King of Prussia, PA 19406.

 
I.           Property.Seller is the fee simple owner of certain parcels of real property,
commonly known as the NL Industries, Inc. site and designated as Parcels A ("Parcel A"), Parcels B ("Parcel B"), and C2, C1-7, C1-6, C1-5, C1-4, CI-3, C1-2,
C1-1, C3-1 and C3-2 (and Parcels C2, C-7, C1-6, C1-5, C1-4, C1-3, C1-2, CI-1, C3-1 and C3-2 are sometimes hereafter referred to as the "C Parcels")
situated within the Sayreville Waterfront Redevelopment Area (the "SWRA"), consisting of approximately 425 +1- acres of land located in the Borough of
Sayreville ("Borough"), Middlesex County, New Jersey, as shown on Borough tax map (collectively, the "Property).
 

2.            Agreement. Seller and Purchaser will enter into an Agreement of Sale ("Agreement") for the purchase the Property.
 

3.            Settlement.Pursuant to the Agreement, title to the Property is contemplated to close
 

("Settlement") based on the following schedule:
 

a. The "Initial Closing" shall occur on or before May 1, 2008 (the "Initial Closing Date"). At the Initial Closing, Purchase will purchase
from Seller that portion of the Property commonly referred to by the parties as the C Parcels, which C Parcels are more particularly described on Exhibit A
attached hereto, subject to conditions set forth in the Settlement Agreement and Release.
 

b. The "Second Closing" shall occur on or before December 1, 2008 (the "Second Closing Date"). At the Second Closing, Purchaser will
purchase from Seller the development rights to that portion of the Property commonly referred to by the parties as Parcel A, which Parcel A is more
particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto and which, subject to the conditions set forth in the Settlement Agreement and Release, shall be
transferred by Purchaser to Parcel C and/or Parcel B or shall otherwise be preserved so as to accrue to the benefit of Purchaser for use in the redevelopment of
the C Parcels and Parcel B.
 

c. The "Third Closing" shall occur on or before October 15, 2010 (the "Third Closing Date"). At the Third Closing, Purchaser will
purchase from Seller that portion of the Property commonly referred to by the parties as Parcel B, which Parcel B is more particularly described on Exhibit C
attached hereto, subject to conditions set forth in the Settlement Agreement and Release.
 
4. Public Notice: Further Information - This Memorandum gives public notice of the
impending purchase under the Agreement. This Memorandum inures to the benefit of and binds the respective successors and assigns of Seller and Purchaser.
Parties seeking further information as to status or otherwise are directed to communicate with: Michael J. Baker, Esq., Hoagland, Longo, Moran, Dunst &
Doukas, LLP, Attorneys for Seller, 40 Paterson Street, New Brunswick, New Jersey 08901.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has caused this Memorandum to be duly executed on its respective behalf as of the day and year first above
written.
 
WITNESS: SELLER:
 

SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY
 

By:                                                                 
Ranieri Travisano, Chairman

 
PURCHASER:

 
SAYREVILLE SEAPORT ASSOCIATES, L.P

 
By:                                                                  

Richard Heany, President

 
 



 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
 
STATE OF NEW JERSEY, COUNTY OF SS:
 
 

I CERTIFY that on March _____, 2008, Richard Heany, President of Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P., personally came before me and stated to my
satisfaction that this person (or if more than one, each person):
 

(a) Was the maker of the annexed instrument; and,
(b) Executed this instrument as his/her own act duly authorized by the represented entity.

 
 
STATE OF NEW JERSEY, COUNTY OF MIDDLESEX SS:
 

I CERTIFY that on March _____, 2008, Ranieri Travisano, Chairman of the Sayreville
Economic and Redevelopment Agency, personally came before me and stated to my satisfaction that this person (or if more than one, each person):

(a) Was the maker of the annexed instrument; and,
(b) Executed this instrument as his/her own act duly authorized by the represented entity.

 
 



 

   EXHIBIT A
[Attach Parcel C Legal Description]

 
Includes professional description of property performed by CME Associates for the period December 2007 for Parcel C.
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EXHIBIT B

[Attach Parcel A Legal Description]
 

Includes professional description of property performed by CME Associates for the period October 18, 2004 revised April 2, 2008 for Parcel A.

 
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT C
[Attach B Parcels Legal Description]

 
Includes professional description of property performed by CME Associates for the period October 2004 revised April 2008 for Parcel B.

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT C-1, C-2
DESCRIPTION OF B AND C PARCELS EASEMENT

Attached.
 

Includes professional description of proposed 50-foot wide public access easement along with an aerial photograph of entire waterfront.



EXHIBIT C
C PARCELS LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Attached.
 
 

Includes professional description of property performed by CME Associates for the period December 2007 for Parcel C.



EXHIBIT D
PARCEL A LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Attached
 

Includes professional description of property performed by CME Associates for the period October 18, 2004 revised April 2, 2008 for Parcel A.
 



 
EXHIBIT E

DESCRIPTION OF PARCEL A DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS
Attached

 
 



 

EXHIBIT E
DESCRIPTION OF PARCEL A DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS

 
The Sayreville Waterfront Redevelopment Plan, adopted by ordinance of the Borough Sayreville on or about January 1999, as same may have been

or may be amended from time to time, sets forth the permitted uses for the development of Parcel A. Those development rights may he transferred to Parcel B
and/or Parcel C, or may be otherwise preserved so as to accrue to the benefit of the Redeveloper for use in the redevelopment of Parcel B and/or Parcel C, (a)
provided that the Second Closing occurs, and (b) subject to any applicable conditions set forth in the Settlement Agreement and Release, and Purchase and
Sale Agreement.

 
 



 

EXHIBIT F
PARCEL B LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Attached.
 
 

Includes professional description of property performed by CME Associates for the period October 2004 revised April 2008 for Parcel B.
 



 
 

 
NL INDUSTRIES, INC.,
 
Plaintiff,
 
vs.
 
SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY,
 
Defendant.
 

 
SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
LAW DIVISION
MIDDLESEX COUNTY
DOCKET NO. L-6018-02
 
Civil Action
 
 

 
SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY,
 
Plaintiff,
 
vs.
 
NL INDUSTRIES, INC., et al.,
 
Defendants.
 

 
DOCKET NO. L-6130-02
 
(Consolidated Actions)
 
 

CONSENT ORDER FOR WITHDRAWAL OF DEPOSIT
 

THIS MATTER having been opened to the Court upon the joint application of the condemnees NL Industries, Inc. and NL Environmental
Management Services, Inc. (collectively “NL”) by their attorneys, Archer & Greiner, P.C., and the condemnor Sayreville Economic and Redevelopment
Agency (“SERA”) by its attorneys, Hoagland, Longo, Moran, Dunst & Doukas, LLP, for an Order directing payment of $33,550,000 (Thirty-Three Million
Five Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars), together with all interest accrued thereon, currently held on deposit with the Clerk of the Superior Court, to Archer &
Greiner, P.C., to be held in trust for NL; and the aforesaid parties having executed an agreement for the settlement of the above-captioned actions that
provides for the release of the above-described funds; and the Court having considered the joint request for entry of this Consent Order; and all other parties
whose interests SERA originally alleged in its Verified Complaint to be taking having previously been voluntarily dismissed from these consolidated
actions; and good cause having been shown;

IT IS, on this _________ day of _________________, 2008, AGREED AND ORDERED as follows:
1. Pursuant to N.J.S.A. 20:3-23, the Clerk of the Superior Court of New Jersey is hereby authorized and directed to pay the sum of $33,550,000.00,

together with all interest accrued thereon, out of the money deposited by SERA with the Clerk of the Superior Court in connection with these consolidated
actions to Archer & Greiner, P.C. to be held in trust for NL and distributed in accordance with the terms of the parties’ settlement agreement.

2. In the event that the parties’ settlement agreement is terminated prior to distribution of the funds paid to Archer & Greiner, P.C. pursuant to
Paragraph 1 of this Consent Order, NL shall within fifteen (15) days of termination of the parties’ settlement agreement redeposit with the Clerk of the

Superior Court of New Jersey the sum of $33,550,000.00, which SERA previously deposited into Court as estimated just compensation in connection with
these consolidated actions pursuant to N.J.S.A. 20:3-18 and this Court’s Order for Payment Into Court and for Possession entered on March 23, 2005.

3. Counsel for NL shall serve a copy of this Consent Order upon counsel for SERA within _______ days of its entry.

, J.S.C.

Verified as to amount on deposit
with the Clerk of the Superior Court

 
The undersigned hereby consent
to the form and entry of this Order.
 
 

 
Christopher R. Gibson, Esquire
Archer & Greiner, P.C.
Attorneys for NL Industries, Inc. and NL Environmental Management
Services, Inc.
 
Dated:                                           
 

 
 
 
 

 
Michael J. Baker, Esquire
Hoagland, Longo, Moran, Dunst & Doukas, LLP
Attorneys for Sayreville Economic and Redevelopment Agency
 
Dated:                                           
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NL INDUSTRIES, INC.,
 
Plaintiff,
 
vs.
 
SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY,
 
Defendant.
 

 
SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
LAW DIVISION
MIDDLESEX COUNTY
DOCKET NO. L-6018-02
 
Civil Action
 
 

 
SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY,
 
Plaintiff,
 
vs.
 
NL INDUSTRIES, INC., et al.,
 
Defendants.
 

 
DOCKET NO. L-6130-02
 
(Consolidated Actions)
 
 

STIPULATION OF DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE
 

IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED by and between the undersigned that all claims asserted by or against Sayreville Economic and
Redevelopment Agency, NL Industries, Inc., and NL Environmental Management Services, Inc. in the above-captioned consolidated actions are dismissed
with prejudice.  Each side agrees to bear its own attorney fees and costs associated with this matter.
 
 
 

 
Christopher R. Gibson, Esquire
Archer & Greiner, P.C.
Attorneys for NL Industries, Inc. and NL Environmental Management
Services, Inc.
 
Dated:                                           
 

 
 
 

 
Michael J. Baker, Esquire
Hoagland, Longo, Moran, Dunst & Doukas, LLP
Attorneys for Sayreville Economic and Redevelopment Agency
 
Dated:                                           
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DISCHARGE OF EQUITABLE LIEN
 

An Equitable Lien arose by operation of law, and in accordance with the Eminent Domain Act of 1971 (“Eminent Domain Act”), N.J.S.A. 20:3-1, et
seq., by virtue of the taking through eminent domain of certain real property in the Borough of Sayreville, Middlesex County, New Jersey designated on
Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”).  The Property was owned by NL Industries, Inc. and/or NL Environmental Management Services, Inc. (collectively
“NL”) until its taking through eminent domain by the Sayreville Economic and Redevelopment Agency pursuant to an action filed in July 2002 in the
Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Division, Middlesex County under docket number L-6130-02.
 

The Equitable Lien arose and attached to the Property to secure payment to NL of just compensation owed to NL pursuant to the Eminent Domain
Act, the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and Article I, Paragraph 20 of the New Jersey Constitution as a result of the taking of the
Property.  Notices of Lis Pendens relating to the Equitable Lien were recorded by the Middlesex County Clerk on August 8, 2002 in Book # 31 at Page 47, on
April 26, 2007 in Book #35 at Page 112, and on December 19, 2007 in Book #35 at Page 604.
 

The Equitable Lien with respect to the Property has been PAID IN FULL or otherwise SATISFIED and DISCHARGED.  It may now be discharged of
record.  This means that the Equitable Lien with respect to the Property is now canceled and void.
 

The undersigned each sign and CERTIFY to this Discharge of Equitable Lien on __________________, 2009.
 

 
Witnessed or Attested by: NL INDUSTRIES, INC.
  
__________________________ By: ____________________________(Seal)
 Name: _________________________
 Title: __________________________
  
 NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.
  
__________________________ By: ____________________________(Seal)
 Name: _________________________
 Title: __________________________
  

 
 



 

STATE OF TEXAS, COUNTY OF DALLAS :s.s.
 

I CERTIFY that on                       , 2009, before me the undersigned witnessing authority, personally appeared ___________________________,
who is the ____________________ of NL INDUSTRIES, INC., who I am satisfied is the person who signed the within instrument, and he/she acknowledged
that he/she signed, sealed and delivered the same as such officer aforesaid, and that the within instrument is the voluntary act and deed of such corporation.
 

________________________________
Print Name:_____________________
Title:__________________________
Commission Expires:_____________

STATE OF TEXAS, COUNTY OF DALLAS :s.s.
 

I CERTIFY that on                       , 2009, before me the undersigned witnessing authority, personally appeared ___________________________,
who is the ____________________ of NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC., who I am satisfied is the person who signed the within
instrument, and he/she acknowledged that he/she signed, sealed and delivered the same as such officer aforesaid, and that the within instrument is the
voluntary act and deed of such corporation.
 

________________________________
Print Name:_____________________
Title:__________________________
Commission Expires:_____________
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Exhibit A
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT L
FORM OF RELEASE OF MORTGAGE

Attached.

 

 
 



 

RELEASE  OF  PART  OF  MORTGAGED  PROPERTY
 

This Release is made on 200
 

BY the Lender(s)
 

COUNTY OF MIDDLESEX
 
whose address is c/o County Counsel's Office, County of Middlesex, Administration Building, 75 Bayard Street, New Brunswick, NJ 08901 referred to as
"I,"
 
To the Borrower(s)
 

SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND REDEVELOPMENT
 
whose address is 167 Main Street, Sayreville, NJ 08901 referred to as "You."
 
If more than one person signs this Release, the word "1" shall mean "We."
 
I. Release. I hold a mortgage on a property owned by you. I also hold the note and/or other agreement for the loan repayment obligations that is secured by
the mortgage. I agree to change the mortgage by removing some of the property covered by the mortgage. This property is released or freed from the
mortgage. The rest of the property (not released) remains subject to the mortgage. I have been paid $for making this Release.
 

2. Mortgage. The mortgage I hold is dated March 1, 2005 , and was made by and between COUNTY OF MIDDLESEX
 
to
 
SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND REDEVELOPMENT
 

The mortgage was recorded on April I , 2005, in the office of the Middlesex County Clerk, in Book 10506 of Mortgages on Page 317-339. The
original amount of the mortgage was $39,000,000.00.
 

3. Release of Property. The property which is released from and no longer subject to the mortgage is known as Parcel located at in the Borough of
Sayreville in the County of Middlesex and State of New Jersey. The property includes: (a) the land; (b) all buildings that are located on the land; (c) all
fixtures that are attached to the land or building(s) for example: furnaces, bathroom fixtures and kitchen cabinets; and (d) all other rights that I now have
relating to the property. The legal description for Parcelis attached hereto as Schedule "A".
 
  4. Who is bound. This Release is binding upon me and all who succeed to my rights as holder of the mortgage.
 

5. Signatures. I agree to this Release. If this Release is made by a corporation its proper corporate officers sign and its corporate seal is affixed.
 
ATTEST: COUNTY OF MIDDLESEX
 
 

David B. Crabiel
 
STATE OF NEW JERSEY
 

SS
 
COUNTY OF MIDDLESEX
 

I certify that on , 2008, Margaret E. Pemberton, personally came before me
and acknowledged under oath, to my satisfaction, that:
 

(a) She is the Clerk of the Middlesex County Board of Chosen Freeholders, the Grantee named in this document;
 

(b) She is the attesting witness to the signing of this document by the proper authorized representative, David B. Crabiel, the Director of the
Middlesex County Board of Chosen Freeholders;
 

(c) This document was signed and delivered by the County as its voluntary act duly authorized by a proper resolution of the Board of Chosen
Freeholders;
 

(d) She knows the proper seal of the County which was attached to this document; and
 

(e) She signed this proof to attest to the truth of these facts.
 

Margaret E. Pemberton, Clerk Middlesex County Board of Chosen
Freeholders
 

Signed and sworn to before me on , 2008
 
 
Name:
Attorney at Law of the State of New Jersey
Notary Public of the State of New Jersey

Record and Return to:



 
 



 

EXHIBIT M
TIDAL WETLANDS MAP

Attached.
 
 
Includes three topographic surveys prepared by Jeromie Lange. 



EXHIBIT N
SCHEDULE OF ENVIRONMENTAL PERMITS

1.  NJPDES Stormwater Discharge Permit (NJ0000931)
 

2.  NJPDES Groundwater Discharge Permit (ID# NJ0051764)
 

3.  Sanitary Landfill Air Permit (APC ID No. 18426; Activity ID Number PCP040001)
 

4.  Waterfront Development Permit 1219-98-0004.2 (for mitigation for wetland disturbance caused by the Dike Repair project)
 

5.  Waterfront Development Permit 1219-04-005.1WFD040001(IP Upland) (for Landfill Closure)
 

6.  Freshwater Wetlands Permit 1219-04-0005.1FWW040001(FWGP5), 1219-04-0005.1FWW040002(FWGP7) (for Landfill Closure)
 

7.  Waterfront Development Permit for NJPDES Outfall Repair - application pending
 

 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT O
FINANCIAL ASSURANCE AGREEMENT

 
 THIS FINANCIAL ASSURANCE AGREEMENT (the "Agreement"), made as of this 1,  day of , 2008, by and among the Sayreville Economic and

Redevelopment
 

Agency, a municipal redevelopment agency ("SERA"), Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership with an office at 2701
Renaissance Boulevard, 4th Floor, King of Prussia, PA 19406, (hereinafter referred to as "SSA"), NL Industries, Inc., a New Jersey Corporation ("NL"), NL
Environmental Management Services, Inc., a New Jersey Corporation ("NL EMS" and together with NL, the "NL Companies"), and Bank of America, N.A.,
a national banking association with an office at 4 Penn Center, Suite 1100, Philadelphia, PA 1903 (the "Bank"), as Agent for all of the financial institutions
now or hereafter a party to that certain Loan Agreement (the "Loan Agreement") dated of even date herewith between SSA and the Bank.
 

WITNESSETH:
 

WHEREAS, SERA is the legal owner of certain tracts or parcels of land known as the fruitier NL Industries site, as further described on Exhibit A
attached to this Agreement (collectively, the "Site");
 

WHEREAS, SERA has entered into a Ground Lease Agreement with SSA dated as of even date herewith (the "Ground Lease") for the Site;
 

WHEREAS, SERA, SSA, the NL Companies and the County of Middlesex, New Jersey (the "County") have entered into a Reinstated and Amended
Settlement Agreement and Release dated as of June 26, 2008 and that certain Amendment to Reinstated and Amended Settlement Agreement and Release
dated of even date herewith (as amended, the "Four Party Agreement"), pursuant to which, inter alia, SERA has agreed to enter into a Memorandum of
Understanding ("MOU") with the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection Agency ("NJDEP"), pursuant to which SERA shall be the party
performing the investigation and remediation at the Site to satisfy the "Assumed Environmental Liabilities," as that term is defined in the Four Party
Agreement;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Four Party Agreement, SSA has agreed to assume all responsibility for the Assumed Environmental Liabilities,
and to satisfy all of SERA's obligations pursuant to the MOU;

 
WHEREAS, the Bank has agreed to set aside funds, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and in accordance with the budget for the Loan

(as defined below), for use by SSA, SERA and/or the NL Companies as set forth in this Agreement: (a) to fund a portion of the investigation, oversight and
remediation required to satisfy the Assumed Environmental Liabilities, including the costs associated with the remediation of contaminated wetlands at the
Site (the "Rernediation") and/or (b) to serve as collateral for one or more Economic Infrastructure Trust loans from the New Jersey Environmental
Infrastructure Trust to SERA ("EIT Loans"), the proceeds of such EIT Loans to be used to fund a portion of the Remediation (collectively, the "Eligible
Uses").

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereby agree as

follows:
 

I.The Bank acknowledges that the sum of Twenty Million Dollars ($20,000,000)
 

(the "Set Aside Fund") of the proceeds of the loan (the "Loan") being made by the Bank and other lenders to SSA pursuant to the terms of the Loan
Agreement have been designated and reserved for the purpose of funding and serving as financial assurance for the Eligible Uses. Proceeds of the Set-
Aside Fund will be made available to be advanced by the Bank in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Subject to the terms and
except as provided in Paragraph 4(d) of this Agreement, the Bank specifically agrees that at no time will the obligation to fund the proceeds of the Set
Aside Fund be terminated, revoked, released, or withdrawn, in whole or in part, regardless of whether SSA is in default of any of its obligations under the
Loan, unless and until the Bank first receives written approval from SSA, SERA and the NL Companies to do so.

 
2. This Agreement is not to be construed as a guarantee by the Bank that the Remediation will actually be performed, or that Twenty Million Dollars

($20,000,000) is sufficient to pay for any or all of the Eligible Uses, including, without limitation, the Remediation in its entirety. The Bank shall have no
obligation nor duty of inquiry to confirm that any notices have been delivered to any party to this Agreement, other than the Bank, or as to the validity or
authenticity of any such notice. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7 of this Agreement, Bank shall be entitled to rely on any and all such notices and
shall be released from any and all claims by the parties hereto in connection with its reliance on any such notice given pursuant to this Agreement and shall
be indemnified, held harmless and defended by the parties involved in any claims brought against the Bank for or in connection with Bank having relied
upon or acted in accordance with any notice given to it pursuant to this Agreement.
 

3.            SSA's Use of the Set Aside Fund.
 

(a)The Set Aside Fund may only be used by SSA for the Eligible Uses.
 
Without any consent of the Bank, SERA and the NL Companies, but with prior written notice being given to all by SSA, SSA may use or designate all or any
portion of the Set Aside Fund as collateral for FAT Loans actually awarded to SERA. Any amount of the Set Aside Fund used or designated as collateral for
any EIT Loan shall reduce the amount and availability of the remaining funds allocated to the Set Aside Fund for other Eligible Uses ("Available Funds").
SSA may draw upon Available Funds in the Set Aside Fund for the purpose of paying for the Remediation solely in accordance with Paragraph 3(b) below.
SSA may request that SERA and the NI, Companies agree to a reduction of the Set Aside Fund to an amount equal to the remaining estimated costs (as
defined pursuant to the Four Party Agreement) in accordance with Paragraph 3(c) below.
 

(b)(i) In order to draw upon the Available Funds in the Set Aside Fund, to pay for Remediation, SSA and SERA shall jointly submit to the
NL Companies a written request to authorize the disbursement of a specified amount of Available Funds, which request shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed. Upon the NL Companies' written approval of such written request, SSA shall then deliver to the Bank the joint written approval of
SSA, SERA and the NL Companies to Bank's disbursement to, or for the account of SSA under the Loan Agreement of the specified amount of the Available
Funds (a "Written Approval"). At the time SSA submits such Written Approval to the Bank, SSA shall simultaneously send to SERA and the NL Companies
copies of such Written Approval and request for funds pursuant thereto. In no event and under no circumstance shall Bank have any obligation to monitor,
verify, insure or otherwise see to it that any and all such amounts disbursed from the Set Aside Fund pursuant to a Written Approval are in fact used or
utilized by SSA, or any other person or party, for, to or with respect to the Remediation.
 

(ii) Under the Four Party Agreement, SSA is required to first utilize any state grant funds, EIT Loans or other public grants which have been



received by SERA to perform the Remediation before using any proceeds from the Set Aside Funds for such Remediation. The Four Party Agreement also
provides that if the amount of state grant funds, EIT Loans and other public grants received by SERA and available to SSA is insufficient to perform any
portion of the Remediation or if SERA has not yet received such public funds or if the costs and expenses to be paid are not reimbursable through such
public funds, SSA may submit a Written Approval in accordance with the terms of this Agreement to draw upon the Available Funds in the Set Aside Fund to
pay for such portion of the Remediation.

(c) If at any time SSA determines that the estimated cost of the remaining not investigatory and remedial activities to perform the
Remediation (the "Remaining Remediation") are less than the funds remaining in the Set Aside Fund which have not been used or allocated as collateral for
FIT Loans, SSA may submit a written request to the Bank for a release of funds allocated to the Set Aside Fund so that the remaining funds allocated as the
Set Aside Funds pursuant to this Agreement will equal the sum of (X) the Remaining Remediation (the "Reduction Request") and (Y) such amounts as have
been used or allocated as collateral for EIT Loans. The Reduction Request shall be accompanied with a certification and supporting documentation from
SSA's environmental consultant, along with written approval from SERA and the NL Companies (or an affidavit from SSA that such approval has been
deemed approved pursuant to the Four Party Agreement). In the event an affidavit is delivered to the Bank under the immediately preceding sentence, the
Bank shall be irrevocably permitted to act and rely on such affidavit and SERA and the NL Companies release the Bank from any and all claims in
connection with such affidavit and the applicable party or parties disputing the Bank's action shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Bank from any
and all claims arising in connection with such affidavit.
 

(d) Upon the receipt from SSA of either a Written Approval or a Reduction
 

Request along with the written approval from SER.A and the NL Companies (or an affidavit from SSA that such approval has been deemed
approved pursuant to the Four Party Agreement), the Bank shall promptly disburse to SSA the amount requested in the Written Approval, or subject to the
terms of the Loan Agreement regarding disbursements, the Reduction Request, along with a written statement to SSA, with a copy to SERA and the NL
Companies, setting forth both the amount released and the unrestricted amount available for disbursement of the Set Aside Fund following such release.

4.SERA's and the NL Companies' Use of Set. Aside Fund.
 

(a) If SSA is in default of its obligations under the Four Party Agreement, after any and all notices and expiration of applicable cure periods
as provided for in the Four Party Agreement, and SERA has delivered written notice to SSA and the NL Companies exercising its rights under the Four Party
Agreement to remove SSA as the party performing remediation in connection with the Assumed Environmental Liabilities (an "SSA Removal Notice"), SERA
may deliver the SSA Removal Notice to the Bank. In the event an SSA Removal Notice is sent to SSA, no Written Approvals, request for use of the Set Aside
Fund as collateral for an EIT Loan or a Reduction Request shall be submitted to the Bank by SERA until the expiration of the Objection Period (as defined in
Paragraph 4(c) below) without the Bank having actually received a Removal Objection prior to such expiration. If the Bank has not received a Removal
Objection (as defined in Paragraph 4(c) below) prior to the expiration of the Objection Period, SERA shall be authorized to draw upon the Set Aside Fund, for
the benefit of SSA, provided that SERA submits Written Approval or Reduction Requests to the Bank in accordance with the requirements of Paragraph 3(b)
or 3(c) above as if SERA were SSA for purposes of these sections of the Agreement; provided, however, only the NL Companies' approval of the same shall be
required. Any Reduction Request pursuant to this Paragraph 4(a) shall not result in a disbursement of funds to SERA, but only a reduction in the amount of
Available Funds.
 

(b) In the event pursuant to the Four Party Agreement, SSA is removed by SERA as the party performing the remediation in connection with
the Assumed Environmental Liabilities and, in connection therewith or subsequent thereto, NJDEP removes SERA as the party performing the remediation at
the Site due to a default by SERA under the MOU, and NJDEP designates the NL Companies as the lead remediator at the Site (the "SERA Removal Events"),
the NL Companies shall be entitled to draw Available Funds in the Set Aside Agreement pursuant to Section 4(b) provided that NL Companies first sends
written notice to the Bank, with a copy to SSA and SERA, certifying to Bank that the SERA Removal Events have occurred ("SERA Removal Notice") and
provided the Bank does not receive a Removal Objection pursuant to Paragraph 4(c) below, the NL Companies shall be authorized to draw upon the
Available Funds in the Set Aside Fund for Remediation, on behalf of SSA, pursuant hereto, provided that the NL Companies submits Written Approvals or
Reduction Requests to the Bank in accordance with the requirements of Paragraph 3(b) or 3(c) above as if the NL Companies were SSA for purposes of these
sections of the Agreement; provided, however, no approval by SSA or SERA shall be required. Any Reduction Request pursuant to this Paragraph 4(b) shall
not result in a disbursement of funds to the NL Companies, but only a reduction in the amount of Available Funds.
 

(c) Removal Objection.
 

(i)If SSA or the NL Companies objects to a SSA Removal Notice, or
 
if SERA objects to a SERA Removal Notice, the objecting party shall provide the Bank, with simultaneous copies to the other parties, with a written notice
of objection to the SSA Removal Notice or SERA Removal Notice, specifying the reasons for such objection (a "Removal Objection"), within five (5) days
of the Bank's receipt of the SSA Removal Notice or SERA Removal Notice (the "Objection Period"). As among SSA, SERA and the NL Companies, the only
valid basis for SSA or the NL Companies to make a Removal Objection objecting to the SSA Removal Notice shall be that SSA was not, in fact, removed by
SERA as the party performing the remediation in connection with the Assumed Environmental Liabilities pursuant to the Four Party Agreement. As among
SSA, SERA and the NL Companies, the only valid bases for SERA to make a Removal Objection objecting to the SERA Removal Notice shall be the
following: (1) SERA was not, in fact, removed by NJDEP as the party performing the remediation of the Site pursuant to the MOU and/or (2) the NL
Companies were not designated by NJDEP as the lead remediator of the Site. Upon the Bank's receipt of a Removal Objection, the Bank shall not disburse
to SERA or the NL Companies, as the case may be, the amount requested in the Written Approval or Reduction Request (or such other amount as directed
by the parties subject to the dispute) until directed to do so by either (a) a joint written letter signed by SSA, SERA and the NL Companies with respect to a
SSA Removal Notice or by SERA and the NL Companies with respect to a SERA Removal Notice or (b) as directed by an arbitrator pursuant to an
arbitration conducted in accordance with the requirements of Paragraph 4(c)(ii) below.
 

(ii) If any party sends a Removal Objection prior to the expiration of the Objection Period, then within three (3) days of such
Removal Objection, the parties subject to the dispute (which shall not include the Bank) shall meet (either in person or via teleconference) in a good faith
effort to resolve any dispute among such parties relating to the SSA Removal Notice or SERA Removal Notice, as the case may be. In the event such parties
are able to resolve such dispute at the meeting, such parties that are the subject of the dispute shall, within two (2) business days of the meeting, send a joint
written letter to the Bank; instructing the Bank on an ongoing basis which party shall be authorized to submit to the Bank a Reduction Request or a Written
Approval. If the parties that are the subject of such dispute cannot resolve any dispute at the meeting, the parties that are the subject of such dispute agree to
participate in a binding arbitration before a neutral arbitrator to settle the dispute in accordance with the arbitration provisions contained in Paragraph 4(c)
(iii) below.
 

(iii) Arbitration. In the event arbitration is triggered pursuant to Paragraph 4(c)(ii) above, the parties (other than the Bank) agree as
follows: the disputed issue
shall be submitted by the parties that are the subject of the dispute within ten (10) days of completion of the meeting described in Paragraph 4(c)(ii) above to
the American Arbitration Association in New Jersey, and shall be determined in accordance with the rules of said Association. The decision of the arbitrator



shall be binding upon the parties and no appeal shall be taken by either to any Court, and the decision of the arbitrator shall be enforceable in any Court of
law or equity. Each party shall pay its own attorneys' fees and costs in connection with the arbitration and the each party to the dispute shall pay a
proportionate share of the cost of the arbitration.
 

(d)Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, upon a default by SSA under of any of its obligations under the Loan
beyond any applicable notice and cure period or at Maturity of the Loan, whether by scheduled maturity or acceleration due to default or
otherwise, the Bank may elect in its sole discretion to fund, on behalf of SSA, and deposit the then remaining funds in the Set Aside Fund
(as the same may have been reduced) into a remediation trust fund having a trustee mutually agreed to by SERA and the NL Companies. In
the event SERA and the NL Companies have not agreed upon a trustee within three (3) business days of written notice from the Bank, the
Bank may deposit the then remaining funds in the Set Aside Fund into a remediation trust fund having a trustee selected by the Bank. Upon
the Bank's deposit of such remaining funds into a remediation trust fund selected by the Bank, the Bank shall have no further obligations or
liabilities under this Agreement and this Agreement shall automatically become null and void and of no further force or effect as to any
obligation of the Bank.

 
5.The parties hereto covenant and agree that, during such time that any portion of the Set Aside Fund has been pledged as collateral for an EIT Loan,
no party shall submit a

Written Approval or Reduction Request to the Bank for such funds that have been so pledged as collateral.
 

6. In the event that: (i) SSA has been removed by SERA as the party perfouning the remediation in connection with the Assumed Environmental
Liabilities; (ii) NJDEP has removed SERA as the party performing the remediation at the Site due to a default by SERA under the MOU and (iii) NJDEP does
not designate the NL Companies as the lead remediator at the Site, the Bank shall deposit the then remaining funds in the Set Aside Fund into a remediation
trust fund selected by the Bank, and, following such deposit, the Bank shall have no further obligations or liabilities under this Agreement and this
Agreement shall automatically become null and void and of no further force or effect as to any obligation of the Bank. The NJDEP may use such deposited
funds to perform the Remediation.
 

7. It is further understood and agreed that the Bank shall, at no time and in no manner, bear any responsibility by reason of this Agreement other
than to allocate from the Loan the Set Aside Fund pursuant hereto for the benefit and use of SSA or such other party as authorized pursuant to this Agreement,
subject to paying or releasing there from such sum, or sums, as from time to time may hereinafter be authorized pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. Bank
shall have no liability and the parties hereto release Bank from any and all claims, causes of action and liabilities in connection with Bank acting upon any
purported Written Approval, Reduction Request, SSA Removal Notice, SERA. Removal Notice, a Removal Objection or any other notice or writing as
provided for or pursuant to this Agreement or any action taken hereunder by Bank except for Bank's own gross negligence or willful misconduct.
 

8. The laws of the State of New Jersey shall govern this Agreement. All parties to this Agreement agree to submit to the jurisdiction of the State of
New Jersey for all matters pertaining to this Agreement.

9.This Agreement extends to and binds the successors, heirs, administrators and assigns of the parties hereto.
 

10. By executing this Agreement, the individuals signing this Agreement represent and warrant that they have the authority to execute this
Agreement on behalf of the person for whom they are signing and to bind that person to the terms of this Agreement.
 

11. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original as against any party whose
signature appears thereon, and all of such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement may he signed by facsimile and
a facsimile signature shall constitute an original signature. This Agreement shall become binding when one or more counterparts hereof, individually or
taken together, shall bear the signatures of all of the parties reflected hereon as the signatories.
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EXHIBIT P
 

 
Exhibit P is the form of environmental insurance policy required under the agreement to be issued by AIG for PLL Select premium insurance for the
Sayreville site. The insured entity is Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P.

 
 

The "Additional Insureds" are: Bank of America, N.A; Citizens Bank of PA; and US Bank, N.A.
 
 

The "Named Insureds" are: Sayreville Economic and Redevelopment Authority; Middlesex County; Sayreville Seaport Associates Acquisition
Company, LLC; J. Brian O'Neill; Prudential Insurance Company of America; NL Industries, Inc.; and O'Neill Properties Group.

 

 
 



 

EXHIBIT Q
FINANCIAL ASSURANCE AGREEMENT

MEMORANDUM OF LEASE
 
PREPARED BY AND :
Sean E. Mitchell, Esquire
Macartney, Mitchell & Campbell, LLC 2701 Renaissance Blvd., 4th Floor King of
Prussia, PA 19406
 

MEMORANDUM OF GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT
 
 

This MEMORANDUM OF GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT (“Memorandum”) is dated as of, 2008 by and between SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC
AND
 

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY, a public body corporate and politic organized and existing under the Local Redevelopment and Housing Law,
N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-1 et seq. (“Lessor”), and SAYREVILLE SEAPORT ASSOCIATES, L.P. (“SSA”), a Delaware limited partnership.
 

BACKGROUND
 

Lessor and Lessee have entered into a certain Ground Lease Agreement dated as of, 2008 (the “Ground Lease”) with respect to certain real property
located in
 

Borough of Sayreville, County of Middlesex, State of New Jersey, together with all easements, rights-ofway and other rights, privileges and
appurtenances thereto (the “Leased Premises”). Lessor and Lessee are entering into this Memorandum to state of record certain terms of the Ground Lease.
 

AGREEMENT
 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual undertakings set forth in the Ground Lease, incorporating by this reference in this
Memorandum the foregoing Background in its entirety, and intending to be legally bound hereby, Lessor and Lessee agree as follows:
 

The name and address of Lessor is:Sayreville Economic and Redevelopment Agency
167 Main Street, Sayreville, NJ 08872

 
The name and address of Lessee is:Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P.
                2701 Renaissance Blvd., 4th Floor, King of Prussia, PA 19406

 
The date of the Ground Lease is as of , 2008.

 
The demised premises under the Ground Lease consists of the Leased Premises and is described on Exhibit A attached hereto.

 
The “Commencement Date” of the Ground Lease is , 2008. The term of the Ground Lease begins on the Commencement Date and shall expire
on ,

20____.
 

The Ground Rent is One Dollar ($1.00) for the entire Term of the Lease.
 

This Memorandum is executed for the purpose of recordation in Middlesex County Recorder of Deeds in order to give notice of certain terms of
the Ground Lease, and is not intended, and shall not be construed, to define, limit or modify the Ground Lease. The terms, provisions and conditions of the
Ground Lease are incorporated by this reference in this Memorandum as if fully set forth in this Memorandum.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have each caused this Memorandum of Ground Lease to be duly executed and delivered under
seal as of , 2008.
 

LESSOR:
 
WITNESS/ATTEST:SAYREVILLE SEAPORT ASSOCIATES, L.P.
 

By:Sayreville Seaport Associates
Acquisition Company, LLC, its General Partner

 
By:

Richard Heany, President
 

LESSEE:
 
 
WITNESS/ATTEST: SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC
 

AND REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY
 

By:         
Name: Title:

 
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA                                                                           :
 



:ss.
 
COUNTY OF :
 

On this ____ day of , 2008, before me, a Notary Public in
and for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the undersigned officer, personally appeared, who acknowledged him/herself to be the of SAYREVILLE
SEAPORT ASSOCIATES ACQUISITION COMPANY, LLC, the general partner of Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P., and that he/she as such officer, being
authorized to do so, executed the foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained by signing the name of such corporation by him/herself as such
officer.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.
 

Notary Public
 
STATE OF NEW JERSEY :
 

:ss.
 
COUNTY OF :
 

On this ____ day of , 2008, before me, a Notary Public in and for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the undersigned officer, personally
appeared, who acknowledged him/herself to be the of SAYREVILLE ECONOMIC AND REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, and that he/she
as such officer, being authorized to do so, executed the foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained by signing the name of
such corporation by him/herself as such officer.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.   
                                     _______________________________Notary
Public
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EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE LEASED PREMISES

 
 

Includes the meets and bounds legal description of real estate leased under the memorandum of lease.
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EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

 
 
 

Includes meets and bounds legal description of property parcels C performed by CME Associates dated December 12, 2007.



 
Exhibit A

 
Property Description

 
Lots 1, 1.01 and 4 in Block 257.01, and Lot 1 in Block 257.02 (Premises "A", "B" & "E")

 
N/F Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency

 
Borough of Sayreville

 
Middlesex County, New Jersey

 
All that certain tract or parcel of land located in the Borough of Sayreville, County of Middlesex, State of New Jersey, bounded and described as follows:
 
Beginning at a point, said point being the intersection of the northwesterly line of Lot 20.01, Block 62.02, N/F Conrail - Raritan River Railroad, Kearny
Branch, with the northeasterly line of Lot 30.11, Block 257.01, N/F Middlesex County Utilities Authority, and from said beginning point running:
 

1.  Along said northeasterly line of Lot 30.11, Block 257.01, and continuing along the northeasterly line of Lots 1.03 and 3.01, Block 257.01, N/F
Middlesex County Utilities Authority, North 39° 18' 29" West, a distance of 638.86 feet to a point in the southeasterly line of Lot 3.01, Block
257.01, thence

 
2.  Along said southeasterly line of Lot 3.01, Block 257.01, North 29° 46' 18" East, a distance of 493.75 feet to a point in the northeasterly line of Lot

3.01, Block 257.01, thence
 

3.  Along said northeasterly line of Lot 3.01, Block 257.01, North 60° 13' 42" West, a distance of 65.00 feet to a point in the Pierhead/Bulkhead line
as established by the Army Corps. of Engineers by a map entitled "Pierhead and Bulkhead Lines, Raritan Bay and River, N.J., Cheesequake Creek
to Edgars Dock , dated August 1934, revised through April 1957", thence

 
Along said Pierhead/Bulkhead line as established by the Army Corps. of Engineers, the following three (3) courses:
 

4.  North 29° 46' 18" East, a distance of 718.29 feet to a point, thence
 

5.  North 17° 51' 35" East, a distance of 2,000.18 feet to a point, thence
 

6.  North 39° 30' 18" East, a distance of 131.77 feet to a point in the westerly line of a riparian grant to National Lead Company from the State of New
Jersey, Board of Commerce and Navigation, Liber N-2, Page 135 etc., thence

 
Along said westerly and northerly line of a riparian grant to National Lead Company from the State of New Jersey, Board of Commerce and Navigation, Liber
N-2, Page 135 etc., the following two (2) courses:
 

7.  North 18° 27' 18" East, a distance of 25.78 feet to a point, thence

8.  South 71° 32' 42" East, a distance of 9.92 feet to a point in the aforementioned Pierhead/Bulkhead line as established by the Army Corps. of
Engineers, thence

 
9.  Along said Pierhead/Bulkhead line as established by the Army Corps. of Engineers, North 39° 30' 18" East, a distance of 533.50 feet to a point,

thence
 

10.  South 64° 00' 42" East, a distance of 150.26 feet to a point in a former mean high • water line of the Raritan River, said lands being lands "now or
formerly below mean high water" as mapped and claimed by the State of New Jersey, thence

 
11.  Along said former mean high water line of the Raritan River, said lands being lands "now or formerly below mean high water" as mapped and

claimed by the State of New Jersey, the various courses thereof, a distance of 3,253 feet, more or less, to a point in the westerly right-of-way line of
the New Jersey Garden State Parkway, said point being 3,052.46 feet on a bearing of North 57° 54' 30" East from the terminus of the prior course,
thence

 
Along said westerly and northwesterly right-of-way line of the New Jersey Turnpike Authority, Garden State Parkway, the following fourteen (14)
courses:
 

12.  South 02° 39' 35" West, a distance of 828.14 feet to a point of curvature, thence
 

13.  In a general southerly direction on the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 65.00 feet and an arc length of 44.47 feet, chord bearing and
distance of South 22° 15' 36" West, 43.61 feet, to a point of tangency, thence

 
14.  South 41° 51' 37" West, a distance of 134.53 feet to a point of curvature, thence

 
15.  In a general southerly direction on the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 135.00 feet and an arc length of 160.03 feet, chord bearing and

distance of South 07° 54' 05" West, 150.82 feet, to a point of reverse curvature, thence
 

16.  In a general southerly direction on the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 365.00 feet and an arc length of 154.39 feet, chord bearing and
distance of South 13° 56' 22" East, 153.24 feet, to a point of tangency, thence .

 
17.  South 01° 49' 18" East, a distance of 569.54.feet to a point, thence

 



18.  South 05° 31' 48" East, a distance of 415.45 feet to a point, thence
 

19.  South 03° 52' 32" East, a distance of 301.38 feet to a point, thence
 

20.  South 08° 11' 22" East, a distance of 297.33 feet to a point of curvature; thence
 

21.  In a general southerly direction on the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 465.00 feet and an arc length of 198.15 feet, chord bearing and
distance of South 04° 01' 06" West, 196.66 feet, to a point of tangency, thence

 
22.  South 16° 13' 35" West, a distance of 171.37 feet to a point, thence

23.  South 09° 19' 46" West, a distance of 240.48 feet to a point, thence
 
    24. South 14° 39' 43" West, a distance of 305.60 feet to a point, thence
 

25.  South 24° 02' 00" West, a distance of 196.24 feet to a point in the northeasterly right-of-way line of Chevalier Avenue, 50-foot wide right-of-way,
thence

 
Along said northeasterly right-of-way line of Chevalier Avenue, the following three (3) courses:
 

26.  North 68° 06' 10" West, a distance of 9.09 feet to a point, thence
 

27.  North 62° 39' 10" West, a distance of 1,399.81 feet to a point, thence 3
 

28.  North 38° 07' 00" West, a distance of 176.85 feet to a point in southeasterly line of Lot 22, Block 62.02, N/F Conrail - Raritan River Railroad,
Kearny Branch, thence

 
Along said southeasterly, southwesterly and northwesterly lines of Lot 22, Block 62.02, the following three (3) courses:
 

29.  North 27° 20' 51" East, a distance of 223.24 feet to a point, said point being witnessed by an iron pipe found 0.6-foot southwest of the herein
described point, thence

 
30.  North 62° 38' 23" West, a distance of 50.00 feet to a point, said point being witnessed by a railroad spike found 0.5-foot southwest of the herein

described point, thence
 

31.  South 27° 20' 51" West, a distance of 17.13 feet to a point in the northeasterly line of Lot 1.01, Block 257.02, N/F Borough of Sayreville, thence
 

32.  Along said northeasterly line of Lot 1.01, Block 257.02, North 62° 39' 09" West, a distance of 124.99 feet to a point in the northerly terminus of
Chevalier Avenue; thence

 
33.  Along said northerly terminus of Chevalier Avenue, North 89° 45' 21" West, a distance of 56.17 feet to a point in the westerly right-of-way line of

Chevalier Avenue, thence
 

34.  Along said westerly right-of-way line of Chevalier Avenue, in a general southerly direction on the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of
493.34 feet and an arc length of 279.12 feet, chord bearing and distance of South 12° 06' 04" East, 275.41 feet, to a point on the aforementioned
northwesterly line of Lot 20, Block 62.02, thence

 
35.  Along said northwesterly line of Lot 20, Block 62.02, South 27° 20' 51" West, a distance of 999.59 feet to a point of curvature, thence

 
36.  In a general southwesterly direction on the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 930.37 feet and an arc length of 379.07 feet, chord bearing

and distance of South 39° 01' 11" West, 376.45 feet, to a point on the northeasterly line of Lot 30.12, Block 257.01, N/F Middlesex County
Utilities Authority, thence

 
37.  Along said northeasterly line of Lot 30.12, Block 257.01, North 39° .18' 19" West, a distance of 12.40 feet to a point in the easterly line of Lot

30.12, Block 257.01, thence

38.  Along said easterly line of Lot 30.12, Block 257.01, in part, and along the easterly line of Lot 1.10, Block 257.01, N/F Middlesex County Utilities
Authority, North 11° 10' 21" East, a distance of 311.88 feet to a point in the northerly line of Lot 1.10, Block 257.01, thence

 
39.  Along said northerly line of Lot 1.10, Block 257.01, North 78° 49' 39" West, a distance of 40.00 feet to a point in the westerly line of Lot 1.10,

Block 257.01, thence
 

40.  Along said westerly line of Lot 1.10, Block 257.01, South 11° 10' 21" West, a distance of 332.70 feet to a point in the northwesterly line of Lot
30.12, Block 257.01, thence

 
41.  Along said northwesterly line of Lot 30.12, Block 257.01, South 50° 41' 31" West, a distance of 101.14 feet to a point in the southwesterly line of

Lot 30.12, Block 257.01, thence
 

42.  Along said southwesterly line of Lot 30.12, Block 257.01, South 39° 18' 29" East, a distance of 30.00 feet to a point in the northwesterly line of
Lot 20, Block 62.02, said point being witnessed by a concrete monument found, thence

 
43.  Along said northwesterly line of Lot 20, Block 62.02, and continuing along the northwesterly line of Lot 20.01, Block 62.02, N/F Conrail -

Raritan River Railroad, Kearny Branch, South 50° 41' 31" West, a distance of 1,840.00 feet to the point and place of beginning.
 
Said description of Lots 1, 1.01 and 4 in Block 257.01 and Lot 1 in Block 257.02 containing 10,973,162 Square Feet or 251.909 Acres, more or less. Said



described lands being known as all of Lots 1, 1.01 and 4, Block 257.01, and Lot 1, Block 257.02, as shown on the official Tax Map of the Borough of
Sayreville.
 
Excepting and excluding any and all lands "now or formerly below mean high water" as mapped and claimed by the State of New Jersey and not
previously conveyed to National Lead or a predecessor in title immediately adjacent to or through the described parcel.
 
Said description of Lots 1, 1.01 and 4 in Block 257.01 and Lot 1 in Block 257.02 having been drawn in accordance with a map entitled "ALTA/ACSM
Survey of Lots 1, 1.01, 4, 5, 6, Block 257.01, Lot 1, Block 257.02, Lot 1, Block 275.02, and Lot 3.04, Block 257, prepared for Sayreville Economic
Redevelopment Agency, Situated in the Borough of Sayreville, Middlesex County, New Jersey", prepared by CME. Associates, dated October 09, 2008.

 
 



 

Lot 5 in Block 257.01 (Premises "C")
N/F Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency

Borough of Sayreville
Middlesex County, New Jersey

 
All that certain tract or parcel of land located in the Borough of Sayreville, County of Middlesex, State of New Jersey, bounded and described as follows:
 
Beginning at a point, said point being the intersection of the northwesterly line of Lot 20.01, Block 62.02, lands N/F Conrail - Raritan River Railroad,
Kearny Branch, with the southwesterly line of Lot 30.11, Block 257.01, N/F Middlesex County Utilities Authority, and from said beginning point running:
 
Along the aforementioned northwesterly line of Lot 20.01, Block 62.02, the following two (2) courses:
 

1.  South 50° 41' 31" West, a distance of 183.30 feet to a point of curvature, thence
 

2. In a general southwesterly direction on the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 1,457.69 feet and an arc length of 382.90 feet, chord
bearing and distance of South 43° 10'00" West, 381.80 feet, to a point on the northwesterly line of Lot 30.10, Block 257.01, N/F

Middlesex County Utilities Authority, thence
 

3.  Along said northwesterly line of Lot 30.10, Block 257.01, and continuing along the northwesterly line of Lot 1.07, Block 257.01, N/F Middlesex
County Utilities Authority, along a non-tangent line, South 50° 41' 31" West, a distance of 448.83 feet to a point of curvature, thence

 
Along the aforementioned northwesterly and westerly lines of Lot 1.07, Block 257.01, the following two (2) courses:
 

4.  In a general southwesterly direction on the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 286.52 feet and an arc length of 180.03 feet, chord bearing
and distance of South 32° 41' 31" West, 177.08 feet, to a point of tangency, thence

 
5.  South 14° 41' 31" West, a distance of 171.76 feet to a point in the northeasterly line of Lot 3.01, Block 256, N/F Sayreville Economic

Redevelopment Agency, thence
 
Along said northeasterly line of Lot 3.01, Block 256, the following two (2) courses:
 

6.  North 65° 23' 04" West, a distance of 52.98 feet to a point, thence
 

7.  North 54° 04' 00" West, a distance of 385.91 feet to a point in the "Pierhead and Bulkhead Line" as established by the Army Corps. of Engineers
on a map entitled "Pierhead and Bulkhead Lines, Raritan Bay and River, N.J., Cheesequake Creek to Edgars Dock", dated August 1934, thence

Along said "Pierhead and Bulkhead Line" as established by the Army Corps. of Engineers, the following two (2) courses:
 

8.  North 35° 44' 18" East, a distance of 786.54 feet to a point, thence
 

9.  North 29° 46' 18" East, a distance of 436.24 feet to a point in the southwesterly line of Lot 3.01, Block 257.01, N/F Middlesex County Utilities
Authority, thence

 
Along said southwesterly and southeasterly lines of Lot 3.01, Block 257.01, and the following two (2) courses:
 

10.  South 60° 13' 42" East, .a distance of 50.00 feet to a point, thence
 

11.  North 29° 46' 18" East, a distance of 272.31 feet to a point in the aforementioned southwesterly line of Lot 3.01, Block 257.01, thence
 

12.  Along said southwesterly line of Lots 3.01, 1.03 and 30.11, Block 257.01, N/F Middlesex County Utilities Authority, South 39° 18' 29" East, a
distance of 624.34 feet to the point and place of beginning, said point being witnessed by an iron rebar found 4.1' southwest of the herein
described point.

 
Said description of Lot 5 in Block 257.01 containing 661,978 Square Feet or 15.197 Acres, more or less. Said described lands being known as all of Lot 5,
Block 257.01, as shown on the official Tax Map of the Borough of Sayreville.
 
Excepting and excluding any and all lands "now or formerly below mean high water" as mapped and claimed by the State of New Jersey and not
previously conveyed to National Lead or a predecessor in title immediately adjacent to or through the described parcel.
 
Said description of Lot 5 in Block 257.01 having been drawn in accordance with a map entitled "ALTA/ACSM Survey of Lots 1, 1.01, 4, 5, 6, Block
257.01, Lot 1, Block 257.02, Lot 1, Block 275.02, and Lot 3.04, Block 257, prepared for Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency, Situated in the
Borough of Sayreville, Middlesex County, New Jersey", prepared by CME Associates, dated October 09, 2008.

 
 



 

Lot 1 in Block 275.02 (Premises "F")
N/F Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency

Borough of Sayreville
Middlesex County, New Jersey

 
All that certain tract or parcel of land located in the Borough of Sayreville, County of Middlesex, State of New Jersey, bounded and described as follows:
 
Beginning at a point, said point being the intersection of the easterly line of Lot 2, Block 275.02, N/F New Jersey Turnpike Authority, with the
northeasterly right-of-way line of Chevalier Avenue, 50-foot wide right-of-way, and from said beginning point running:
 

1.  Along the aforementioned easterly line of Lot 2, Block 275.02, North 18° 41' 11" East, a distance of 200.00 feet to a point, said point
being.witnessed by a concrete .monument found 2.4-feet east of the herein described point, thence

 
Along the lands N/F New Jersey State Turnpike Authority, Garden State Parkway, the following two (2) courses:
 

2.  South 71° 18' 49" East, a. distance of 350.00 feet to a point, thence
 

3.  South 18° 41' 11" West, a distance of 172.00 feet to a point in the northerly right-of-way line of Chevalier Avenue, thence
 

4.  Along said northerly right-of-way line of Chevalier Avenue, in a general westerly direction on the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of
534.22 feet and an arc length of 227.14 feet, chord bearing and distance of North 80° 17' 00" West, 225.44 feet, to a point of tangency, thence

 
5.  North 68° 06' 10" West, a distance of 127.52 feet to the point and place of beginning.

 
Said description of Lot 1 in Block 275.02 containing 69,944 Square Feet or 1.606 Acres, more or less. Said described lands being known as all of Lot 1,
Block 275.02, as shown on the official Tax Map of the Borough of Sayreville.
 
Said description of Lot 1 in Block 275.02 having been drawn in accordance with certain map entitled "ALTA/ACSM Survey of Lots 1, 1.01, 4, 5, 6, Block
257.01, Lot 1, Block 257.02, Lot 1, Block 275.02, and Lot 3.04, Block 257, prepared for Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency, Situated in the
Borough of Sayreville, Middlesex County, New Jersey", prepared by CME Associates, dated October 09, 2008

 
 



 

Lot 6 in Block 257.01 (Premises "D")
N/F Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency

Borough of Sayreville
Middlesex County, New Jersey

 
All that certain tract or parcel of land located in the Borough of Sayreville, County of Middlesex, State of New Jersey, bounded and described as follows:
 
Beginning at a point, said point being the intersection of the westerly line of Lot 20.01, Block 62.02, lands N/F Conrail Raritan River Railroad - Kearny
Branch, with the northerly line of Lot 3, Block 256, N/F Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency, and from said beginning point running:
 

1.  Along the aforementioned northerly line of Lot 3, Block 256; South 71° 36' 56" West, a distance. of 54.81 feet to a point in the northeasterly line
of Lot 3.01, Block 25.6, N/F. Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency, said point being witnessed by a • concrete monument found 0.4-foot
southeast of the herein described point, thence

 
2.  Along the aforementioned northeasterly line of Lot 3.01, Block 256, North 65° 23' 04" West, a distance of 89.38 feet to a point in the easterly line

of Lot 1.07, Block 257.01, N/F Middlesex County Utilities Authority, thence
 
Along said easterly and southeasterly lines of Lot 1.07, Block 257.01, the following two (2) courses:
 

3.  North 14° 41' 31" East, a distance of 189.25 feet to a point of curvature, thence
 

4.  In a general northeasterly direction on the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 186.52 feet and an arc length of 117.19 feet, chord bearing
and distance of North 32° 41' 31" East, 115.28 feet, to a point of tangency, thence

 
5.  Continuing along the southeasterly line of Lot 1.07, Block 257.01, in part, and along the southeasterly line of Lot 30.10, Block 257.01, N/F

Middlesex County Utilities Authority, North 50° 41' 31" East, a distance of 183.28 feet to a point in the aforementioned westerly line of Lot
20.01, Block 62.02, thence

 
6.  Along said westerly line of Lot 20.01, Block 62.02, in a general southerly direction on lthe arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 1,457.69

feet and an arc length of 434.36 feet, chord bearing and distance of South 15° 56' 04" West, 432.76 feet, to the point and place of beginning.
 
Said description of Lot 6 in Block 257.01 containing 43,454 Square Feet or 0.998 Acre, more or less. Said described lands being known as all of Lot 6,
Block 257.01, as shown on the official Tax Map of the Borough of Sayreville.
 
Said description of Lot 6 in Block 257.01 having been drawn in accordance with a map entitled "ALTAIACSM Survey of Lots 1, 1.01, 4, 5, 6, Block
257.01, Lot 1, Block 257.02, Lot 1, Block 275.02, and Lot 3.04, Block 257, prepared for Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency,. S ituated in the
Borough of Sayreville, Middlesex County, New Jersey", prepared by CME Associates, dated October 09, 2008

 
 



 

Lot 3.04 in Block 257 (Premises "G")
N/F Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency

Borough of Sayreville
Middlesex County, New Jersey

 
All that certain tract or parcel of land located in the Borough of Sayreville, County of Middlesex, State of New Jersey, bounded and described as follows:
 
Beginning at a point, said point being the intersection of the southwesterly line of Lot 3.06, Block 257, with the westerly right-of-way line of a 25-foot
wide Right-of-Way, now known as part of Main Street, and from said beginning point running:
 

1.  Along said westerly right-of-way line of a 25-foot wide right-of-way, now known as part of Main Street, South 18° 41' 11" West, a distance of
529.65 feet to a point in the northerly line of Lot 1.04, Block 257, N/F Middlesex County Utilities Authority, said point being witnessed by a.
capped iron bar found 2.8-feet east of the herein described point, thence

 
2.  Along said northerly line of Lot 1.04, Block 257, South 71° 36' 56" West, a distance of 124.61 feet to a point in the northeasterly line of Lot 3.05,

Block 257, N/F Middlesex County Utilities Authority, said point being witnessed by a concrete monument found, thence
 
Along the northeasterly lines of Lot 3.05, Block 257, and the following three (3) courses:
 

3.  North 57° 01' 45" West, a distance of 469.74 feet to a point, said point being witnessed by a concrete monument found 0.2-foot northwest of the
herein described point, thence

 
4.  North 39° 16' 58" West, a distance of 1,293.20 feet to a point, thence

 
5.  North 62° 39' 09" West, a distance of 100.00 feet to a point in the southeasterly right-of-way line of the Conrail - Raritan River Railroad, Kearny

Branch, Lot 20, Block 62.02, thence
 

6.  Along said southeasterly right-of-way line of the Conrail - Raritan River Railroad, Kearny Branch, Lot 20, Block 62.02, North 27° 20' 51" East, a
distance of 976.76 feet to a point in the southwesterly right-of-way line of Chevalier Avenue, thence

 
Along said southwesterly right-of-way line of Chevalier Avenue, the following two (2) courses:
 

7.  South 38° 07' 00" East, a distance of 164.90 feet to a point, said point being witnessed by a concrete monument found 0.9-foot west of the herein
described point, thence

 
8.  South 62° 39' 10" East, a distance of 833.24 feet to a point in the northwesterly line of Lot 3.06, Block 257, N/F Faith Fellowship Ministries, Inc.,

thence
 

9.  Along said northwesterly line of Lot 3.06, Block 257, N/F Faith Fellowship Ministries, Inc., South 27° 20' 52" West, a distance of 854.43 feet to a
point in the. southwesterly line of Lot 3.06, Block 257, thence

 10. Along said southwesterly line of Lot 3.06, Block 257, South 62° 39' 09" East, a distance of 778.56 feet to the point and place of beginning.
 
Said description of Lot 3.04 in Block 257 containing 1,523,314 Square Feet or 34.970 Acres, more or less. Said described lands being known as all of Lot
3.04, Block 257, as shown on the official Tax Map of the Borough of Sayreville.
 
Said description of Lot 3.04 in Block 257 having been drawn in accordance with certain map entitled "ALTA/ACSM Survey of Lots 1, 1.01, 4, 5, 6, Block
257.01, Lot 1, Block 257.02, Lot 1, Block 275.02, and Lot 3.04, Block 257, prepared for Sayreville Economic Redevelopment Agency, Situated in the
Borough of Sayreville, Middlesex County, New Jersey", prepared by CME Associates, dated October 09, 2008.

 
 



 

Exhibit B
 

Power of Attorney (attached)

 
 



 
NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. POWER OF ATTORNEY

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC., a New Jersey corporation with an

address of 5430 LBJ Freeway, Suite 1700, Dallas, TX 75240, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., its true and lawful
attorney, for itself and in its name, place and stead, to take any and all such acts and/or actions as NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES,
INC., can, may or is entitled to take for and with respect to (i) that certain Promissory Note dated October /5, 2008 from Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P.,
a Delaware limited partnership ("Borrower") to NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. and NL Industries, Inc., in the original principal
sum of $15,000,000.00 (the "Note") and (ii) that certain Leasehold Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated October /5, 2008
from Borrower to NT, ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. and NL Industries, Inc., securing the Note and encumbering a certain
leasehold interest in certain property located in the Borough of Sayreville, Middlesex County and State of New Jersey, which leasehold interest may
become a fee interest mortgage as provided for therein (the "Mortgage"), including, without limitation, to execute and deliver any modification, extension
of maturity for one (1) year, release, discharge, assignment or endorsement of the same and/or to enforce, ask, demand, sue for, collect and receive all sums
of money, interest and other payments due under or pursuant to the Note and/or Mortgage, as BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., in its sole and absolute
discretion, shall deem appropriate; to foreclose the Mortgage and to take title to property in the name of NL
 
ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC., if BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. thinks proper; to place and effect insurance with respect to the
property encumbered by the Mortgage; to retain counsel and attorneys on behalf of NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC., to appear
for NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. in all actions and proceedings to which NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
SERVICES, INC. may be a party in the courts of New Jersey or any other State in the United States, or in the United States courts, to commence actions
and proceedings in the name of NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. if necessary, to sign and verify in its name all complaints,
petitions, answers and other pleadings of every description; hereby giving and granting to it, the said attorney, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., full power and
authority to do and perform all and every act and anything whatsoever necessary to be done in the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as NL
ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. might or could do if personally present, with full power of substitution and revocation, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that the said attorney may do pursuant to this power.
 

This Power of Attorney is being given pursuant to the terms of that certain Intercreditor, Subordination and Standstill Agreement by and between
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent for itself and on behalf of the other "Banks" (as defined therein) and NL ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. and NL/Industries, Inc. dated October 16, 2008 (the "Intercreditor Agreement").

 
This Power of Attorney shall terminate upon repayment in full of the "Bank Loan" or the "NL Loan", whichever comes first (as those terms

are defined in the Intercreditor Agreement).
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 1\11, ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC., has hereunto set its hand and seal this 13th day of
October, 2008.

 
ATTEST: NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.

 
  BY:                                       /4/14.1., BY:

Name. A. drew R. Louis Name: Robert D. Graham
 

Title: Associate General Counsel Title: President

STATE OF TEXAS
               SS.

 
COUNTY OF DALLAS

 
BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 13th day of October, 2008, before me the subscriber, Amanda K. Beer, duly authorized by law to

take acknowledgments and proofs of deeds therein, personally appeared, Robert D. Graham, who acknowledged himself/herself to be the President of NL
ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC., and who I am satisfied is the person mentioned in and having executed the Instrument to which
this certificate is attached as the President and for and on behalf of NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC., and to whom I first made
known the contents thereof, and thereupon such person acknowledged that he/she signed, sealed, and delivered the same as the voluntary act and deed
ofNL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC., for the uses and purposes therein expressed.

 
[Notary Page - Power of Attorney]                       

 
 



 NL INDUSTRIES, INC. POWER OF ATTORNEY
 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that NL INDUSTRIES, INC., a New Jersey corporation with an address of 5430 LBJ Freeway, Suite
1700, Dallas, TX 75240, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints BANK. OF AMERICA, N.A., its true and lawful attorney, for itself and in its name, place
and stead, to take any and all such acts and/or actions as NL INDUSTRIES, INC., can, may or is entitled to take for and with respect to (i) that certain
Promissory Note dated October / 5 , 2008 from Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership ("Borrower") to NL INDUSTRIES, INC.
and NL Environmental Management Services, Inc., in the original principal sum of $15,000,000.00 (the "Note") and (ii) that certain Leasehold Mortgage,
Assignment, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated October /5-, 2008 from Borrower to NL INDUSTRIES, INC. and NL Environmental
Management Services, Inc., securing the Note and encumbering a certain leasehold interest in certain property located in the Borough of Sayreville,
Middlesex County and State of New Jersey, which leasehold interest may become a fee interest mortgage as provided for therein (the "Mortgage"),
including, without limitation, to execute and deliver any modification, extension of maturity for one (1) year, release, discharge, assignment or
endorsement of the same and/or to enforce, ask, demand, sue for, collect and receive all sums of money, interest and other payments due under or pursuant
to the Note and/or Mortgage, as BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., in its sole and absolute discretion, shall deem appropriate; to foreclose the Mortgage and to
take title to property in the name of NL INDUSTRIES, INC., if BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. thinks proper; to place and effect insurance with respect to the
property encumbered by the Mortgage; to retain counsel and attorneys on behalf of NL INDUSTRIES, INC., to appear for NL INDUSTRIES, INC. in all
actions and proceedings to which NL INDUSTRIES, INC. may be a party in the courts of New Jersey or any other State in the United States, or in the
United States courts, to commence actions and proceedings in the name of NI, INDUSTRIES, INC. if necessary, to sign and verify in its name all
complaints, petitions, answers and other pleadings of every description; hereby giving and granting to it, the said attorney, BANK. OF AMERICA, N.A.,
full power and authority to do and perform all and every act and anything whatsoever necessary to be done in the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as NL INDUSTRIES, INC. might or could do if personally present, with full power of substitution and revocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorney may do pursuant to this power.

 
This Power of Attorney is being given pursuant to the terms of that certain Intercreditor, Subordination and Standstill Agreement by and

between Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent for itself and on behalf of the other "Banks" (as defined therein) and NL/INDUSTRIES,
INC. and NL Environmental Management Services, Inc. dated October J, 2008 (the "Intercreditor Agreement"). This Power of Attorney shall
terminate upon repayment in full of the "Bank Loan" or the "NL Loan", whichever comes first (as those teuns are defined in the Intercreditor
Agreement).
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, NL INDUSTRIES, INC., has hereunto set its hand and seal this 13th day of October, 2008.
 
ATTEST: NL INDUSTRIES, INC.
 
BY:
 
Name: A. Andrew R. Louis Name: Robert D. Graham
 
Title: Associate General Counsel Title: Vice President & General Counsel

STATE OF TEXAS
 

SS.
 

COUNTY OF DALLAS
 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 13th day of October, 2008, before me the subscriber, Amanda K. Beer, duly authorized by law to
take acknowledgments and proofs of deeds therein, personally appeared, Robert D. Graham, who acknowledged himself/herself to be the Vice President &
General Counsel of NL Industries, Inc., and who I am satisfied is the person mentioned in and having executed the Instrument to which this certificate is
attached as the Vice President & General Counsel and for and on behalf of NL Industries, Inc., and to whom I first made known the contents thereof, and
thereupon such person acknowledged that he/she signed, sealed, and delivered the same as the voluntary act and deed of NL Industries, Inc., for the uses
and purposes therein expressed.

 
[Notary Page - Power of Attorney]



EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

 
 
 

Includes meets and bounds legal description of property parcels C performed by CME Associates dated December 12, 2007.
 
 

 
 



 

Exhibit "B"
 

Compliance Certificate
 
To:The Lender who is party to the Multi-Party Agreement.
 

This Compliance Certificate is furnished pursuant to the Multi-Party Agreement dated as of , 2008 (as amended, modified,
renewed or extended from time to time, the "Agreement") among The Prudential Insurance Company of America ("Prudential"),
acting solely on behalf of and for the benefit of PRISA II ("PRISA II"), SAYREVILLE PRISA II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company, NL INDUSTRIES, INC., NL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC., SAYREVILLE SEAPORT
ASSOCIATES, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership ("Borrower"); SAYREVILLE SEAPORT ASSOCIATES ACQUISITION
COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and general partner of the Borrower (the "General Partner"); OPG
PARTICIPATION, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company and limited partner of the Borrower ("OPG"); and J. BRIAN
ONEILL. Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used in this Compliance Certificate have the meanings ascribed thereto in
the Agreement.
 

THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY CERTIFIES THAT:
 

1. The individual signing this certificate is a senior executive of the PRISA II
 

account.
 

2. Such individual has reviewed the terms of the Agreement and has made, or has
 

caused to be made under his or her supervision, a detailed review of the transactions and conditions of PRISA II and its
Consolidated Entities during the accounting period covered by the attached financial statements.
 

3. The examinations described in paragraph 2 did not disclose, and Prudential has no
 

knowledge of, the existence of any condition or event which constitutes an event which would permit Lender to require
payment to it of the Loan Pay-off Capital Contribution pursuant to Section 2(a) of the Agreement during or at the end of the
accounting period covered by the attached financial statements or as of the date of this Certificate.
 

CONTINUED ON FOLLOWING PAGE

 
 



 

4.Schedule I attached hereto sets forth financial data and computations evidencing
PRISA II's compliance with certain covenants of the Agreement, all of which data and computations are true, complete and
correct.
 

The foregoing certifications, together with the computations set forth in Schedule I hereto and the financial statements delivered
with this Certificate in support hereof, are made and delivered this day of , 200_.
 

THE PRUDENTIAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, an insurance
company organized under the laws of the State of New Jersey, acting solely on behalf of
and for the benefit of, and with its liability limited to the assets of, its insurance company
separate account, PRISA II (except as expressly provided in Section 18 of the
Agreement)

 
By:                                                                     
Name:

 
Title:

 
 



 

Schedule I To Compliance Certificate
 

19.1 Net Asset Value. PRISA II will at all times maintain a minimum value of Net Assets of $1,500,000,000.
 

Show computation:
 

6.2Coverage Ratio. PRISA II and its Consolidated Entities on a consolidated basis,
shall not, as of any date, permit Total Outstanding Indebtedness to exceed forty percent (40%) of Adjusted Total Assets.
 

Show computation:
 

6.3Fixed Charge Coverage. PRISA II and its Consolidated Entities on a consolidated
basis, shall not, as of any date, permit the ratio of Net Investment Income plus Interest Expense plus all ground lease rental expense included in Fixed
Charges for the most recent four prior fiscal quarters to Fixed Charges for such period to be less than 2.5 to 1.
 

Show computation:

 
 



 

Exhibit "C"
Definitions

 
"Adjusted Total Assets" means Total Assets, plus the Consolidated Group Pro Rata Liquidation Share of all Indebtedness of Non-Consolidated Entities.
 
"Agreement Accounting Principles" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America as in effect from time to time, applied in
a manner consistent with that used in preparing the PRISA II's prior financial statements.
 
"Assets Under Development" means, as of any date of determination, all Projects and expansion areas of existing Projects owned by the Consolidated Group
for which a certificate of occupancy has not been issued, upon which income producing improvements are under construction, and upon which construction
is progressing with diligence in accordance with a reasonable, industry standard construction schedule.
 
"Capitalized Lease" of a Person means any lease of Projects imposing obligations on such Person, as lessee thereunder, which are required in accordance with
Agreement Accounting Principles to be capitalized on a balance sheet of such Person.
 
"Capitalized Lease Obligations" of a Person means the amount of the obligations of such Person under Capitalized Leases which would be shown as a
liability on a balance sheet of such Person prepared in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles.
 
"Consolidated Entity" means an entity which is consolidated with PRISA II in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles.
 
"Consolidated Group" means the PRISA II and all Consolidated Entities.
 
"Consolidated Group Pro Rata Income Share" means, at any time, with respect to any Non-Consolidated Entity, the percentage of a distribution of income of
such Non-Consolidated Entity that would be received by the Consolidated Group in the aggregate at such time, upon such distribution of income of such
Non-Consolidated Entity, taking into account preferred and priority returns.
 
"Consolidated Group Pro Rata Liquidation Share" means, with respect to any Non-Consolidated Entity, the percentage of the total market value of such Non-
Consolidated Entity that would be received by the Consolidated Group in the aggregate, upon liquidation of such Non-Consolidated Entity after repayment
in full of all Indebtedness of such Non-Consolidated Entity.
 
"Contract Holder" means a person which has made an investment in PRISA II pursuant to a separate account agreement.  "Debt Service" means, for any period,
Interest Expense for such period, plus scheduled principal amortization payments (excluding balloon payments) on the Total Outstanding

Indebtedness during such period, provided that if Total Outstanding Indebtedness includes less than 100% of the amount of any item of Indebtedness, only
the corresponding percentage of the scheduled principal amortization payments on such Indebtedness will be included in Debt Service.
 
"Fixed Charges" means, for any period, Debt Service for such period, plus all ground lease rental expense of the Consolidated Group accruing during
such period, plus the Consolidated Group Pro Rata Income Share of all ground lease rental expense for Non-Consolidated Entities accruing during such
period.
 
"Guarantee Obligation" means, as to any Person (the "guaranteeing person"), any obligation (determined without duplication) of (a) the guaranteeing
person or (b) another Person (including, without limitation, any bank under any letter of credit) to induce the creation of which the guaranteeing person has
issued a reimbursement, counter-indemnity or similar obligation, in either case guaranteeing or in effect guaranteeing any Indebtedness, leases, dividends or
other obligations (the "primary obligations") of any other third Person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, including,
without limitation, any obligation of the guaranteeing person, whether or not contingent, (i) to purchase any such primary obligation or any property
constituting direct or indirect security therefor, (ii) to advance or supply funds (1) for the purchase or payment of any such primary obligation or (2) to
maintain working capital or equity capital of the primary obligor or otherwise to maintain the net worth or solvency of the primary obligor, (iii) to purchase
property, securities or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of any such primary obligation of the ability of the primary obligor to make
payment of such primary obligation (but excluding future commitments to purchase assets, but not indebtedness or other liabilities, for the fair market value
of such assets as projected by such Person in good faith as of the date of the applicable commitment to purchase) or (iv) otherwise to assure or hold harmless
the owner of any such primary obligation against loss in respect thereof; provided, however, that the term Guarantee Obligation shall not include (A)
endorsements of instruments for deposit or guarantees of collection in the ordinary course of business or (B) any obligations that do not exceed $100,000 to
the extent the aggregate of such obligations does not exceed $250,000. The amount of any Guarantee Obligation of any guaranteeing person shall be
deemed to be the maximum stated amount of the primary obligation relating to such Guarantee Obligation (or, if less, the maximum stated liability set forth
in the instrument embodying such Guarantee Obligation), provided, that in the absence of any such stated amount or stated liability, the amount of such
Guarantee Obligation shall be such guaranteeing person's maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof as determined by the PRISA II in good
faith.
 
"Improper Distributions" means any payments or distributions of any kind whatsoever (whether of cash or property) to or for the benefit of the Contract
Holders or any other beneficiary of PRISA II at any time (a) when the Administrative Agent shall have given, notice to Prudential that payment is to be made
to it pursuant to Section 2(a), or (b) when, based on the last compliance certificate delivered under Section 19.5(iii), PRISA II is not in full compliance with
all financial covenants set forth in Sections 19.1, 19.2 and 19.3, or (c) when the making of such payment or distribution would cause PRISA II to fail to be in
full compliance with any of such financial covenants; provided, however, if the event or condition which causes a payment or distribution to constitute an
Improper Distribution hereunder is subsequently cured by PRISA II to the satisfaction of Administrative Agent from and after the acceptance of such cure,
such payment or distribution shall no longer be deemed to have been an Improper Distribution.
 
"Indebtedness" of any Person at any date means without duplication, (a) all indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such
Person for the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than current trade liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business and payable in
accordance with customary practices), to the extent such obligations constitute indebtedness for the purposes of Agreement Accounting Principles, (c) any
other indebtedness of such Person which is evidenced by a note, bond, debenture or similar instrument, (d) all Capitalized Lease Obligations, (e) all
obligations of such Person in respect of acceptances issued or created for the account of such Person, (f) all Guarantee Obligations of such Person (excluding
in any calculation of consolidated indebtedness of the PRISA II, Guarantee Obligations of the PRISA II in respect of primary obligations of any



Consolidated Entity), (g) all reimbursement obligations of such Person for letters of credit, currency swap agreements, interest rate swaps or other interest rate
management products, valued at the amount that would be payable by such Person on account thereof if its obligations thereunder were liquidated on such
date, (h) all liabilities secured by any lien (other than liens for taxes not yet due and payable) on any property owned by such Person even though such
Person has not assumed or otherwise become liable for the payment thereof, (i) any repurchase obligation or liability of such Person or any of its
Consolidated Entities with respect to accounts or notes receivable sold by such Person or any of its Consolidated Entities, (j) any other transaction which is
the functional equivalent of or takes the place of borrowing but which does not constitute a liability on the consolidated balance sheet of such Person (but
excluding future commitments to purchase assets, but not indebtedness or other liabilities, for the fair market value of such assets as property by such Person
in good faith as of the date of the applicable commitment to purchase) and (k) any loans where such Person is liable as a general partner.
 
"Interest Expense" means, for any period, all interest expense of the PRISA II and its Consolidated Entities determined in accordance with Agreement
Accounting Principles for such period plus (i) capitalized interest accrued during such period with respect to Assets Under Development to the extent not
funded from the proceeds of loans secured by such Assets Under Development and (ii) that portion of any accrued, or unpaid interest incurred during such
period on any Indebtedness for which the PRISA II is wholly or partially liable under repayment, interest carry, or performance guarantees, provided that no
expense shall be included more than once in such calculation even if it falls within more than one of the foregoing categories.
 
"Net Assets" means the amount reported as "Net Assets, Representing Equity of Contract-Holders" in the PRISA II's financial statements from time to time
in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles.
 
"Net Investment Income" means the amount reported as such in the PRISA II's financial statements for the Consolidated Group before deduction of any
minority interests therein from time to time in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles.
 
"Non-Consolidated Entity" means any Person in which the Consolidated Group, directly or indirectly, holds ten percent (10%) or more of such Person's
total ownership interests but which does not qualify as a Consolidated Entity.
 
"Over 10% Contract Holder" means as of any date, a Contract Holder which holds an investment in PRISA II in an amount which (when added to the
holdings of any other Plans maintained by the same employer or employee organization) would exceed 10% of the total of all assets in PRISA II, as
determined in accordance with Section I(a)(1) of PTE 90-1. As of the date hereof the only Over 10% Contract Holder is the one listed on Exhibit C-1 hereto.
 
"Plan" means an employer pension benefit plan which is covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject to the minimum funding standards under Section 412 of
the Code.
 
"Premises" shall mean the "Premises" defined in Recital (A) of the Multi-Party Agreement to which is this Exhibit C is attached.
 
"Premises of a Person" means any and all Premises, whether real, personal, tangible, intangible, or mixed, of such Person, or other assets owned, leased or
operated by such Person.
 
"Total Assets" as of any particular time, means the value (determined applying the same methodology used in preparing the PRISA II's 2004 year-end
audited financial statements, with any subsequent changes in such methodology which would affect the calculation of the financial covenants contained
herein being approved by the Lenders, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) of all assets (as reported in the PRISA II's financial
statements for the Consolidated Group) of the Consolidated Group.
 
"Total Outstanding Indebtedness" means, as of any date of determination, all Indebtedness of PRISA II and its Consolidated Entities outstanding at
such date, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles, plus the Consolidated Group Pro Rata Liquidation Share
of all Indebtedness of Non-Consolidated Entities.

 
 



 

EXHIBIT C-1
Over 10% Contract Holders
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